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Monday, March 1, 2021
--- On commencing at 9:33 a.m.

MS. ANDERSON:  I guess, as we found out, sometimes there can be a few technical glitches.  My technical glitch for today is no working headset, so we're going to do our best.  Hopefully the sound quality of my computer is fine.  The sound quality back seems to be fine.

So the OEB is sitting today on an application by Enbridge Gas Inc. regarding its integrated resource planning, or IRP, proposal.  Enbridge Gas has requested that the OEB determine that its IRP proposal is reasonable and appropriate.  The case number is EB-2020-0091, and this is the first day of the oral hearing that is scheduled to take four days this week.

My name is Lynne Anderson, and I'm presiding today, and with me today are my fellow commissioners, Susan Frank and Michael Janigan.

We are getting familiar with this technology and the Zoom platform, but as I noted, sometimes there can be issues, so I'm going to turn it over to Mr. Millar to just run us through some key technical issues and the etiquette for today, and perhaps, Mr. Millar, you might, while you're up, introduce your team.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Madame Chair.  Michael Millar, counsel for Board Staff, and with me today are Cherida Walter and Michael Parkes.

So just a quick briefing, which I think many of you will have heard before.  This event is being transcribed.  Therefore, please speak clearly into your mic and avoid speaking when someone else is speaking, because it will not be possible for the court reporter to hear either party.  If you need to address the Panel, please turn on your camera.  That will give an indication that you wish to address the panel.  But if you think that you haven't been noticed, please interject, if you would.

The event is being audio-streamed on the OEB's website.  It is being recorded to assist with transcription services, and this recording will be deleted after 14 days.  Zoom allows you to join this event via landline or a cell phone.  Therefore, please make sure to write down the Zoom phone numbers, which are in the invite.  If you experience any technical difficulties, we'll try and resolve the issue quickly.  If we are unable to resolve it quickly, we will move to the next party on the schedule and reschedule the affected party to later on in the day.  As such, all parties are expected to be ready at any point during the day.

And finally, in case you drop off this call and are unable to rejoin the event, please inform Cherida at cherida.walter@oeb.ca.  All of you will have her e-mail from numerous communications, so let her know immediately.

And with that I'll pass it back to the panel.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  And of course, another alternative if you are having technical problems getting back in is you could forward your questions to another party, either another intervenor or OEB Staff, to ask the questions for you.  We will do our best to accommodate you back into the schedule.

It's certainly our hope that we don't recall -- have to recall a witness panel, so that's why, you know, if you're having technical problems it is best if you can get your questions through to someone else.

Okay.  We need to do appearances.  So I would like -- and I see a lot of you have your cameras on.  When you are doing appearances it is helpful to us to see who is here, and I will go in alphabetical order, but other than that I will start with Enbridge, and trying to see -- there is Mr. Stevens at the top of my screen.  So perhaps you can introduce the Enbridge team.
Appearances:


MR. STEVENS:  Good morning.  Thank you, Madame Chair.  Good morning, Commissioners.  My name is David Stevens.  I'm counsel for Enbridge in this proceeding.  With me today from the regulatory team at Enbridge I have Mark Kitchen, Brittany Zimmer, and Stephanie Allman.  Also with us are the first witness panel members, and I shall introduce them momentarily.

MS. ANDERSON:  So I'll get the appearances.  And as I said, alphabetically.  Anwaatin.

MS. DeMARCO:  Good morning, Madame Chair.  It's Elizabeth DeMarco, otherwise known as Lisa, here on behalf of Anwaatin this morning.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  The Association of Power Producers of Ontario, APPrO?

MR. VELLONE:  Good morning, Madame Chair, Commissioners.  John Vellone, here on behalf of APPrO.

MS. ANDERSON:  Building Owners and Managers Association, or BOMA?

MR. MILLAR:  Madame Chair, it's Michael Millar.  Marion Fraser is on the line, but I don't think she has access to a microphone, so she is here.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  Thank you.  And Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters, or CME.

MR. POLLOCK:  Thank you, Madame Chair, Commissioners.  So Scott Pollock, counsel for Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.

MS. ANDERSON:  Do we have the City of Hamilton?  City of Kitchener?

MR. CHAN:  Good morning, Madame Chair.  Sorry for the delay there.  Alvin Chan, here for the City of Hamilton.
MS. ANDERSON:  And Kitchener?

MS. CHATTERJEE:  Good morning, Madame Chair, Commissioners.  It's Jaya Chatterjee from City of Kitchener, and I'm joined by Les Jones, City of Kitchener.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  Consumers Council of Canada, or CCC?

MS. GIRVAN:  Good morning, Panel.  Julie Girvan, on behalf of the Consumers Council of Canada.  I would just like the Panel to know that I have no cross-examination for the panels, so I'll bow out for the balance of the week and I'll review the transcripts and make our final submissions at the appropriate time.  Thank you.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Ms. Girvan.  Energy Probe Research Foundation, or Energy Probe.

DR. HIGGIN:  Good morning, Madame Chair.  Roger Higgin for Energy Probe.  I will be cross-examining panel 2 for (audio dropout), so I will bow out for the rest of the day.  Thank you.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  And anyone else from Energy Probe?  Environmental --


DR. HIGGIN:  Just me representing (inaudible).

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Dr. Higgin.  Environmental Defence.

MR. ELSON:  Good morning.  Kent Elson for Environmental Defence.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  EPCOR?  Not hearing anyone.  Federation of Rental Housing Providers of Ontario.

MR. QUINN:  Good morning, Madame Chair.  Dwayne Quinn on behalf of FRPO.

MS. ANDERSON:  Or FRPO, as we call it.  Green Energy Coalition, GEC.

MR. POCH:  Good morning, Panel.  David Poch, on behalf of GEC.

MS. ANDERSON:  Independent Electricity System Operator, IESO.  Is there anyone here from IESO?  Industrial Gas Users Association, or IGUA.

MR. MONDROW:  Good morning, Madame Chair, Commissioners.  Ian Mondrow, counsel for IGUA.

MS. ANDERSON:  London Property Management Association, LPMA.

MR. AIKEN:  Good morning, Panel.  Randy Aiken on behalf of the London Property Management Association.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  Low Income Energy Network, or LIEN?  Ontario Greenhouse Vegetable Growers, OGVG.

MR. MILLAR:  Madame Chair, it's Michael Millar again.  Michael Buonaguro asked that I put in an appearance for him for OGVG.  He is in a settlement conference this morning, but will be joining us here later in the hearing.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  Ontario Sustainable Energy Association, or OSEA.

MS. JACKIW:  Good morning, Madame Chair and Commissioners.  Raeya Jackiw here on behalf of OSEA.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  Pollution Probe.

MR. BROPHY:  Good morning, Madame Chair.  Michael Brophy on behalf of Pollution Probe.

MS. ANDERSON:  School Energy Coalition?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Jay Shepherd on behalf of School Energy.

MS. ANDERSON:  TransCanada Pipelines or TCPL?

MR. MUSIAL:  Good morning, Madam Chair,  It's Kevin Musial for TransCanada Pipelines.

MS. ANDERSON:  Anyone for Vulnerable Consumers Coalition or VECC?

MS. GRICE:  Shelley Grice for Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Ms. Grice.  Did I miss someone?  Okay.  Looks like not.  Thank you.  So we are ready for witness panel 1.
Preliminary Matters:


Just before we start on preliminary matters, Mr. Stevens,  I know you had shared some information about specifically what goes in panel 1 and what goes in panel 2 and I appreciate that.  We don't are want to have to recall a panel.  I see there's overlap between panel 1 and panel 2.  So is it likely if the question didn't get asked on panel 1, that it can be asked on panel 2?  Is that what the plan was?

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you, Madam Chair. I think In many cases, your assumption is correct, that if a question wasn't asked of panel 1, it could be answered by panel 2.

I mentioned a couple exceptions to that.  One is, to the extent that questions have to do with gas supply, Mr. Gillett is only part of panel number 1, so I would ask those type of questions come to this panel.

Similarly, if there's questions related to the asset management plan, how it's built up and how it's used, those questions are best answered by panel 1 by Ms. McCowan.

And just general questions about system planning would be best addressed by panel 1.  Mr. Clark would be one of the witnesses who will be speaking to that.

But to the extent that a question comes up for panel 1 that the witnesses feel is better suited to panel 2, they have been encouraged to speak up and mention that.

It is certainly not our intention to avoid answering any questions, of course.

MS. ANDERSON:  Great.  In looking at some of the information that was provided -- demand forecasts, for instance, are part of panel 1.  But when it came to long-term outlooks and the impact of carbon, that was panel 2.  So it did strike me there might be a bit of grey area in some of the area as to where it falls.

MR. STEVENS:  I think that's a fair comment.  It's certainly the case that the Venn diagrams overlap and it's not a hundred percent clear what is solely in the province of one panel or the other.  But we'll do our best to guide the questions as best we can.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  Would you introduce, please -- before we start, any other preliminary matters before we get the first panel up?  As noted by Mr. Millar, the easiest thing is during the cross-examination, you're off camera and at any time you want to ask a question, your camera comes on.  And I'll certainly be watching for that.

But is there anything we need before Mr. Stevens introduces the first panel?  I'm not seeing anything -- great.  If you could introduce the witness panel and Mr. Janigan will be affirming the witnesses.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  Just to recap, Enbridge's first witness panel will speak to integration of IRP into existing system planning processes, integration of IRP with gas supply, and the asset management plan.

The members of panel number 1 are Adam Stiers, technical manager regulatory applications, Bradley Clark, manager distribution optimization Engineering; Hillary Thompson, director S&T business development; Jason Gillette, director gas supply; and Catherine McCowan, manager integrity and asset management governance.

Parties will note this is almost the same package as what appeared at panel 1 at the technical conference.  The only difference is that Suzette Mills, who was part of panels 1 and 2 at the technical conference, is part of only panel 2 at the hearing.

Just for reference, the witnesses' CVs were filed in advance of the technical conference.  With that, I believe the panel is ready to be sworn of the.

MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Janigan, you're on mute.

MR. JANIGAN:  I'm going to swear the witnesses at the same time.
ENBRIDGE GAS INC. – PANEL 1, IRP

Adam Stiers,

Bradley Clark,

Hillary Thompson,

Jason Gillett,

Catherine McCowan, Affirmed

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  So with that, we will move to the examination-in-chief.  I will remind parties that we have four full days in the schedule.  We did not curtail anyone's time that was requested, but we will be watching the time closely.  We expect everyone to adhere to their times because it is not our intention to go into the fifth day if we have adequate time do what's needed to be done.

So I remind that of everyone, and I turn it over to Mr. Stevens.
Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Stevens:


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  Mr. Stiers, on behalf of the two Enbridge witness panels, can you confirm please the evidence in this proceeding, including the pre-filed evidence, answers to interrogatories, technical conference testimony, answers to undertakings and the presentation and testimony at the presentation day was prepared by or under supervision of the witnesses?

MR. STIERS:  Yes, I can and do.

MR. STEVENS:  Can you confirm that the evidence is accurate?

MR. STIERS:  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  Can you confirm on behalf of Enbridge Gas's two witness panels that you adopt this evidence for the purpose of the proceeding?

MR. STIERS:  We do.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  Madam Chair and Panel members, we have very brief direct examination of this witness panel and the second witness panel, simply to speak to two modest evolutions of the IRP proposal in the areas of initial binary screening and stakeholdering.

These items were discussed briefly in recently filed undertaking responses, and we thought it would be helpful to highlight them now before we start the cross-examinations.

So for reference, the item this panel will speak to is Exhibit JT2.11, which addresses the company's binary screening proposal -- and it's projected on the screen.  And the second panel will speak briefly to the updated JT1.3 which addresses stakeholdering.

Turning to JT2.11 which is projected on the screen, I will direct my question to Ms. McCowan.  In this undertaking response, Enbridge Gas indicates that it is proposing to add one item to the binary screening criteria that will be applied to determine whether an identified need or constraint should be considered for IRP solutions.

Can you please explain the proposed additional criterion and the reasons why Enbridge proposes to add it?

MS. McCOWAN:  Yes.  Enbridge is proposing to add a sixth binary criteria to the five that were identified in paragraph 38 of Exhibit B.  That one is called the pipeline replacement and relocation projects. So if a project is being advanced for replacement or relocation of a pipeline and the cost is less than 10 million dollars, then that project is not a candidate for IRP analysis.

MR. STEVENS:  If I can interrupt for you a moment?  Stephanie, can I ask you to scroll down a little bit?  Thank you very much.  Sorry, Ms. McCowan, I wanted to have the passage you were speaking about projected.

MS. McCOWAN:  Thanks, and Thanks, Stephanie.  This criterion has been introduced so Enbridge can be expand the scope of projects for IRP plans to include relocations and re[placements.  This reflects feedback that has been received from the Board and intervenors through recent leaves to construct.  The 10-million-dollar cut \off has been chosen because for smaller projects, the cost savings that could be achieved through reducing the pipe size will not support the deployment of IRPAs.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  And Madam Chair, I have no further questions for the panel.  They are ready for cross-examination.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.

So Mr. Brophy, I believe you're first up.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Brophy:

MR. BROPHY:  Great.  Thank you.  Can you hear me?

MS. ANDERSON:  We can.

MR. BROPHY:  Perfect.  Good morning, Madame Chair and Panel members.  Good morning also to the witness panel and to all the stakeholders that have joined us today.

There may not be a need to pull up all the references that we're speaking about today, but I'll try and give a heads-up to the Enbridge regulatory staff, which have been doing a great job in keeping us on track and pulling materials up as they're needed.

The first document that I plan to refer to is the Pollution Probe slide deck that was filed for the February 19th presentation.  I think it was filed on February 18, and it contains a selection of materials from the proceeding and probably the most efficient thing to point to.

So just a quick question before we get started, and I guess it could be the panel, but Mr. Stevens, you may be able to help with this as well.  I thought at some point during the technical conference there was an undertaking for Enbridge to provide a view of what it thought the next steps should be for IRP, and if you go to page -- slide 15 of this deck it kind of recaps some of what Enbridge said in the technical conference, but when I went back in preparation for today I actually didn't -- oh, sorry... Go back another one.  Oh, there.  Perfect.  Yeah, at the very bottom there, where I think it's about five sub-bullets.

So I'm just wondering -- I couldn't find that.  Was I mistaken, or do you recall that that was something Enbridge was going do?

MR. STEVENS:  I confess, Mr. Brophy, that I don't have a specific recollection of an undertaking being given.  I'm confident that Enbridge did answer all the undertakings it was aware of, but we can take that away and look if you like.

MR. BROPHY:  Yes, that would be terrific, because it looks like it wasn't assigned an undertaking.  I knew it came up in the technical conference.  So if Enbridge could undertake to provide -- I'll give you some wording --


MR. STEVENS:  Sorry, I wasn't clear enough in my response.  I suggest I could go back and make sure that my recollection is right and that there is in fact no undertaking filed.  If you have questions I think it would probably be best simply to put them to the panel rather than to take away an undertaking right out of the gate.

MR. BROPHY:  Sure.  Okay.  And then, so if we were to talk about this issue, that would be panel 1 or panel 2?

MR. STEVENS:  I expect that if the questions are about the framework and how the framework is going to be implemented and what Enbridge does next, and when we're looking at things like pilot projects and stakeholdering, I expect that would be panel 2.  If you have specific questions about what's going to happen with the AMP, I would suggest that that would be panel 1.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So it sounds like my questions on this will be panel 2, so just a heads-up for panel 2, if you're listening, we can deal with that, I guess, tomorrow.

Okay.  I'll move on then to my next question.  So in the response to JT2.11 -- and Ms. McCowan just went over that in the examination in-chief -- there are over 2,000 projects in the company's asset management plan, and I believe you just recapped that.

Do you have -- does the panel have any idea what the costs would be if all 2,000 of those projects were done?

MS. McCOWAN:  I don't know what the cost would be.  I mean -- but we've already identified many of the projects would not be suitable for these sorts of IRP plans.  For example, some of the projects in the asset management plan relate to the replacement of fleet vehicles.  Some relate to the need to purchase meters for meter exchange programs.  So there's -- I mean, there are some of them that would be quite outside the scope of IRP.  What we've done is identify the ones that we think are very relevant to IRP, and we've included all replacements and relocations greater than $10 million, and we've included all of the system reinforcement plans, and that amounts to about 25 percent of the capital spend and 10 percent of the projects that could be potentially moving through the binary screening.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you for that.  So the 2,000 projects in the company's asset management plan, if I'm understanding what you just said, are not actually the types of projects that we're talking about in this proceeding.  It also includes some other things like fleet vehicles.  So the number would be much less than 2,000.  Is that right, or is the 2,000 the types of projects we're talking about in this?

MS. McCOWAN:  No, you're right.  The asset management plan address is all capital for the regulated utility, so you're right.  It would include fleet vehicles, meters, lots of things that would not at all be relevant to the IRP proposal.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  And I know we're going to get into some questions later on what should be in IRP and what shouldn't, so, you know, I don't want to carve too fine a point on that right now, but could you then undertake then to back and indicate out of the 2,000 what the real number estimate would be for the types of projects that would relate to this proceeding?  And what I would suggest is not to take out smaller pipeline projects, because I don't think there is agreement yet whether they should be in or out, but certainly things like -- I think you gave some examples -- fleet vehicles, I think you said meters, you know, there's some very simple things that could easily come out to make it a number that's more relevant to this proceeding.  Could you do that?

MS. McCOWAN:  So just to clarify, so as we went through that process in order to figure out the projects that are included in what you're seeing on the screen now, we did try to identify only the projects that had the potential to go through the six binary screening criteria.  So we screened out, for example, the customer connections portfolio.  That's not -- because those are all supported by specific customer asks, which is one of our binary screening criteria.  So what we put forward here are the projects, the 188 projects, in the current AMP that could potentially go through the six binary screening criteria.

Are you suggesting that I -- that we look at the -- I guess it's which of the binary screening criteria are you suggesting that we ignore in order to provide the undertaking?

MR. BROPHY:  So maybe I --


MS. McCOWAN:  Just to be clear.

MR. BROPHY:  -- very simple.  So I'm not asking you to apply any binary screening for purposes of this undertaking.  All I'm asking is for the 2,000 projects that you had referenced, I'm just -- you said that that number is not a number that relates to the types of projects we're talking about in this proceeding.  It would be a number less than 2,000.  So all I'm looking for is what that number would be if we were just talking about the types of projects like pipelines regardless of length, you know, take out the vehicles and the meters and the other things that you had mentioned, but just leave in the types of projects that -- you know, mostly pipelines and related facilities to be in, and I don't know what that number would be, but that's what I'm asking for.

MS. McCOWAN:  Okay.  So --


MR. STEVENS:  If I can interrupt, please, Mr. Brophy.  I just want to understand your question.  JT1 -- or 2.11, which is projected right now, answers the question of how many of the 2,000 projects on their face appear to be potentially suitable for IRP, and it indicates, as you can see in Table 2, that around 188 projects fit that description.  I'm trying to understand why different information from that would be useful.

MR. BROPHY:  So maybe I can just stop you there.  So in the evidence put forward by the panel and just confirmed by the panel, there was a statement that there's over 2,000 projects in the company asset management plan.  Based on that sole statement, nothing else in the response, I was interested in details around the 2,000 projects, but what I just heard is that the 2,000 projects that are referenced are not projects that are relevant to IRP.  There's other things in that 2000 number, and I'm simply asking for an estimate of what the number would be if we're just talking about pipeline projects and capital related to pipelines that would be applicable to IRP.

That's a simple question, not any of the other details that are in the table or anything else.  It shouldn't be that difficult to do.

MS. McCOWAN:  Perhaps I can give an example.  When you say pipeline projects, one of the types of projects, one of the types of asset program we've removed from this group would be our integrity projects.  So integrity projects relate typically to us installing launchers and receivers, so we can do line inspection of our pipelines.

So when I look at pipeline related projects, I excluded those for the purposes of IRP because they are not driven by growth in any way; they're driven by trying to extend the life of the asset.

So I guess what I'm -- when I run through the 2,000 investments, I agree with you there are some very easy to eliminate.  But when I started to look project by project and asset program by asset program, it becomes harder and harder to differentiate which ones might or might not -- and perhaps even you and I would not agree on which ones.

So what I put forward here, I tried to put forward a very clear delineation.  I can certainly go back and include all of the main replacements, if that's the sort of thing you are interested in seeing.  But I do think it's a bit of a difficult exercise to get into project by project in 2,000.

MR. BROPHY:  I'm not asking you to go individual project by project, and I am comfortable relying on your opinion.  Maybe in the response, when you provide what the number would be, you can just do a high level list of what's taken out.  You've given us some of the items already today, vehicles, meters, and now you've said launchers and receivers, that kind of thing.

If you want to provide a short bulleted list of the things that came out of the 2,000, and say the number ends up being 1,000 -- who knows what you'll come up with as a number, feel free in the undertaking to provide that it's just an estimate and you've removed these types of things.  I'm comfortable with that.

MR. STEVENS:  To be clear, Mr. Brophy, you're asking to us identify how many of the 2,000 projects relate to pipeline activities?

MR. BROPHY:  Yes, that would be related the pipeline that we're talking about in this IRP proceeding.

MR. STEVENS:  This is where I continue to be confused, I'm afraid.  We think that's what we provided in Table 2.  We've provided the categories of capital activity that Enbridge believes are amenable to IRP, and we provided the relevant or related numbers of each of the categories of activity.

So I'm struggling to understand what incremental information that would be useful we would be providing through this undertaking.

MR. BROPHY:  The basis for the question is 2,000 seems like a large number and we just heard that's not the right number.  It's a number probably much lower than that.  Could be less than 500.  Could be less than 100.  And so we're just looking for the witness to go back and give a best efforts answer to what that number really is.

MS. McCOWAN:  If I can paraphrase, you would like to address the denominator in the percentage of projects.  You would like to look at whether the denominator we've used is the appropriate one, and to limit it more down to all pipelines?

MR. BROPHY:  Yes, simply against that number of 2,000 that was stated.  We know that number is not correct; it's lower than that based on what you've said.  We would like to understand the magnitude of what that number really is.

MR. STEVENS:  We can provide an undertaking to advise as to how many of the 2,114 projects in the AMP approximately, the approximate number of those that relate to pipeline projects.

MR. BROPHY:  Thank you for that.

MS. ANDERSON:  If I can interject here?  Would part of that undertaking be the list of the types of projects that were not included in the 188?  Ms. McCowan, you were going through the metering and a simple list of the kinds of things that were excluded.

MS. McCOWAN:  Absolutely.  Within our asset management plan, we have all the asset programs, and I can certainly identify which ones I included and excluded in preparing this list.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  Mr. Millar, is there an undertaking?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, it's J1.1 as Mr. Stevens described it, and obviously subject to your comments as well, Ms. Anderson.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.1:  TO ADVISE AS TO HOW MANY OF THE 2,114 PROJECTS IN THE AMP APPROXIMATELY, THE APPROXIMATE NUMBER OF THOSE THAT RELATE TO PIPELINE PROJECTS.


MR. STEVENS:  Just to be clear for the record, Enbridge will provide the approximate number of projects within the AMP that are pipeline projects, and will provide a list of the categories of those projects that are included and not included in the 188 projects shown in Table 2.

MR. BROPHY:  I think that wording is different than what was stated the first time, including Madam Chair's clarification.  So I think your initial wording with the wording that Madam Chair added would be more sufficient because then we get an understanding when you're working from your 2,114 projects and getting down to some smaller number, the types of categories that have been removed because that is part of the undertaking.

MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Brophy, I'm not sure I understand the difference between that and what Mr. Stevens said.

MR. BROPHY:  As long as that's what we're getting, I'm fine with whatever wording gets us there.

MS. ANDERSON:  It's the number -- out of the 2,114, the number of projects that are pipeline projects and the kinds of projects that were excluded in coming up with the 188 that's in the table?

MR. BROPHY:  Yes, that's correct.

MS. ANDERSON:  Is that your understanding?

MR. BROPHY:  Yes.

MS. ANDERSON:  JT1.1.

MR. BROPHY:  Sorry.  I didn't think that was going to take that much time for that question.  Hopefully we'll get a little more -- through some of these here.

While we're on this, I think attention was being brought to the table itself.  So why don't we spend a minute and focus on that.

According to that table, over the next 5 years there's over 6.3 billion dollars of potential project spending.  Am I reading that correctly?

MS. McCOWAN:  No, the 6.3 billion dollars refers to EGI's total capital spend.

MR. BROPHY:  How does that differ to --


MS. McCOWAN:  The goal was to show the percentage we thought could go through the binary screening as relates to EGI's capital spend.  So the total row that you see there, that's the sum of the main replacement and relocations greater than 10 million dollars and all system reinforcement projects.  That total over the 5 years is 1.7 billion and the total capital in EGI's 5-year AMP is 6.3 billion.

MR. BROPHY:  If I look at the 27 percent as an example in the last row, that is the 1.7 billion divided by 6.3 billion?  Is that --


MS. McCOWAN:  That's correct.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So we have clarification today that there's some of the over 2,000 projects are not the types of things that relate to IRP, and we're going to get some information on that.

But for the AMP portfolio, there is at least 1.7 billion over 5 years that would relate to IRP, it looks like.  And then the if the outcomes of this proceeding are different than what Enbridge is proposing, and more pipelines are included in the IRP analysis, it would be something higher than 1.7 billion, potentially, you know, upwards to closer to 6.3 billion, does that sound accurate?

MS. McCOWAN:  Well, you know, based on the conversation we just had, it would never be close to the 6.3 billion, because that includes meters and fleet vehicles and buildings.  But -- so I think that it's possible depending on the framework that is developed that the 1.7 could go up or down, but I don't think we would ever be approaching the 6.3, because there is a significant amount of the investment that is not even commodity-carrying asset-related.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So say we just for the time being, you know, assumed it's somewhere in the middle.  So say, you know, 33.5 billion, somewhere in that range, just for sake of argument, because you don't know exactly where that line is until you did the analysis in the undertaking that we just spoke about.  So if it's about 3 or 3.5 billion over the next five years, then the AMP goes out much more than five years.

So would it be fair to say that you're probably in the 5 to 10 billion mark for everything that's in the AMP related to the categories we're talking about?

MS. McCOWAN:  I think that would be speculating.  Are you talking about the EGI capital spend row or the total row?

MR. BROPHY:  So the total for the five years.

MS. McCOWAN:  Right.  So assuming that, you know, it's just as it is in these five years with the numbers I've put forward, it could be double, because it would be ten years instead of five, but, you know, I'm really speculating on whether -- it would be speculating, and I don't think I should do it on, you know, how much additional would end up in that bucket or not.

MR. BROPHY:  So the --


MS. McCOWAN:  Might be in a better position to do it after the undertaking is completed.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So if we just -- the asset management plan is meant to be, I think, a ten-year plan going forward.

MS. McCOWAN:  That's right.

MR. BROPHY:  And so this is -- you  know, if we're assuming it's, you know, for sake of argument now, that it's about, you know, 3 billion for five years, if it was a ten-year period, if you doubled that you would be about 6 billion, so, you know, to be conservative let's call it 5 billion in the AMP for sake of argument.

Would it be possible for Enbridge to provide a ballpark estimate of the annual bill impacts by dollar and percent if the OEB were to approve $5 billion worth of capital spending today?

MS. McCOWAN:  It's certainly not something that I would be able to do.  Perhaps there's --


MR. STEVENS:  Sorry, to further understand your question, Mr. Brophy, when you indicate the OEB would approve 5 billion dollars of spending today, what kind of spending are you speaking of and over what time frame?

MR. BROPHY:  So we're making this very simple in order to reduce the work that Enbridge would have to do in the analysis.  So we just walked through kind of estimation within the asset management plan, ballparking conservatively about 5 billion dollars' worth of potential spending allocated to pipelines and that kind of thing that we were talking about.

So all I'm asking for is if we took 5 billion dollars' worth of spending, and for simplicity's sake just assume it's done today.  I know, you know, if you do it over time you'll get varying numbers and you can come up with endless calculations.  But if you just assumed it was approved today and went into rate base, what would be the impact to an average customer bill by dollar and percent if that were to occur?

MR. STEVENS:  Your question is assume that there was a lump -- or a huge 5 billion dollar capital spend approved today for this year?

MR. BROPHY:  Yes, assume that the 5 billion dollars' worth of capital from the asset management plan were approved, and just for simplicity's sake say it was done today to make it simple.  What would be the bill impacts?

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.  Thank you for the clarification.  I'm afraid I don't see how the information that might be produced from that sort of exercise would be meaningful or helpful to the determination of a framework.  I just don't think it's reasonable to think that there would be 5 billion dollars of capital spending, and if the premise is, you know, what's the impact of not having 5 billion dollars, I think one of the things we're learning through the IRP process is spend doesn't go away, it just gets directed towards something else.

So with that context, I'm in the Board's hands, of course, but I'm at a loss to understand how the information you're asking for would be helpful.

MR. BROPHY:  So we're going to get the response that gives us a more accurate number of what types of projects in the asset management plan relate to what we're talking about in the IRP proceeding.  What I'm trying to understand is, when you look at the asset management plan -- and sure, it would be done over time in this chart over 5 years, but the asset management plan is over 10 years -- you know, if you were to spend that kind of money, what the bill impacts would be.

MR. STIERS:  There's a lot of assumptions that would need to go into that, and again, I echo earlier sentiments.  I'm not sure what value it would be.  Each asset -- so not only are we being asked to speculate on the capital expenditure for a period of up to a decade and to apply it in a single day, but then also to allocate costs or to speculate on how the costs would be allocated for all kinds of various hypothetical assets again over the course of again a hypothetical decade of spend.  It's difficult to understand how that would be indicative of what would be avoided, again considering the fact that expenditure's not necessarily avoided overall.  It's replaced with a different form of asset investment.

MR. BROPHY:  Well, I think that's an assumption that Enbridge is making, is that you would take the 5 billion or more of capital spending in the asset management plan, and for anything where you perform an IRP assessment and determine that it's not required or not the best alternative, I think your assumption is that you're going to spend the money anyways.  It will just be in a different form.  And I don't think that there is agreement on that.  I think that one of the outcomes of the IRP assessment may be that there is a decrease in spending and that the portfolio is looked at in a more efficient manner, and we're trying to understand what the benefits would be of applying that kind of IRP lens for ratepayers.

And then, you know, obviously, you know, if we use the 5 billion as an estimate, then you'd be able to either escalate up or down that amount depending on, you know, what you think your spending would be.  If it's only a billion, you know, based on where you land, fine.  If it ends up being double that, it would give us an idea on, you know, what these impacts are going to be to ratepayers.

MR. STEVENS:  Thanks, Mr. Brophy.  I don't want to use up all your time with back and forth on all this.  I think we've put forward our view as to why we're not sure that this information will be helpful, but we're in the Board's hand on this.

MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Brophy, I am struggling with the usefulness of this number if there are too many assumptions involved in it, and I think Mr. Stiers had a good point, that they have to make all sorts of assumptions about how it would be allocated, the nature of that spending.  So I am struggling.

I will ask Mr. Stevens, though, do we have Enbridge's best estimate of the bill impact of what your proposal is for -- based on, you know, your putting forward about 188 of the projects, and here's the spending, it's about 27 percent.  Do we have a notion of bill impacts for that portion of spending, or is this once again something that because if you -- if you don't do this, something else might happen.

I guess that's what I'm trying to -- is there anything around bill impacts that would be helpful here?

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I don't believe Enbridge has put forward any information about what the bill impact would be, say, of this 7 billion dollars as the amount of spending subject to IRP.

But I think the reason why that information hasn't been asked for and why it's not on the record is my --understanding of the working assumption is that the expenses don't simply go away.  The need that's being met by the 1.7 billion has to be met a different way, and it will be associated costs that we aren't in a position to wrap our arms around that right now associated to those alternatives.

MR. BROPHY:  I thought of a potentially easier way deal with this that hopefully Enbridge wouldn't have any challenges with.  Why don't you take a recently approved project, you know, the London Line or probably a leave to construct that's been approved and one that maybe is completed and commissioned and now is in rate base.  Can you just provide us that as an example?

It's going to do the same thing in a much easier way and just tell us what the capital is for that project that went into rate base, and what the bill impacts are on an annual basis in dollar and percent terms to the customers paying for that project?

MR. STEVENS:  As I hear your question, Mr. Brophy, I wonder whether we could be responsive by pointing you to information for a recent ICM request.  Most of the capital projects during the deferred rebasing term are difficult because they are being funded by existing rates.  But I think we could probably show the incremental impact of a project if we choose one that's been approved for or applied for ICM treatment.

MR. BROPHY:  If that information is there and you would like to bring it into the public record in this proceeding, that's equivalent to me.

MR. STEVENS:  I want to make sure I'm answering -- it's not so much what we want to bring into the record.  I just want to make sure we're providing information that would be useful to you and the Board.

MR. BROPHY:  Sure.  Can you undertake to take a recent leave-to-construct project that has been included in rate base, provide the total capital cost to that project, and what the rate impact is on an annual basis in dollars and as a percent increase a typical bill?

MR. STEVENS:  We can do that.  And to be clear, it will be in relation to a recent LTC project where ICM treatment has been requested.

MR. MILLAR:  The undertaking is J1.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.2:  FOR A RECENT LEAVE-TO-CONSTRUCT PROJECT INCLUDED IN RATE BASE WHERE ICM TREATMENT HAS BEEN REQUESTED, TO PROVIDE THE TOTAL CAPITAL COST TO THAT PROJECT AND THE RATE IMPACT IS ON AN ANNUAL BASIS IN DOLLARS AND AS A PERCENT INCREASE A TYPICAL BILL

MR. BROPHY:  Thank you.  Along the same theme, does anyone on the panel have knowledge of what pipeline projects Enbridge is currently planning for?

MS. McCOWAN:  The projects we currently are planning for would all have been listed in our asset management plan, if that's what you're referring to.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So I did notice in JT1.15 that Enbridge indicated it's working on 14 leave-to-construct projects.  So I'm assuming probably at least one or two of those would be coming before the Board in the next year or so.  Is that a fair assumption, that there is likely to be one or more coming in in the next year?

MS. McCOWAN:  Is the reference correct?  I'm looking at what's on the screen and I don't see anything about leave to construct.

MR. BROPHY:  I may have the wrong one down.  But is it fair to assume there's going to be one or more leave to constructs coming forward in the next year?

MS. McCOWAN:  I think it's a fair assumption that we will have a leave to construct come forward.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Maybe I can ask to turn to slide 6 of the Pollution Probe February 19th deck -- although my numbers seem to be off so let's go down.  It's the -- that's the one right there.  Thank you.  I'm not sure.  Maybe I'm including the cover page or you are, but that's great.

So recently the OEB gave a decision on the London Line in early 2021, and there's a summary of some of the aspects that the OEB indicated it expects Enbridge to address in future leave to constructs.

Is it fair to say that the members of the panel are familiar with that project or decision?

MS. McCOWAN:  I'm not particularly familiar with it.

MR. STIERS:  Anybody on the panel?

MR. BROPHY:  JT2.11 referred to the London Line replacement project and the OEB decision, and I'm assuming that that was completed by a witness from one of the panels.  I was assuming it was this panel, is that for the other panel?

MR. STEVENS:  To be fair, Mr. Brophy, I think what the panel is indicating is that if you have questions about the details of the London Line project and the need for example, they may not have those details.  But if your questions are around the decision, then please proceed.

MR. BROPHY:  Sure.  It's just around the decision; it's not about the nitty-gritty of the project itself.

In the decision, the OEB appears to be saying that starting -- the decision is from February 2021.  Starting in 2021 February, it will not be acceptable for Enbridge to file projects in the future unless Enbridge has undertaken an in-depth quantitative and qualitative analysis of alternatives including DSM.

Do I have that right, or do you have a different interpretation of that?

MS. McCOWAN:  I believe you have a quote from the decision.

MR. BROPHY:  That's correct.  Yes.  That's verbatim from the decision, yes.

MS. McCOWAN:  If it's a quote from the decision, then I take your word for it.

MR. STIERS:  None of us have the decision directly in front of us, Mr. Brophy.  But if you're asking to us read what is in the outcome column of the slide deck on the screen -- Stephanie, can you scroll down so we're sure we can see that entire field?

MR. BROPHY:  It may not be important for everybody.  Let me ask the question and if you need more clarity and time to read the decision quote, then certainly do that.

But the question is what is Enbridge doing now to include these immediate IRP requirement issues its processes?  This won't -- this can't wait until after this proceeding is done.  This is something the Board has indicated it expects now, including if Enbridge were to file a leave to construct in one week or two weeks or three weeks, certainly before this proceeding finishes.  I want to understand what's changing now versus what's going to change after this proceeding.

MR. STIERS:  I can offer some thoughts, Mr. Brophy.  The company has been conducting some preliminary assessments, integrated resource planning opportunities.  Those have been included to the extent that they've been completed as part of the evidence in respect of LTC proceedings, and you just quoted one from the London Lines and also quoted the encouragement that follows.

So we've also noted in the response at OSEA.1C that we are in the midst of an integration exercise at this stage working to better understand how to integrate IRP into our broader system planning processes and internal processes and procedures within the organization.

So it very much is important that we receive direction from the Board through this proceeding to help us take those next steps, to help us understand the nature of IRPAs that are acceptable and the guidebook or the rules under which we're meant to pursue such investment.

So I think it's important in that regard, but that's about the depth that I think this panel is going to be able to give you.  If you have more specific questions, they might be appropriate for panel 2.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So specific to the facility planning, irregardless of the outcomes of this IRP proceeding, when you look at the February decision that we just talked about, if Enbridge was to file a leave to construct, and Ms. McCowan just indicated that that's likely to occur, one or more, and if Enbridge did not address these immediate IRP requirements that the Board has outlined in that decision, would Enbridge expect that the OEB would reject its next leave-to-construct application if you don't make those changes now?

MR. STIERS:  No, I don't think we have that expectation.

MR. BROPHY:  So if you were to not comply with this decision and file a leave to construct that didn't address these issues, you would expect the OEB to proceed as normal without IRP considerations?

MR. STIERS:  I think that's important, is to delineate between your definition of what IRP considerations should be ideally and what the utility has been doing historically and is currently striving to achieve through this proceeding.  I think that ultimately the Board will make its own determinations regarding the appropriateness of specific applications once that application has been made to it.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  I'm going to move on.  So if I can refer you to JT1.16.  And while it's coming up in there it's indicated Enbridge indicates that to date Enbridge has not used a formal IRP screening tool or prescribed process to evaluate IRP alternatives for facilities projects in the response.  Do you see that?

MR. STIERS:  Yes.

MR. BROPHY:  And then it refers me to go and look at the leave-to-construct applications, where there would be detail, but when I look at those applications, the evidence in those applications only indicates that an IRP screening was conducted, but doesn't include any details or materials or how it was done, so I'm feeling like I'm in a bit of a circular loop in trying to understand that.

So is it fair to say then that for those proceedings like the London Line or other ones where it indicated that an IRP screening was done, that it was more of an informal process that was used for those projects and that templates were not used or completed?

MR. STIERS:  I don't think anybody on this panel, Mr. Brophy, was specifically part of those assessments.  I don't think that your assertion is necessarily fair, but I would encourage you to put that question to panel 2.  Specifically Ms. Mills may have some more information to add on, the assessments that have been completed for Cherry to Bathurst or London Lines, for example, to date.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Yeah, what I was trying to understand is it doesn't look like there's anything that was documented as far as IRP screenings, so, you know, that's why I used the word "informal process", but you're telling me that's panel 2.  I'm happy to ask panel 2 these questions.  Okay.  I'll move on from that.

So, okay.  During the presentations on February 19th the issue came up during some of the questions related to stranded assets, and I understand that the current depreciation period for a new pipeline that would go in the ground today would be 40 years.  Is that correct, or is it a different number?

MR. STIERS:  So I think depreciation rate varies according to the specific asset that you're talking about, but in very general terms 40 years is fairly appropriate for certain assets, certain pipeline assets, certainly.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Great.  Thank you.  So that would mean that ratepayers would still be paying for that kind of asset in 2060 if that kind of pipeline were approved and commissioned today.  Is that -- are you following me?

MR. STIERS:  I am following, yes.  If that form of asset was approved and the OEB-approved depreciation or useful life that that asset was determined to be 40 years, then, yes, that would be the case.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you.  So if the OEB were to approve a reduction in pipeline amortization for new projects to, say, 20 years instead of 40 years, do you think that could make sense?

MR. STIERS:  I don't have a position today for you on that.  I think obviously the company would comply with the Board's direction, but I think the issue of appropriate depreciation rates and useful lives of pipeline assets is something that should be dealt with at rebasing as part of depreciation credit, for example.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you.  You know, where I'm going is it seems to me like decreasing pipeline amortization would make those investments more equivalent to the types of IRP alternatives that we're talking about today, like geothermal and other things, so it would be more of an apples-to-apples comparison if that were done.  So I'm certainly interested in any comments Enbridge may have on that, but it sounds like you'd be looking to do that in a rate-basing proceeding rather than a forward-facing policy proceeding like this.

MR. STIERS:  That's right.  And what we have proposed is that we, through the evaluation -- two-stage evaluation process that's been proposed, do that apples-to-apples comparison by extending the estimated useful life of IRPAs to align as closely as possible with the -- based on facilities that are being considered as new facility alternatives for purposes of economic evaluation.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you.  I want to move on to the binary criteria that you were speaking about -- the panel was talking about at the beginning.  Is binary criteria -- would that be this panel or panel 2?  I know Ms. McCowan introduced that you were adding a, I think it was a sixth one, but --


MS. McCOWAN:  We can probably respond at least to some questions.  We may need to have help later, but --


MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So maybe we can pull up JT2.11.  And that was the one that you had up earlier that indicated Enbridge is proposing a sixth criteria now, with the projects being advanced for replacement or relocation of a pipeline, and the cost is less than 10 million, and the project is not akin to date for IRP analysis.

So I think some of those questions -- I'm just going down the list, because some are going to come in that analysis that you agreed to do earlier.

So, now that there is a sixth criteria, is there a detailed description of how these six criterias would be applied?  Or is it just the criteria and the details would have to be worked out later?

MS. McCOWAN:  I think we would have to work out details, and certainly would welcome any places where parties don't think that the criteria are clear, but our view is that the criteria are pretty transparent and make sort of a pass/fail decision quite easy do, but, you know, appreciate that that may not be the view of others, and we would look to clarify those so they could be used for preliminary screening, and a preliminary screening all parties would agree a project had passed or failed.

MR. STIERS:  Just to add to that, Mr. Brophy, I think the descriptions or the detail that we have at this point for each of the individual criteria is certainly set out within Exhibit B, Exhibit C, are responses to interrogatories so far in the proceeding.

MR. BROPHY:  As Ms. McCowan said, there may be different views on what those mean or how they get applied based on what you put forward so far.

I'm trying to understand when that clarity might come and the best way to try and make it clear, so that people aren't surprised that much more got screened out than they thought or potentially vice versa, but more likely screened out.

So maybe I can use an example.  So safety is one of the six criteria, correct?

MS. McCOWAN:  That's correct.

MR. BROPHY:  So my understanding is that Enbridge proposed the London Line replacement project.  It was a line that was almost 100 years old, and that was proposed for safety reasons, right, due to integrity?

MS. McCOWAN:  That's correct.

MR. BROPHY:  Wouldn't be the London Line replacement project be screened out, if you're using one of the criteria, the safety one, it would be screened out from IRP?

MS. McCOWAN:  Yes, using just that criteria, it would be screened out.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  I guess that's where the challenge is, because there was a proceeding on that project and it was clear that the Board expected more specifically from that project and other ones like it in the future.

So I guess the challenge I'm having -- and that's just the safety criteria that would potentially screen that out.  If you start applying the other fie criteria, it would probably knock out other projects that should be in an IRP screening.

So I guess that's -- I don't think we're going to solve that today, but that's one of the challenges that --


MS. McCOWAN:  It's a good point and I think that it might be constructive if we looked at the -- although you're right that was the underpinning of the project was safety and condition.  When we use that language in our leave to construct, I would expect we're not using it in the context of a binary screening criteria.  And I think if you look at the binary screening criteria, these examples that are put forward as safety are more immediate safety concerns, so there's a third party damage to a pipeline and it's leaking or we have a leaking pipe because of corrosion.

To my mind, projects like that would not only be excluded on the grounds of safety, but also on timing.  So there is an immediacy to those sorts of projects as well.

You know, I take your point that when we apply a leave to construct and identify safety and integrity for the London Lines as the primary drivers, that the language there may not have been exactly the binary screening type language.  So those may be areas we want to drive further clarity.

MR. BROPHY:  Yeah, and I agree that even today, if we thought we knew what the criteria meant, which I think there is uncertainty and lack of common clarity on that, certainly in the future as different staff come along and work on projects and apply, as you said, words may be different and leave to constructs using that there may be even more variation in how things get applied.  There's been examples before of one project applies certain things one way, and another project applies things a different way, depending on -- I'm assuming it's different staff working on it maybe.  So having that kind of clarity will be important.

So my last questions relate to the gas supply planning.  I think this is the panel that deals with that issue.

MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Brophy, by my clock, we're at 55 minutes of your time, just to give you the five-minute warning.

MR. BROPHY:  Thank you very much.  Sounds like I'm right on time.  That's perfect.

I don't think you need to pull it up, but in the IR Staff 2 and also in slide 5 of the Pollution Probe presentation replicated the diagrams Enbridge had provided on the process would propose to use for the process for planning.  I guess you can pull up slide 5 maybe would be the best spot for the Pollution Probe --that's fine, yeah, perfect.

So I think it's fair to say gas supply planning is an important component of the IRP processes, is that correct?

MR. GILLETT:  I think what we're actually trying to show here is how the gas supply planning process is sort of separate, but related to the IRP assessment and process.  Gas supply is about understanding the annual needs of our franchise and procuring assets to transport that gas, whether it be through pipeline or storage.  It doesn't do the facilities planning or facilities modeling, right.

So that's -- we're actually trying to show the distinction between gas supply planning, which is sort of a commercial exercise to provide transportation commodity and storage, versus facilities planning where we actually do the facilities modeling and understand constraints on our system which would then interplay with IRPA.

MR. BROPHY:  Would you agree gas supply planning is one element that should be considered in integrative resource planning?

MR. GILLETT:  Gas supply planning occurs upstream of IRP.  If you look at it from an annual process perspective, obviously there's a feedback.  This is all done annual and I'm referring to the figure on the screen here; this is all done annually.  The gas supply planning piece is actually done upstream of the facilities planning.

So again, gas supply doesn't consider facilities constraints; that's done as a next step.  So it's upstream that feeds information into the facilities planning.

MR. BROPHY:  Exactly, which is part of IRP, correct?

MR. GILLETT:  Facilities planning is part of IRP analysis, yes.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Great.  Thank you.

MS. THOMPSON:  If I can jump in, Mr. Brophy, from facilities planning perspective?

What Mr. Gillett was explaining is when there is a volume of gas being delivered to a broad geographic area, that would be an input into our models.  And then based on that input among all the other inputs that we've cross the system, we would then run our models to identify any constraints that may exist.

So that's the distinction we're trying to draw, and the step we see as most important and relevant to the IRP proceeding is that we identify all the inputs into our models, identify the constraints, and then use the various IRPAs along with facilities into order to identify how we may alleviate that constraint.

So if we're striving through the IRP framework to explore alternatives relative to how we would be addressing a constraint through a facility that is the tying connection.

MR. BROPHY:  I'm assuming the folks on this panel dealing with gas supply would be familiar with the OEB's requirements for the multi-year gas supply plan, and specifically about a third -- under the OEB's requirements, about a third of the Enbridge scorecard for the gas supply plan is required to relate to policy factors.  You're familiar with that?

MR. GILLETT:  I'm familiar with the gas supply plan and the scorecard, yes.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So based on the policy factors that feed into the gas supply scorecard, one of them is the DSM.  Obviously that was talked about quite a bit and is on the Enbridge scorecard for the gas supply.  And there's other policy considerations that are within the gas supply plan that also are part of IRP -- so a bit of overlap, I guess, between what's done in the gas supply plan and this proceeding and IRP.

So I guess the question is, is are those issues that you think we should try and get more clarity and understanding on in this proceeding, or do you think that we should be bringing those forward in the gas supply plan consultation that -- based on Enbridge's plan that you just filed and the consultation the Board is holding for your gas supply plan?  If there's the policy issues related to IRP and gas supply planning, should we be dealing with them here or in that proceeding?

MR. GILLETT:  So if the principles you're referring to -- so we have gas supply planning principles of cost-effectiveness, reliability, and public policy.  Those are very much related to the gas supply plan.  So if you're asking whether discussion about those principles is appropriate here and the gas supply plan update proceeding, I would suggest it's more appropriate for the gas supply proceeding.

Again, this -- just one point of clarity I wanted to add Ms. Thompson reminded me of.  The purpose of this diagram on here is not to show the complete process that feeds into facilities planning.  Just to be clear, the purpose of this diagram was to clarify what we thought was some confusion around the interconnection between gas supply planning and IRP analysis, so what we tried to show was that gas supply planning is upstream and separate but related.  They feed into -- it feeds into the facilities planning.  But by no means is this diagram comprehensive.  It served a very specific purpose to try and clarify that.

So if you look at the diagram in isolation, it looks like gas supply planning is the biggest part of facilities planning, which is not the case at all.  This was more meant as clarity.  I just wanted to add that piece.

MR. BROPHY:  Fair enough.  Yeah, thank you.  Well, I think I'm going to end there based on, we're out of time.  Thank you very much.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Mr. Brophy.  We're going to take a break until quarter after 11:00, and I think we are back at that point with Mr. Elson with Pollution Probe.  So thank you.  We'll take the break now.
--- Recess taken at 10:55 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:17 a.m.


MS. ANDERSON:  Over to you, Mr. Elson.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Elson:

MR. ELSON:  For the record, my name is Kent Elson and I represent Environmental Defence.  Most of my questions will be for panel 2, but I do have a few requests for this panel on process issues, starting with some follow-up questions to JT1.5, which you should see on the screen.

These questions relate to the time for any potential adjudication and discovery regarding decisions not to proceed with an IRPA.

As a bit of background as to how we got to this undertaking response, at the technical conference I believe we confirmed that Enbridge's proposal is that the decision not to pursue an IRP would not be adjudicated until the LTC is going ahead.  Is that correct, Mr. Stiers?

MR. STIERS:  The answer is yes, I believe the testimony reflects that.

MR. ELSON:  Enbridge's proposed process is that it would report on IRP decision and the AMP which would be filed in the annual rates case, and there would be a stakeholdering meeting where questions could be asked, but this wouldn't include an interrogatory process where Enbridge must answer questions relating to the prudence of IRP decisions, and it wouldn't include a process at that stakeholdering meeting or the annual rates case to resolve disagreements about Enbridge's IRP decisions, right?

MR. STIERS:  Yes.  I think that either through technical conference testimony or through our responses to other interrogatories or undertakings -- JT1.7 comes mind, where we the purpose of the proposed binary screening criteria in our proposal is to allow the company to minimize unnecessary costs associated with considering IRP solutions, and adjudicating all the decisions made.

We expect if each decision was adjudicated, it would impose a large regulatory and administrative burden.

MR. ELSON:  Yes, and what we're talking about here is any kind of decisions not to pursue an IRPA, including one that happens through the binary screening, or one that happens after you assess a project after it's passed, let's say, the binary screening.  And when you're deciding against an IRPA that is an adjudicated or discovered as part of an interrogatory process until there is a leave-to-construct proceeding, right?

MR. STIERS:  That's right Mr. Elson.  What we're --


MR. ELSON:  I'm trying to --


MR. STIERS:  Same or similar process to that which is currently afforded to the utility for need to construct applications for facilities.

MR. ELSON:  Our concern is that generally it will be too late once the decision is made by the board on a leave-to-construct case to change course and to adopt a non-pipe alternative, because often you require more lead time for IRPAs, as your evidence sets out.

So we pose this question to you and I'm just going to read your answer, and then I have a couple of follow-up questions.

You said if contrary to Enbridge's proposal, the Board was to determine adjudication of Enbridge Gas's decision not to pursue an IRP solution to meet an identified need should take place before the leave-to-construct application, where the facilities solution is presented, then Enbridge believes such adjudication should take place in the year after Enbridge Gas has presented its determination not to pursue IRPA.

I'm just trying to understand the answer here.  So that decision would be presented in an annual rates case, and you're saying don't adjudicate in that case, wait until the next year?

MR. STIERS:  I think what we're saying is we don't think adjudication at that stage is going to be efficient or appropriate.  This response says if the Board was, to your point, to determine adjudication is necessary, that it should happen within a year of the decision having been presented within our updated asset management plan.  Certainly the sooner, the better so any pivots or adjustments to investments can be made as quickly as possible.

MR. ELSON:  Got it.  So it should be assessed that year.  So if you were to file the AMP, that would be addressed in that rates case?

MR. STIERS:  I'm not sure that it's appropriate to expand the scope of annual rates proceedings that are dealing with potentially a budget year that is 10 years disconnected from the constraints identified and the decision that's been made, no.  I'm not suggesting we expand that scope.

MR. ELSON:  It would have to be a separate stand alone proceeding on IRP?

MR. STIERS:  Again, we don't think it's appropriate for that to happen.  Sorry, I'm just reiterating again that's our position and I don't have a position today on what that adjudication process should look like, because we don't think it's appropriate.

MR. ELSON:  Your position is the rates case doesn't make sense, but you're not sure what does make sense.  Is that your position?

MR. STIERS:  Our position is the rates case -- the scope of rates cases should not be expanded beyond what the Board has previously allowed, or the Board has previously determined to be reasonable for those proceedings.  And we do not have a position today related to the appropriate form of any adjudicative process, because we think the purpose of our proposal in this proceeding is to establish a framework for IRP that sets out guidance principles, primary screening criteria, and an evaluation process that allows the utility to make objective decisions similar to the decisions the utility makes as an expert related to facilities projects, and by making those decisions and in coming forward with IRPA applications and construct applications, allowing the Board to determine whether or not the company has acted prudently.

So we're looking to avoid situations where there is countless adjudicative processes launched immediately following the update to the AMP on an annual basis.

MR. ELSON:  I'm going to leave the debate about whether it's necessary to have adjudication and discovery on these IRPA decisions, where you're screening out IRPA submissions.  And I know you've made your points and we will make our points.

But I would like the Board to have more clarity from you folks on what should happen if they agree with us that there should be some kind of review of these IRP decisions, knowing that it will be too late in the future to review them.

So would you recommend, assuming the Board does want to go down this road, that this happen every year, every other year, or every third year perhaps, where there would be a review of these kind of decisions?

MR. STIERS:  I'm having difficulty accepting the notion that this should happen at all, Mr. Elson?


MR. ELSON:  I know, and that's fine.  I don't think debating that on the record today is going to make much sense.

So the question -- and I'm fine for you to take it away as an undertaking, which is that if there were to be adjudication of decisions and discovery on decisions to not to pursue an IRPA prior to the leave-to-construct application, how often would they occur, and can you give some thought as to what kind of proceeding they should occur in if that's not an annual rates case?

MR. STEVENS:  Perhaps it makes sense for me to jump in, Kent -- Mr. Elson.  I think you're hearing from the witnesses that the company hasn't developed a specific position on this question, so I think it would be more appropriate to take it away and answer in writing as an undertaking.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  That's J1.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.3:  TO ADVISE IF THERE WERE TO BE ADJUDICATION OF DECISIONS AND DISCOVERY ON DECISIONS TO NOT TO PURSUE AN IRPA PRIOR TO THE LEAVE-TO-CONSTRUCT APPLICATION, HOW OFTEN WOULD THEY OCCUR; AND TO GIVE SOME THOUGHT AS TO WHAT KIND OF PROCEEDING THEY SHOULD OCCUR IN IF THAT'S NOT AN ANNUAL RATES CASE.

MR. ELSON:  Perfect.  I will turn to JT1.7 now.  And in this response Enbridge says that it does not believe that it is necessary to have formal adjudication of decisions not to proceed with IRPAs for smaller projects, so for anything under the leave-to-construct threshold, and that leave-to-construct threshold could become 10 million dollars in the near future, correct?

MR. STIERS:  Correct.

MR. ELSON:  So for everything below 10 million dollars your proposal is that the Board never rules on whether that's appropriate or not?

MR. STIERS:  No, it's a bit more nuanced than that, Mr. Elson.  So the company expects that system constraints that, as you said, that pass through the proposed binary screening criteria and subsequent IRPAs that are identified and pass through the proposed two-stage evaluation process, and that exceeds the company's proposed 10 million dollar materiality threshold for leave-to-construct applications, that those absolutely would be put forward to the Board in the form of an IRPA application for approval.  For those that are below or do not exceed that 10 million dollar leave-to-construct materiality threshold, the company does expect that it will still bring forward a large majority or certainly at the outset potentially a large number of those projects for the OEB's approval in the form of an IRP application as well, because we think at the outset of IRP in Ontario as experience has been gained that it will be helpful to have clarity from the Board regarding its expectations.

MR. ELSON:  So if you have an 8-million-dollar facilities project, the Board would never have an opportunity to rule on whether it was appropriate to pursue the facility, as opposed to the non-pipe solution.  That's your proposal?

MR. STIERS:  No, I'm not sure that's what I just stated, Mr. Elson.

MR. ELSON:  Well, that's what I'm understanding from the answer to this question.  And your answer was separate.  It was talking about approvals of IRPAs, and I'm talking about approvals of facilities where you have ruled out IRPAs, and it seems like you're saying in this interrogatory response you don't need to have formal adjudication of decisions not to pursue IRPAs below the LTC threshold.

So if you have an 8-million-dollar facility project, you don't think the Board should have an opportunity to look into whether there should have been a non-pipe solution instead and whether that could have been cost-effective and saved money?

MR. STIERS:  I'm sorry, the Board and parties will be aware of the position that the utility has taken up to 10 years in advance, and we've proposed a stakeholdering process which would allow parties to provide input, for that input to be responded to formally through a public process, and for the results of that exchange to be recorded, and all of this to be included as part of either leave-to-construct or IRPA applications in the future and adjudicated there, which is very much similar to the process that we have currently for facilities.  We think we are best suited to make these decisions.  We believe that we will gain valuable input through the proposed stakeholdering process that we've set out, and we expect that we will reflect the feedback received and potentially pursue other alternatives that have been suggested to us as part of this overarching process, but, no, we think that the current process works well and is efficient and should be adhered to in case of IRPAs as well.

MR. ELSON:  Yes.  And whether the current process works well, I think, is one that we are going to debate, and I think there is a lot of decisions where there has been frustration that it's too late to look at non-pipe solutions, but let's put that aside for the moment -- and by "decisions" I mean decisions of the OEB.

Let me come at it from a different angle.  Funding for capital projects that are under the leave-to-construct threshold would be sought in your rebasing applications; is that right?

MR. STIERS:  I believe the capital expenditure forecast wouldn't be included within our rebasing evidence.

MR. ELSON:  And so you have a USP and an AMP filed in that process, and presumably for me it would be open to intervenors to argue that Enbridge has proposed mix of pipe and non-pipe solutions should be adjusted in that rebasing application, no?

MR. STIERS:  I think to the extent -- and we have a response in part to some of these questions in JT1.6, but to the extent that the Board establishes a scope for that proceeding that allows for it, yes.

MR. ELSON:  And so you don't have a view on whether that should be within or outside the scope for rebasing?

MR. STIERS:  Not today, no.

MR. ELSON:  Can you provide that view?

MR. STIERS:  I'm sorry, so the value that that would provide you is...

MR. ELSON:  What I'm trying to get at is where the Board has any say over projects less than 10 million dollars.  I mean, a 9 million dollar project, and there is no point for us to ask interrogatories or for us to say to the Board, we think this 9 million dollar project could have been avoided with a 1 million dollar demand response program to get us over a hump until demand goes down, you know, for example.  And when can that be adjudicated and when can there be interrogatories on it?

MR. STEVENS:  I think you've heard from the witness, Mr. Elson, that agreement that an asset plan and the utility system plan will be filed as part of the rebasing application.  We're in a difficult situation in that we don't know exactly what is going to be the relief that's sought in that application, what sort of model might Enbridge gas be putting forward for the future years, and without knowing that we don't know exactly what the Board might think is relevant.  But we certainly expect the parties will be interested in asking questions about materials that are filed in that case, and I think it's fair to expect that the Board will find it relevant that Enbridge would answer questions about the materials filed in that case.

MR. ELSON:  In an IRP application, you're saying, or in a rebasing --


MR. STEVENS:  No, sorry, in a rebasing application.  In an IRP application I suppose the questions would be specific to the IRP plan that's being put forward.

MR. ELSON:  So if there is adjudication of these kinds of matters in a rebasing case, I guess the challenge would be that your USP and your AMP only has details on specific cases, specific projects for the first couple years, and it gets pretty fuzzy when you get to the last five years in terms of details; is that fair to say?

MR. STIERS:  I would have to defer to Ms. McCowan.

MS. McCOWAN:  It's certainly true that replacement projects are more fully described in the earlier years.  But I would say that the system reinforcement projects will be defined out to the 10 years, that that longer-range plan versus to reinforcement is something that we've committed to.

MR. ELSON:  Will you be filing an updated USP every year or just an AMP every year?

MS. McCOWAN:  I believe we file a utilities system plan every year.  I would defer to the regulatory people, though.

MR. STIERS:  Yes, I think, subject to check, that's right.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  So I would like to ask about the flip side of this question, which is why -- or where the threshold would be for IRPA, in terms of monetary.  So for leave to construct you don't need approval -- in the future you may not need approval below 10 million dollars, but you're proposing to seek approval for IRPAs no matter what the amount is, or are you proposing a threshold?

MR. STIERS:  So we have asked for -- and I think this is set out, Mr. Elson, in our additional evidence, which is Exhibit B, as well as in the response at Staff -- Exhibit I, Staff 11.  I think the wording used was that we're seeking to establish similar assurances under similar thresholds and parameters for investments in natural gas IRPAs as the Ontario Energy Board Act affords natural gas utilities through applications for leave to construct.  So all of that to say we would seek to apply the same materiality threshold of 10 million dollars as the must applied for IRPA approval threshold.

As I stated earlier, we expect it will be in our interest to bring forward applications for projects below that threshold as well, as we work to gain clarity within Ontario as to what exactly the Board's intentions are and positions are for natural gas integrated resource planning.

MR. ELSON:  That's helpful.  If it's above 10 million dollars, you must apply.  If it's below 10 million dollars, you may apply.  And you're signalling you will probably be applying for projects below the 10 million dollar threshold that are IRPAs initially because this is a bit new?

MR. STIERS:  Correct.

MR. ELSON:  Got it, thank you.  So I will turn on to JT2.11 and we have had some discussions about this already.

So this relates to the pre-screening, the binary screening.  And just to put a bit of a point to it, is Enbridge's proposal there will be no exceptions to the binary screening?  So if a project falls within one of the binary screening categories, no more analysis would be done on potential non-pipe solutions?

MR. STIERS:  Our intention is to establish binary screening that allow us to effectively make objective decisions that the Board and parties can accept absolutely.  So I would say our intent is if something is screened out at the binary screening stage, then it will not go through further assessment unless conditions in the environments or feedback from stakeholders brings something new to light, or the underlying conditions of the identified constraint have evolved.

One thing that's important to keep in mind, Mr. Elson, is we need to have set rules to help us make objective decisions and avoid saddling ratepayers with excessive cost burdens and excessive regulatory burdens through this process.  So we attempted do that by establishing the initial binary screening criteria.  We do expect the Board, over time as it makes decisions related to IRPA applications, and as more experience is gained in Ontario and some other jurisdictions, these may need to evolve in some fashion as well.

MR. ELSON:  One of the issues I'm concerned about is this getting -- coming back in a leave-to-construct context and intervenors being told you can't explore IRPAs because the Board's framework said this is appropriate pre-screening, and you say, well, this should be an exception to the pre-screening.

Let me put it this way.  If the Board approves this pre-screening proposal, the binary screening proposal and you screen out an IRPA and apply for the leave-to-construct facility, can intervenors still argue that there should be an exception to that binary screening?  Or is that out of scope as far as you are concerned in your proposal at that leave-to-construct proceeding?

MR. STIERS:  I wouldn't presume to tell you or others as to what you can and can't argue in a proceeding.  Whether or not the Board would consider that to be within the appropriate scope for that proceeding, as well is something that's difficult for me to speculate on today.  I think again the purpose of the screening criteria is to avoid situations where something has been missed, to avoid situations where we are not focused on pursuing what are the most viable IRPA opportunities for investments going forward.

MR. ELSON:  Our concern would be that we would ask for interrogatories, and you would say these interrogatories are irrelevant because we screened it out, so that's the end of the story.

Would you be open to saying now this pre-screening isn't going to be a no exceptions kind of policy?  I think that's your understanding of it.

MR. STIERS:  I'm not sure that I can necessarily accept that.  But I would reiterate again that our intent is to absolutely receive feedback, so we should have received that feedback that something is amiss from yourself or from other parties, or from people living in the immediate communities that are going to be affected by these decisions, which is most critical from some respects.

MR. ELSON:  With all due respect, we can't provide meaningful feedback without interrogatories.  And that's what we found in all these proceedings is that you have to get into a bit of the details to know whether it's possible.

But I'm starting to get into a debate, and let me move on to more specific questions about the screening criteria.

So there is the new screening criteria on the screen there, which is pipeline replacement and relocation projects.  Do you see that there?

MS. McCOWAN:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  So this seems to relate in some part to the safety criteria.  Let me come at it differently, because I'm trying to understand the interplay between them and maybe the clarity you provided earlier this morning explains it.

This is your first binary screening criteria, which is safety.  Let me just confirm.  This is not saying all safety projects will be screened out.  It's just saying if there is an urgent timing issue associated with a safety related project, it's going to get screened out for IRPA.  Is that right?

MS. McCOWAN:  Yes, that's what I tried to describe earlier today.

MR. ELSON:  So it's not screening out safety or reliability projects?

MS. McCOWAN:  Yes, I think that would be our intent.

MR. ELSON:  With respect to safety and reliability, this is the criteria that would apply as in the sixth item in JT2.11, which is for, I guess, reliability issues where you're replacing a pipeline if it's below 10 million dollars, you're going to screen it out?

MS. McCOWAN:  That's correct.

MR. ELSON:  In terms of the criteria in Exhibit B, pages 19 and 20, it seems to me the safety criteria is a subset of number 2, which is timing.

So if you have an urgent safety issue such that you can't address it in under 3 years and you're going to screen out IRPA; is that fair?

MS. McCOWAN:  Yes, I think that's fair.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  Got it,  And it seems that's the same for item 3, which is project specific considerations, and you're saying timing may necessitate the installation of physical infrastructure if there is a municipal project you're trying to leverage, for example.

So item 3 is also a timing-related binary screening, correct?

MR. STIERS:  There is an aspect to timing included in there, Mr. Elson, yes.

MR. ELSON:  That's the only aspect I can understand from the description here.  And if there is other aspects, then I would submit that the wording "project-specific considerations" is way too broad.

If what you're saying is there are sometimes project-related considerations that result in timing issues, then I understand that.  But if it's broader than that, then I think more specificity would be helpful.

And really what I'm coming around to is a request for an undertaking for you to provide this list with more specificity, and address the items that are raised in the hearing, including that the safety item is actually talking about urgent safety issues where there is less than three years of the time frame, that project-specific considerations are project considerations that result in timing issues, so on and so forth.

Can you undertake to provide a revised list of the binary screening?

MR. STIERS:  So I'm wondering if there's any way we can answer some aspect of your questions as opposed to taking it all the way --


MR. ELSON:  I think you have answered my questions, and my concern is the Board needs to write a decision at some point, and they are going to want a list rather than floating through all of these interrogatory responses and the additional evidence and the transcript from this hearing.  And I think it would be helpful for there to be more clarity, because a term like customer-specific builds to me is too broad.  So that would be helpful.  If you don't want to provide an undertaking, that's fine, but I think that would be helpful to the process.

MR. STEVENS:  Mr. Elson, at the conclusion of the evidence Enbridge Gas is prepared to provide an undertaking to provide further detail based on what's been discussed at the hearing as to what's meant by each of the binary screening criteria.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  And I think there might be some parties who would want to ask further questions depending on what that wording looks like, but I'll leave it at that, and --


MR. STEVENS:  I was going to suggest, Mr. Elson, that frankly, it's something that I would have ordinarily thought would be addressed in argument.  And my concern with putting it forward in undertakings is we're going to have a never-ending evidentiary process in this case, having been through interrogatories, technical conference, undertakings, and oral hearing.

MR. ELSON:  Yup.  And my concern is that it's not clear to the parties what you're proposing, and we're in the middle of a hearing, so the more that there's clarity the better.

MR. STEVENS:  As I say, at the conclusion of the hearing we're prepared to provide that undertaking.

MR. ELSON:  Does that need a number now?

MR. MILLAR:  I'm in the parties -- or I suppose the Board is in the parties' hands.  Do we have the full under -- Mr. Stevens, is that something that should be given now or something that will be picked up again later?

MR. STEVENS:  I think it's appropriate for it to be given now.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So let's call it J1.4, and maybe, Mr. Stevens, you can state again what you're undertaking to do.

MR. STEVENS:  Enbridge Gas will provide its list of screening criteria with additional specificity to address further details that may be helpful and issues that may have been discussed during the hearing.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.4:  TO PROVIDE THE LIST OF SCREENING CRITERIA WITH ADDITIONAL SPECIFICITY TO ADDRESS FURTHER DETAILS THAT MAY BE HELPFUL AND ISSUES THAT MAY HAVE BEEN DISCUSSED DURING THE HEARING.

MS. DeMARCO:  If I can weigh in on that -- sorry, my video is freezing me out.  It's Lisa DeMarco.  I would be very supportive of the undertaking being provided now, as I have a number of questions in relation to this, and there is significant confusion as to whether or not the conditions of safety, integrity, reliability, and the project-related considerations are in fact all subordinate to and a subset of the three- to five-year timing criteria.  So I'm happy to go into that in detail in my cross-examination, but I find that this specific undertaking would be very useful to be provided now, not at the end of evidence.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you, Ms. DeMarco.  Given the time exigencies of the panel being under cross-examination right now and the hearing continuing with many of the same panel members tomorrow and the following day, I don't think I can undertake on behalf of the panel that we can provide a written answer to as detailed a question as this as the hearing is going on.  I'm sure that the panel will be available to answer some of the specific questions that you've noted.

MS. DeMARCO:  If I can just push back, this appears to be a fundamental question of the IRP framework proposal.  Specifically, these are now the original five as of today or as of the undertaking responses, six criteria that are proposed in the binary screening analysis, and we've gotten different answers on the record as to what those are, so I think it really behooves the company to put forward very clearly precisely what those six binary criteria are and how they are to be applied.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you for that, Ms. Demarco.  With respect, I've probably heard -- interpreted less confusion than you have.  As I say, the company is prepared to answer questions, and the company certainly has answered each of the hundreds of interrogatories that have been posed, as well as days of questions in the technical conference and undertakings arising from that, and we will be prepared to provide the undertaking that I've offered at the end of the hearing.

MS. DeMARCO:  If the record could therefore reflect that there is a refusal to provide the undertaking now, and I will therefore cross-examine on the specific areas of confusion later today.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you, Ms. DeMarco.  To be clear, I don't want to be so presumptuous as to think I can refuse something on my own and have that stand.  We're in the Board's hands.

MS. ANDERSON:  Yeah, having reflected on this, I guess it's not clear to me what the confusion is, and the typical process is you'll ask your questions and then it would normally be, I guess, in argument-in-chief in which the final position of the company would be put forward for argument.

So I understand the parties saying this would minimize the cross-examination, but it's not quite clear to me what areas of confusion remain, so to have them attempt to turn around this undertaking at this point before hearing the questions, I think I can see why that would be a challenge.

Is there -- Mr. Stevens, is there anything that you can talk to the company about over the lunch break that might assist if there are areas here that -- the one Ms. DeMarco reflected on, something that could provide that clarity or -- and saying you've got that on the record?

MR. STEVENS:  If there are specific questions that would be important for to us discuss over the lunch break, then we could do that.  I of course would seek your leave, Madam Chair, to be able to speak to witnesses at all while they are under cross-examination.  Ordinarily that wouldn't be my practice.  But we're certainly in everybody's hands as to what's helpful, but we want to keep it within the bounds of what's reasonable.

MS. ANDERSON:  Yes.  So I will have a conversation with my fellow Panel members, but I -- you know, I do understand what can be turned around in an undertaking in time to come back for cross-examination that's taking place this afternoon.  That seems like a very tall order, when there -- I guess what this panel needs is a definitive company's position, which would, as I said, generally be put forward in argument in-chief.

I will take the opportunity to talk to my fellow Panel members over the lunch break, but at the moment we will leave it as an undertaking to update us at the end of hearing.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  And just for clarity, I wasn't seeking a Board order, and I understand that Mr. Stevens can only do what's in the realm of possible, but we will be asking the Board not to bless a set of criteria that hasn't been properly cross-examined and addressed, and we feel that it will be -- that's something that we will be making, you know, our points on in submissions.  If Mr. Stevens is able to provide something overnight and it can be addressed by panel 2, that's great, but if not, then I think the lack of clarity is something that we can address in submissions, and I don't think we need to press it to a question of the Board making an order that they provide it sooner.  I'm fine to leave that to the utility.

One other specific question which relates to item 4 here, customer-specific builds, so would this be projects that have a contribution in aid of construction as the only driver or as a part driver, and how do we distinguish between projects of that nature?

MR. STIERS:  Sure.  So I think the description actually said that it is both those with contribution in aid of construction or where a specific customer has contracted for long-term firm services with the utility.

MR. ELSON:  And so do those items need to be 100 percent of the demand for the project, or could they be 1 percent of the demand drive in the project, or somewhere in between?

MR. STIERS:  I don't think we've been so specific in this description.  I'm not sure.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  So that's another question that arises for us.  Where would a project fall when it is based partly on reliability and partly on demand growth?

MS. McCOWAN:  I think, you know, that the -- a project that had a reinforcement component would always be looked at for consideration of IRP, just so that we could evaluate what pipe size was appropriate to do the replacement.

MR. ELSON:  Got it.  So if there is any replacement that's upsizing, it would not be subject to the 10 million dollar threshold that you proposed?

MS. McCOWAN:  I would need Mr. Stiers to chime in on whether a project that is -- sorry, let me step back.

Are you asking whether a leave to construct that's less than 8 million that has a component of reinforcement and a component of condition would be subject to leave to construct?

MR. ELSON:  No.  I'm asking whether you're going to screen that out as part of your binary screening.  We often find that there's a slew of drivers related to projects, and I think your earlier answer was if there is an upsizing of a pipe, it would not be screened out through binary screening.  And I'm just trying to get clarity on that.

MS. McCOWAN:  Yes, that's correct.  So we've said that any system reinforcement project -- and the way we would know that was a system reinforcement project is it was not size for size replacement -- would not be screened out.

MR. ELSON:  Got it.  So this item on the screen here from JT2.11 talks about pipeline replacement, but really it means pipeline replacement without upsizing size for size?

MS. McCOWAN:  That was the intent, yes.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  And that would be another piece of clarity that would be helpful.  So if there is any demand driven component to the project, it would not be screened out through the binary screening, is that correct?

MS. McCOWAN:  That was the intense of including all system reinforcement spend.

MR. ELSON:  And the clarity I'm looking for -- I'm not talking about projects that are 100 percent system reinforcement driven.  I'm talking about projects that might have a number of different drivers and if there is any system reinforcement aspect of it, it would not be screened out.  Is that correct?

MS. McCOWAN:  Yes, I understand the clarity you're looking for.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  Thank you.  I'm sure my colleagues will have some other questions, so I'll leave that.  So I think my time is essentially up, but I'm going to ask just a quick question or two.

MS. ANDERSON:  Yes, your time is up.  But I do take into account that we had a bit of sidebar that went beyond your scope, Mr. Elson.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I'll try to make it up on a future panel.

This table here suggests that only 25 or so, maybe 27 percent of your capital budget would be eligible for IRPAs.  Am I correct in understanding this?

MS. McCOWAN:  You're correct.

MR. ELSON:  Is all of system service getting screened out?

MS. McCOWAN:  I'm sorry, I'm not as familiar as I should be with which of the asset class programs fit into systems service.  But I can tell you what is included here are the main replacements and relocations that are greater than 10 million dollars, and all system reinforcement projects regardless of size.

MR. ELSON:  Could you provide a further breakdown to this table based on the categories in the utility system plan?

MS. McCOWAN:  That would be something I could do.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  That is J1.5.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.5:  TO PROVIDE A FURTHER BREAKDOWN OF THE TABLE FROM JT2.11 BASED ON THE CATEGORIES IN THE UTILITY SYSTEM PLAN


MR. ELSON:  And the last question on gas supply very quickly, because I know your gas supply person is only on this panel.

We heard that DSM has gas supply related benefits, including the hedge value, I think Mr. Neme called it, which is in essence you're purchasing a cheap fixed contract for gas and carbon pricing that extends out many years.  You put the money in now and 10 years from now, you're still saving X amount of gas and X amount in terms of carbon pricing.

If the Board wanted Enbridge to do more to calculate the value of that benefit, would that be something done with your gas supply team or as part of your gas supply planning process?

MR. GILLETT:  Sorry, you might have to rephrase that question a bit.  I am not as familiar with the DSM side, so that might be a better question for the second panel if it's related to the DSM program itself.

I wasn't quite following your question as it pertains to gas supply planning.

MR. ELSON:  One of the benefits of DSM is you will invest X amount of dollars today and you will receive Y amount of avoided gas for, let's say, 15 years.  So that's equivalent to purchasing that gas now in a fixed price contract.  So it reduces the risk of gas price increases and the risk of carbon price increases; in other Words, it's purchasing a hedge.

And it's the gas supply folks that look at the balance between purchasing gas on the spot price basis, or buying long-term contracts and have a better grasp on what the value is of having a fixed price contract.

Is that something your gas supply team could calculate and would be part of your gas supply planning process?  Or who would calculate what that hedge value is?

MR. GILLETT:  I understand.  So today that does not relate to the gas supply planning process.  So the DSM programming reduces the consumption of customers, right, so it reduces the demand, typically the annual demand versus the peak day demand.

So that reduction -- any reduction that's found under the DSM programming feeds into the front end of the gas supply planning process because every gigajoule of gas that's reduced in demand is gas we don't need to purchase to meet the next year's needs for customers.

So that's how that piece works.  The gas supply isn't calculating anything to do with DSM reductions.  We're not forecasting and planning for DSM reductions.  That's done through the DSM programming.

What gas supply is doing is looking at what are the actual demands of customers for that next year.  So if there was a reduction found under DESM, that would be incorporated in the planning.  But it's not quite done in the way that I think you described.

MR. ELSON:  I know it's not, and I'm going to leave it here.  But maybe I can just -- as a general idea to gas supply planning folks that would have the best grasp on a fixed price contract or spot price contract?

MR. GILLETT:   If you're talking about market analysis in terms of value of commodity and what a fixed price contract or spot purchase would look like, yeah, that would be something that my team would be able do.  I'm just speaking more around the mechanics of what you're describing.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  Thank you, I will leave it there.  Thank you for the indulgence, Madam Chair.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Mr. Elson.  Next up is FRPO. Mr. Quinn, are you ready to begin?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Quinn:


MR. QUINN:  Yes, I am, Madam Chair, thank you.  And good afternoon, Madam Chair, Commissioners Frank and Janigan, and the witness panel.  We understand there's a lot of information on the record that's been generated to this point, but we're going to seek the assistance of the witness panel with integrating this information into knowledge that serves the Board on this process.

Mr. Millar, I would like to be using what you see on the screen and I didn't know, because I have information from outside the proceeding, if it needs to have an exhibit number.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I think it should and we probably should have marked Mr. Brophy's compendium as well that he was going through.  I neglected to do that, so I propose to make up for that now.  We would call the Pollution Probe compendium K1.1 and the FRPO compendium K1.2.

MR. QUINN:  Mr. Elson, did you have a compendium also?
EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  POLLUTION PROBE COMPENDIUM

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, sorry, Mr. Elson should be in there as 1.2, that's the Environmental Defence compendium and yours would be 1.3, Mr. Quinn.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  ENVIRONMENTAL DEFENCE COMPENDIUM
EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  FRPO COMPENDIUM

MR. QUINN:  Thank you very much, Mr. Millar.  Using the compendium, could you please display the interrogatory response at Staff 2, which is found on page 3 of the compendium?

MR. ELSON:  Can I interrupt?  We didn't refer to a compendium, so that probably shouldn't get marked until the next day because we referred to excerpts from the evidence.

MR. MILLAR:  My apologies.  Let me reverse my previous reversal and go back to K1.2, Mr. Quinn's compendium.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  Sorry for the stop and start here.  But I would like to draw your attention to the second paragraph of the response, Staff 2.  The first section of our discussion this morning relates to the OEB's oversight of Enbridge's system planning including non-facility alternatives.

We would like to confirm our understanding of the process as envisioned in the proposal.  Many times throughout the proceeding Enbridge has stated that the asset management plan will provide the first evidence of a system constraint or need.  That's correct, is it not?

MS. McCOWAN:  That's correct.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  And that would be the first time stakeholders could ask questions about the constraint of potential IRPs; is that also correct?

MS. McCOWAN:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  Now, we understand that the alternatives will become better refined over time, but would you agree with me that as stakeholders proposing an alternative for consideration that needs to be considered with information held or that could be attained from the market by the utility, that stakeholders should have the right to receive that information to allow the generation of viable alternatives for consideration?

MR. STIERS:  Mr. Quinn, to play that back to you, are you asking if you decide, for example, that the company should conduct an RFP up to 10 years in advance of a constraint being realized, that we should do so at your request?

MR. QUINN:  Mr. Stiers, I did not ask the up to 10 years.  I'm just asking in general if a stakeholder's requesting that the company obtain market information for the purpose of evaluating alternative, should we have that opportunity to make that request and have it be provided by the utility?

MR. STIERS:  I think what you're trying to drive at -- and I'm sorry, I referred to 10 years because in the preface to your question you were citing when this information would be -- become available.  It is up to 10 years in advance, based on the proposal before the Board at this point.

So I think what we said is that through the stakeholdering process, which panel 2 will be better suited to get into the details of, through the stakeholdering process we would invite feedback, so any party that feels that an alternative was missed or should have been considered can put that to the utility, and the utility would response -- seek to respond formally to that feedback, and we intend to make all of those responses to feedback underlying them, all publicly available, I believe panel 2 will discuss this at further length tomorrow, but even potentially making them available on a portion of our website, and so that suggestion that a market opportunity exists, I think the right time to make that suggestion would be as part of the review and stakeholdering event that we're proposing to hold on an annual basis, and the utility would look at that and would determine whether or not it is in the best interests of ratepayers for to us pursue that idea or that proposal.

MR. QUINN:  So I am going to defer some of my questions in this area to panel 2, but you just said if the utility decides that it is worthwhile for ratepayers, then it will be [audio dropout] or not, if there is a genuine dispute between the utility and the stakeholder on the importance of that information, would you agree that the Board has the power to direct the utility to provide the information or obtain the information from the market?

MR. STIERS:  The Board has the power to direct the utility.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  So in the technical conference we had a brief discussion about who holds the list or menu of alternatives.  We see the menu of alternatives providing the Board and stakeholders with a state-of-the-art display of categorized IRPs as educational tool on the range of alternatives.

Can we agree that having a state-of-the-art document is of value as an educative or evaluative tool?

MR. STIERS:  I think it's difficult, Mr. Quinn, to respond to a theoretical construct at this time.  It's very difficult to understand what this state-of-the-art tool, so to speak, is, what it would provide that's different than what's available currently and historically, and how it would serve ratepayers relative to the cost that it would cause ratepayers to incur to maintain it, manage it, to administer it, and certainly if you're asking if there should be incremental adjudication, then I think we've already discussed that at length earlier today, what the company's position is.

MR. QUINN:  So we view it as beneficial to have categories of IRPAs, such as supply side, demand side, bridging, or long-term.  Would you agree that the categories have merit?

MR. STIERS:  We have acknowledged that supply side or some of the ones that you just listed off quickly there have also been termed as commercial alternatives or market-based alternatives.

We have historically considered those as part of our leave-to-construct evidence and proceedings, and we have acknowledged that they have a place here with regard to IRPAs, yes.

MR. QUINN:  We will get to those later on, Mr. Stiers.  So what we understand from the technical conference is Enbridge believes it should hold the list.  Assume that the Board disagrees.  Would Enbridge draft a categorized menu for the purposes of providing this initial menu for the Board?

MR. STEVENS:  Sorry, Dwayne, is your question if the Board directs Enbridge to do something will Enbridge do it?  Because I would think that that's self-evident.

MR. QUINN:  What we're saying, Mr. Stevens, is we believe in the value of the menu, and we believe the Board's power to determine issues surrounding the menu, and we're asking Enbridge if it would draft a menu that would serve the purpose of providing educative tool for all stakeholders and helpful to the Board in having one document, one living document ideally, that could be added to over time.  And again, we'll get to that later.

MR. STEVENS:  Well, at the risk of giving evidence, I mean, Enbridge will of course do what it's instructed to do by the Board as part of the framework, if that's what your question is asking.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  So that brings us to the importance of the knowledge needed for those authoring and applying the framework.  I think we can agree that the energy market continues to evolve.

So would you agree with me that the menu or list would be a living document that could be added to or for that matter subtracted from over time?

MR. STIERS:  Mr. Quinn, if I could just take a moment here, it sounds like we are going to spend some time on this concept of list, and I do have a position that might help clarify things.

So in our view, the first step is for the Board to provide guidance regarding the acceptability of the IRPAs that are set out within EGI's or Enbridge Gas's (inaudible) evidence on record in this proceeding.

The company's focused at this time on establishing the guidance in support of initiating its pursuit of investments --


THE REPORTER:  I'm sorry, I'm having difficulty hearing Mr. Stiers again.

MR. STIERS:  Sure, sorry.  Is that better?

THE REPORTER:  No, not really.  I need you to either speak closer to your microphone or speak more clearly for me, please.

MR. STIERS:  Yes.  I will try.  Is that improved at all?  I can move closer.  Okay.  I will try again.  Is that any better?  I'm not receiving any --


THE REPORTER:  I'm sorry, maybe you didn't hear me.  I said that that's a little better, thank you.

MR. STIERS:  Oh, good.  Yes, no problem.

THE REPORTER:  Thank you.

MR. STIERS:  So I'll pick up where I left off.  The company's focused at this time on establishing this guidance in support of initiating its pursuit of investments in IRPAs and its concern that establishing a fixed list today could be overly restrictive.  It feels premature.

Going forward, as experience is gained in Ontario, we anticipate that it may be appropriate to obtain a high-level listing of IRPAs that the utility has gained experience with, either through investigation as their viability or feasibility or through direct implementation.

However, establishment of such a list should not be misconstrued as obligating the company to conduct analysis on all IRPAs included in each instance of an identified constraint, nor should it in any way restrict the company from considering additional IRPAs not included in the list.

The company believes that it is best-suited to develop and maintain such a listing, including the determination of the relative level of relevant information contained therein.  The company would ultimately comply with the Board's direction in this regard.

MR. QUINN:  I don't think at any point, Mr. Stiers, I said a fixed list.  In fact, I asked about that it would evolve over time.

But to be specific, if a stakeholder has an idea for IRPA, we say that the stakeholder would need to provide some sort of justification of the efficacy of the idea or concept to be added to the list.

Accepting our view for the purposes of this question, who do+ you see making the decision on whether it should be included in the list of alternatives?

MR. STIERS:  I've just described, Mr. Quinn, that the utility believes it is best suited to manage that list.

MR. QUINN:  Again if the utility does not agree with the stakeholder on its inclusion, do you see having the Board having the authority to determine the genuine dispute?

MR. STIERS:  I do, and I think that the stakeholder process we described would provide a succinct record of both the stakeholder's position and the utility's position in response.

MR. QUINN:  Sorry, you're writing the stakeholder's position, or is the stakeholder?

MR. STIERS:  We are recording the stakeholder feedback.  You are writing the position, the utility is recording that and making it publicly available, as well as responding to it and making its response publicly available.

MR. QUINN:  One of the areas we are trying to assist the Board with is this concept of displacement.  Mr. Gillett, at the technical conference we had a conversation about the concept of displacements.  Do you recall that conversation?

MR. GILLETT:  Yes, I do.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  At the time I was talking about displacement with TransCanada at Parkway as an example.  Would you agree pipeline displacement is used by interconnecting pipelines throughout North America?

MR. GILLETT:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. QUINN:  While I was focusing it on Parkway for the purpose of our illustration, it is true that Enbridge uses displacement at interconnections with other pipelines, such as the Sarnia area, correct?

MR. GILLETT:  Yeah, that's correct.

MR. QUINN:  If we can display tab 6 of our compendium, page 43 please.  Thank you.  I think it is worthwhile to distinguish the use of displacement.  In this case, Enbridge is using interconnecting pipeline capacity to meet a distribution need in the Sarnia area, is that right?

MR. GILLETT:  We are using an interconnecting pipeline to provide gas in the Sarnia area, yes.

MR. QUINN:  For the purpose of your distribution in the Sarnia industrial system, correct?

MR. GILLETT:  The Sarnia area is a bit of a unique area in our system.  It has a number of interconnecting pipelines that come into it, so there is also -- in that area, there's the city of Sarnia itself and south of there, there is what we call the Sarnia industrial line, which is a heavily concentrated area of industrial plants, chemical plants, fertilizer power, so use those interconnecting pipelines to feed that system to meet the needs of those customers.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you, Mr. Gillett.  I chose not to bring up the diagrams and such, because I don't think the board needs that level of detail.

But would you agree with me that supply site solution alternatives can be enhanced by third party interconnecting pipelines like at Parkway, the Sarnia area we just discussed, and arguably Ojibway?

MR. GILLETT:  I think throughout the proceedings so far, and Mr. Stiers alluded to this, we have acknowledged that commercial supply side alternatives could be assessed as potential IRPAs.  We've acknowledged that a number of types, so we expect that to be part of this future menu we spoke about earlier.

Those commercial alternatives are things -- are services underpinned by contractual arguments between parties.  The concern I have is that when you talk about displacement, Mr. Quinn, you're talking about daily operations of pipelines.  So when an interconnecting pipeline sets up a system, it sets it up to meet the contractual obligations it has with its customers.  Insofar that displacement occurs between multiple pipelines, that's because the pipeline operators have set their systems up that way.

I want to be clear to draw that line.  When we talk about commercial supply side alternatives, market-based alternatives as IRPAs, those are different.  Those are services that we have agreed to ahead of time.  We understand the cost.  We understand the attributes and we understand the risks.  I think you're talking a bit about some of the operational considerations that is go into us managing a very specific system.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  We'll go into detail on third party services shortly, Mr. Gillett.  But one point we made in our presentation was about displacement that was the Parkway delivery obligation as a form of displacement.  Would you agree with me that that is displacement?

MR. GILLETT:  Maybe I'll give a quick answer and hand it over to Ms. Thompson.  I would say Parkway delivery obligation is an obligated delivery point --


MR. QUINN:  Just to be specific in my question, because I understand that and so do you, in terms of being obligated at that point.

But the provision of deliveries at Parkway by third parties displaces gas that would otherwise have flowed through the Dawn Parkway system.  Is that not correct?

MR. GILLETT:  I would not phrase it that way.  Again, I understand -- I think I understand your question, so let me complete my thought there.

MR. QUINN:  Can I ask a follow-up question that maybe brings this home?  You're aware and I'm aware we only have a certain amount of time.

What I want to make sure we understood is direct purchase gas deliveries at Parkway are used to reduce deliveries on the Dawn Parkway system.

MR. GILLETT:  Yes, absolutely that's right.

MR. QUINN:  While the direct purchase customers gas never physically gets past Parkway, Enbridge uses their deliveries to Parkway to meet commitments while receiving the customer's gas at their location or potentially at Dawn for storage for future use, correct?

MR. GILLETT:  When you say their location, can you clarify what you mean by their location?

MR. QUINN:  Direct purchase customer bringing gas to Parkway, it's for consumption at their plant, as an example.  So while Enbridge receives their gas at Parkway, that gas doesn't physically flow to their plant.  It is displaced in a way that the company provides gas to the customer at their plant, or goes to Dawn for storage.  But the physical gas doesn't flow to the plant or the storage, correct?

MR. GILLETT:  What you're describing is fundamentally how our entire system operates.  So we have customers obligated at Dawn, Parkway, Empress, and delivery areas.  And in every single case, a customer delivers to one of those points and we deliver it to their consumption point through our distribution system.

MR. QUINN:  Excellent.

MR. GILLETT:  What you're describing is not unique to Parkway.  It's fundamentally how it works.  Customers give us a gas at one point on our system, and they consume gas at a separate point -- I think I finished my answer.

MR. QUINN:  This is not a novel approach.  I think your words were it's how our distribution system works?

MR. GILLETT:  Customers delivery at one point on the system and receiving gas on a different point is fundamental to how a distribution utility works.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I'll just mention that we believe an important matter regarding alternative is the evolution of the market.

If you could display tab 4 from the compendium, please?  is tab combines a number of responses regarding the Parkway delivery obligation, or PDO.  In accordance with the Board's direction, our ability to rely on the evidence so far in the proceeding, instead of going through each of the IRs to ground us in understanding a PDO, we would summarize these responses to confirm that PDO has been approved by the Board for decades as a supply site alternative to reduce facility requirements.  Is that a suitable summary?

MS. THOMPSON:  The PDO was established historically in order to impact the facilities required.  Now, that has evolved over time as you mention.

MR. QUINN:  We will get to that, thank you.

MS. THOMPSON:  In 2014 there was a settlement agreement made by a number of parties in order to move away from the PDF --


MR. QUINN:  Yes, Ms. Thompson, I am going to actually come to that later on, so what I just wanted to make sure is my summary was that the PDO has been approved by the Board for decades as a supply-side alternative.  That's correct, is it not?

MS. THOMPSON:  I think the important distinction is that what I just mentioned in the settlement agreement, which was that a number of parties settled to in fact move away from the PDO and that in the 2022 rates application that we've been asked to explore the value of the PDO on a go-forward basis --


MR. QUINN:  I'm looking forward to that, and I have actual questions that will pertain to that, so we can bring up the exhibit for the help of the Board.  But in the Board's issues list, issue 5 asked about industry best practices for IRP that are applicable in the Ontario context.

In our view, the Parkway delivery obligation is a non-facility supply-side IRP alternative best practice, and not only is it applicable, it has and continues to serve for decades.  Would you agree with that?

MS. THOMPSON:  I believe we've confirmed that we consider the PDO to be an IRPA.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So the 2014 PDO agreement, Union entered into a settlement with direct purchase customers for the turnback of Dawn Kirkwall capacity to move customers' obligations, to resolve historic inequity.  That's what you're referring to, Ms. Thompson?  Actually, maybe if we can just bring up tab 3 then.  I thought we could move more quickly.  If we move to tab 3, please.

MR. GILLETT:  Mr. Quinn, I wonder if I can maybe just quickly jump in here on something, just, I think what Ms. Thompson was trying to get across, and you had used the words "best practice".  I would say, I don't know who's determined it's best practice, but I think we've acknowledged that PDO is a potential IRPA.  It has a place in the grand scheme of IRP analysis.  We're not denying that piece.

I think what Ms. Thompson is trying to get across was it's evolved over time.  The intervenors themselves and customers themselves have said that they don't want to be obligated at Parkway, and so the 2014 settlement was a number of intervenors coming in and essentially saying that the utility needed to move them to Dawn.  They didn't want to be at Parkway, so we've done a number of election processes to allow that, and now, as Ms. Thompson alluded to, the Board has requested that the utility look at the economic efficiency of PDO.

So I just, I want to just make sure we temper the comment made around best practice.  It's a potential IRPA, we've acknowledged, but it's not risk-free.  It's not sort of pain-free for customers.  There's --


MR. QUINN:  Mr. Gillett, Mr. Gillett, those are your opinions, and what we're going to do is I'm going to ask some specific questions about the evidence that supports that, so maybe that -- maybe we can walk through this together.

On page 47 of tab 3, the first sentence reads:

"There is currently an inequity in the manner in which delivery of gas volumes required by Union at Parkway is achieved."

That's what I was talking about as historic inequity.

So I think we can hopefully agree that that was the starting point for PDO reduction.  And would you agree with me that Enbridge was using turnback that was available from Dawn to Kirkwall to move customers' obligations to resolve that inequity?  Will you take it subject to check that that's what the agreement, without having to go through the whole agreement, says?

MR. GILLETT:  Are you referring to the election process that was constructed as part of the settlement to move customers from Parkway to Dawn?

MR. QUINN:  Yes.

MR. GILLETT:  That was facilitated through customer turnback.  The idea at the time was that the utility should be building outright to move customers, but so far that economically efficient ways of moving them presented themselves, which turnback is one, that we would allow customers to elect to move back to Dawn.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I think we're going to have some disagreement, but the rest of the agreement is filed here, so we'll take it to argument in terms of what you've stated and what the agreement states, but I want to move on, because we have limited time, and I appreciate you working with me to help us stay in those time constraints.

So Enbridge is now moving all customer deliveries to Dawn, so it's providing an incentive called the Parkway delivery commitment incentive, or PDCI, to compensate customers for their deliveries to Parkway instead of Dawn, correct?

MS. THOMPSON:  Correct.

MR. QUINN:  A lot has changed since the time of the original agreement in 2014.  Would you agree with me that the difference in the value of contracted future deliveries of gas between Dawn and Parkway has narrowed significantly in the last six to seven years?

MS. THOMPSON:  I'm not able to confirm that offhand.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Would you undertake to provide the cost of the forward year of annual deliveries at Parkway and at Dawn in 2014 and then subsequently again in 2020 from a posted published source?

MR. STEVENS:  Sorry, Dwayne, I'm having difficulty understanding how that information is going to help the Board in terms of -- can I please finish my comment?  In terms of determining an IRP framework for Enbridge Gas.  And the company's evidence has consistently been that it will consider any appropriate supply-side IRP options that exist at the time a constraint is identified.  Knowing what's happened between 2014 and 2020, I don't -- in my view isn't particularly helpful to a framework.  If we were dealing with a particular constraint today, perhaps, but that's not in my view what this framework is aimed at trying to determine.  Instead we're trying to determine an approach that will be taken in the future to assess IRP and to apply IRP principles to determine the best outcome for a particular need or constraint.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you for those comments, Mr. Stevens, but Mr. Gillett was talking about what customers said back in 2014, and I'm talking about what they're saying today.  And so I'm saying it's a significant difference in the market that has been recognized by customers, and so we're asking that information be demonstrated to the Board.  In our presentation I made the point that the cost difference has narrowed to less than half what it was in 2014.  I'm asking for evidence to support that and to demonstrate to the Board the ongoing value of PDO, and we would like the opportunity to be able to demonstrate that.

MR. STEVENS:  Well, at the risk of taking up more of your time than I should, I have two quick comments.  First, the witnesses, I've heard them acknowledge that PDO in appropriate circumstances could be considered as an IRP alternative.  Second, I've also heard discussion about the fact that the actual usefulness of PDO is going to be in front of the Board in the 2022 rates case.  So for both those reasons I'm not sure why the information you're seeking is relevant to the determinations in this case, but I'll leave it at that, and we're in the Board's hands.

MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Quinn, I'm inclined to agree with Mr. Stevens on this.  I'm trying to understand the relevance of cost differentials between 2014 and 2020 to a framework going forward, given, as Mr. Stevens indicated, they have acknowledged that the PDO is an IRPA.  So getting into the details of the costing, I'm trying to understand how that's of any value to the Panel in establishing a framework.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  What we're trying to demonstrate is the evolution in energy markets.  Enbridge is providing evidence of what customers said in 2014.  We don't have evidence on the record of what customers are saying in 2020, but what we do have, what the market provides to us as evidence of what's occurring in the market.  We want to be asking these questions in the technical conference and we were not able to get an answer, because one of the questions we asked was, has Enbridge performed a market solicitation for the records of customers who would be willing to move their deliveries from Dawn back to Parkway in exchange for PDCI.  What we're trying to demonstrate is over time evolutions occur, and if the company is the arbitrator of the dispute whether ideas that stakeholders have will or will not be looked at if the company doesn't agree with them, then we're struggling with how we can demonstrate and make our case to the Board that these alternatives are real market-based solutions that would be helpful to customers.

MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Quinn, this is a framework going forward and as you say, the markets evolve.  So what we see now might be quite different 10 years from now, so I'm still failing to understand the relevance of costs from 2014.

This is not about whether or not these are things Enbridge needs to consider.  It's about how this past cost data is relevant to that framework going forward.  I'm sorry, I'm not following the relevance of that.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Madam Chair, I'll accept that and thank you for your consideration of this.  We will move on as there will be opportunity in our discussions here to enlighten this concern, but we will reserve for now.  Thank you.

Another matter related to alternatives is the solicitation of market-based alternative information.  While this proceeding is bringing heightened visibility to the issue as outlined in the evidence of past proceedings, this request for market based solicitation is not new.

If you can turn up tab 7 in our compendium, please.  I would like to draw your attention to the sites highlighted on page 63.  It reads:
"A number of parties further believe that given the accelerating pace of change in the market, future expansion applications should include evidence reflecting consideration and evaluation, including through consultation with the market open season, or by way of RFP, as, when and if appropriate, of the risks and benefits of permanent or interim non-facility alternatives to facility investment."

So would you agree with me that some stakeholders have been seeking good faith evaluation of market-based non-facility solutions for some time?

MS. THOMPSON:  I believe in one of our responses to undertakings we provided a list of applications that were before the Board, and those applications included the various alternatives that were considered, some of which were market-based and that when we do go through the planning process for facilities, once we compile a forecast from our sources, we will look forward into the future and ensure necessary actions, one of which is conducting new capacity open seasons for our transmission lines.  Another is conducting reverse open season, as well as going through the process of reviewing market conditions and going out to market through IRP where we feel like there could be value.  And then we evaluate that consideration relative to other alternative that are considered.

So I believe the reference to the list of applications is --


MR. QUINN:  JT1.4.

MS. THOMPSON:  Which is on page 22 of the compendium.

MR. QUINN:  In the interests of time, I'm trying to say we will get to JT1.4.  I understand and accept your response, but what we want to do is look at specific projects that are on that list.  So I'm going to try and move us forward by saying -- I'm sorry, Ms. Thompson.  On page 39 and 40 of our compendium, we acknowledge that Enbridge has said it cannot support our concept that we went through.

I need to apologize and step back, Madam Chair.  We are trying to honour the time frames, and I got a little bit constrained this morning.  This panel is important to us, so we will try to make sure that we stay within our overall time frames for panel 1 and panel 2.

But I had wanted to ask about the lunch break, what time you wanted the lunch break, and I'll find an appropriate point to end discussions for now and carry them on forward.

MS. ANDERSON:  According to my stop clock here, you're 37 minutes remaining.  We can go a little past one perhaps.  So do you think you're going to take your full time here?

MR. QUINN:  I know I'm going to take my full time at the pace it's going, and I'm willing to give time back from panel 2 if necessary to complete an effective dialogue, because as I'm trying to get answers from the witnesses, we are spending more time than I'd contemplated.

MS. ANDERSON:  We will take our lunch break at one o'clock, then.

MR. QUINN:  I will find an appropriate place to stop and during the lunch hour, I will endeavour to not only refine my cross, but also decide how much time I'm going to give to panel 2, if that is satisfactory, thank you.


MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Quinn, while you're taking the lunch break and reflecting, we have looked at the transcript from the technical conference and just as we indicated before, a lot of detail about past projects is -- we're not seeing the relevance to the framework going forward.  So if you can reflect on that in asking your questions, that would be very helpful.

MR. QUINN:  I will, Madam Chair.  I trust that the evidence is helpful.  I'm going to bring things that aren't necessarily directly in evidence, but they are part of JT1.4.

I wanted to just touch on our acceptance that timely market data is important, and we accept that as part of what this framework will look like going forward.  But we want to ensure we well understand how this approach has been applied -- or would be applied, more importantly under Enbridge's proposal.

MS. ANDERSON:  I think it's the would be applied that's important, not how it was or was not applied in the past, so if you can focus on that.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  As FRPO has done throughout this discovery process, we have tried to test our ideas.

For the witness panel, would you agree with me that pipelines utilities market companies for them to make a longer term commitment for a requested service it takes longer to submit a bid for a proposal to provide the requested service such as the RFP is requesting?

MR. GILLETT:  Sorry, I'm not sure I quite understand the question.  I would phrase it as if, depending on the complexity of the RFP, increased complexity would mean increased time for a participant to bid, if that's what you're asking.  The more complex the RFP, the longer it would take somebody to reply I suppose is what I think you're asking.

MR. QUINN:  Right, thank you for that.  I was identifying specifically the term.  So the longer the term of the requested service, there is more time needed to make corporate commitments to providing a service over the long-term.

MR. GILLETT:  When I say complexity, I include term in that.  I think what term does is it introduces risk and complexity around future market conditions.  So the longer the term is for a specific service, the more of that market risk and complexity, a party has to price into that and consider for some of the attributes of the service.  So when I said complexity, I also meant things like term, right, just because the further you're looking in the future, the more risk there is, the more things can change, the more complex the analysis is.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  So if we could display tab 8 starting at page 64, please?  As I understand it, Enbridge is soliciting interest in the Dawn Parkway capacity for a minimum 15-year term starting in 2023 or 2024.  Is that correct?

MS. THOMPSON:  Are you referencing in relation to the most recent open season on Dawn Parkway?

MR. QUINN:  Yes, if you scroll down a little further, you'll see the source is your website for your just completed Dawn Parkway open season.

MS. THOMPSON:  Correct.  We recently completed an open season to help inform the next stage planning process for that system.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  So as the title says, it's to express interest and request capacity.  It is binding on the party requesting that capacity, though.  Is that not correct?  That's at the top of the page?  Top of page 64, I'm sorry.  I'll read it.  It says "Enbridge Inc. binding open season Dawn to Parkway M12", so this is binding on the parties who make the bid, correct?

MS. THOMPSON:  Correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So the time allotted between the time it was issued on November 24th and its deadline is almost two months, and of course we respect that this was over a holiday season, but do I have that time frame correct, from November 24th to January 15th?

MS. THOMPSON:  Correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Now, we understand you recognize that for companies to commit to long-term services it takes some time to process this corporately.  So any attempt that Enbridge would undertake to solicit and secure long-term delivery proposals to compare with other IRPAs, including facilities, would likely be sent to the market well in advance with a significant period of time to receive those commitments.

Is that the way you foresee informing the decisions regarding alternatives?

MR. GILLETT:  Sorry, I'm not sure if we can speak to the amount of time a third party requires to respond to an open season.  Like, different companies have different corporate structures, different process.  Some are quite nimble, some are -- require much longer lead times.

I'm not sure, are you asking us to comment on how long a market participant would take to analyze and bid into an open season?

MR. QUINN:  I'm saying that Enbridge allowed two months -- almost two months for companies to express interest in its capacity.  I think the answer you gave before, Mr. Gillett, is sufficient.  The more complexity, including term, the longer time it would take for companies to respond, so I'm going to move on, because I'm conscious of time and not looking too much at the past, but Ms. Thompson referred to JT1.4, which is on page 22 of our compendium, that just shows a list of where supply-side alternatives were considered in the company's opinion for these projects.  In fact, FRPO and other intervenors were advocating for the solicitation of firm deliveries in one of the proceedings, being the Panhandle proceeding, which is 2016-0186, so in reviewing the record of that proceeding to try to find market solicitation, I found the RFP that Union performed for Ojibway.

Could you please display tab 9, page 66 of our compendium.  I'm not sure that that captures all of it right there.  So in answer to a Staff interrogatory about alternatives considered in the last Panhandle project to increase supply, Union provided its request for proposals for firm transportation to Ojibway.  To confirm, firm obligated transportation capacity to Ojibway would be categorized as a supply-side alternative to the project, correct?

MR. GILLETT:  I'm sorry, say that again, Mr. Quinn?  Sorry, could you repeat your question?

MR. QUINN:  I'm just asking you to confirm that firm obligated transport capacity to Ojibway would be categorized as a supply-side alternative to the project; is that correct?

MR. GILLETT:  So you're asking is this RFP an IRPA for the 2016 Panhandle build?

MR. QUINN:  Said differently, I can accept your wording.

MR. GILLETT:  Well, no, I'm not committing to anything.  I would say -- I apologize if I'm not being responsive, but this was done, you know, a number of years ago without an IRP framework.  What this RFP was trying to do was to see if there was any market interest in providing firm deliveries at that point to draw down on the facility's requirement for that specific project.

MR. QUINN:  Right.  Okay --


MR. GILLETT:  So I -- oh, sorry.

MR. QUINN:  I understand.  And all I want to point out, Mr. Gillett -- and I know it's not -- it doesn't have the framework.  What we're looking for is a good-faith solicitation of market opportunities, and comparing it to what Enbridge has provided two months for its customers for long-term commitments, this was sent out on May 26th, with a deadline of May 31st.

Now, if you take it subject to check, that was over the Memorial Day weekend in the U.S., where the pipelines that would feed Ojibway would be coming from, so you have provided potential companies with two business days to respond, and is this the type of market solicitation the Board can expect when Enbridge evaluates supply-side solutions?

MR. GILLETT:  So I would say you need to look at them on case-by-case basis.  So first off I will start with, I was not involved in this process five years ago, so I cannot speak to the specifics.  I think there is a complete record for this proceeding.  In fact, I recall there being quite a bit of evidence around alternatives, including firm deliveries for both pipelines as well as marketers and suppliers, and it was quite an extensive record, so I think this speaks to itself, and it's already been interrogated on the record.

But for the purpose of a framework, what I would say is we've acknowledged that firm transportation could be a potential IRPA on a case-by-case basis, and the case-by-case piece, I think, is critical, and I'll use this as an example.

The open season is a binding process for a 15-year commitment, with a number of counter-parties.  Like, there's quite a few participants that can partake in the open season.  This RFP was for a very specific shorter-term service at a specific point on the system where there isn't many counter-parties.

In fact, if you go back to that proceeding, that was one of the issues we had at the time, was that that is not a liquid trading point.  There's very few parties there.  It's -- you know, the responses that we would get to something like this are from a few parties and relatively simplistic, so when we talk about a case-by-case basis, this is part of what we're talking about, right?  An illiquid trading point with small counter-parties and a small number of services is a much simpler proposition than, you know, a longer-term binding open season.

So I don't think that they're apples to apples, which is why, you know, I would struggle to comment on that, plus, like I said, I think that this was a pretty complete proceeding at that time.

I think what we're acknowledging in the future -- and Ms. Thompson has acknowledged this a few times now -- is that we would RFP for commercial market-based alternatives if it was appropriate for that project, for that need.

MR. QUINN:  This was for long-term firm capacity to Panhandle.  It's right in the document.  But I'm going to move on, because we are running out of time.

MS. THOMPSON:  Mr. Quinn, if I can just confirm in relation to I think what you're trying to get across is that we are able to confirm that the deferral for a facility and the potential market-based alternatives, whether they're shorter-term or longer-term, would be a consideration under the framework that we are proposing.  That being said, one of the important factors is the importance of the market conditions at the time and the terms within the various market alternatives and whether that fits the meaning on a case-by-case basis and whether it serves the value going forward, because we would have to look at all the different considerations; for example, what is the value of that particular service relative to the need, relative to the cost [inaudible] that will be incurred in order to defer, because that holds a value as well.  [audio dropout] a facility out into the future would have implications in terms of materials and construction costs and potential permitting considerations, so it's all part of the same picture of the considerations when we explore the alternatives and put forward a proposal for what we consider to be the best alternative.

MR. QUINN:  Madam Chair, I was going to try to get another question, but with the elaboration I won't have time left.  If you could assist me, I don't have a stop watch.  How much time do I have remaining after our lunch break?

MR. STIERS:  Madam Chair, you're on mute.

MS. ANDERSON:  Well, thank you.  That helps.  I'm sorry, I just took another minute of your time.  So you've done 52 minutes, so that leaves you 23 after the break.

So you're suggesting now is a good time to --


MR. QUINN:  Yes, I'd be going into another area which will take us well past one o'clock, I would think.  And again, I will look at this, but I also look at my -- panel 2.  I can give back some time if necessary to be able to complete this appropriately.  So thank you for the time check, and I'll do my best to [inaudible].

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  Thanks.  So we will take the lunch break, but given we are running a bit behind, I am going to curtail the lunch break to 45 minutes, so if people could come back at 1:45, and we will continue then with Mr. Quinn.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:59 p.m.

--- On resuming at 1:45 p.m.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay, Mr. Quinn, carry on.

MR. QUINN:  Good afternoon.  If we can move to displaying tab 11, please.  We provide FRPO 39, and that started a series of questions in FRPO 40 through 44 to get better information for the Board regarding provisions in peaking service contracts and their efficacy.

But all of the responses refer back to FRPO 39 in which Enbridge states they have not performed an RFP for peaking services in the last five years.  This was confusing to us, because it seemed clear from the Enbridge five-year gas pipeline and the update this year, Enbridge has peaking service in place.

Can we move to page 72 of the compendium, please, table 8.  For 2020, it displace 40 TJs, and if you scroll to page 77, the highlighted section states that Enbridge would be procuring a third party service as preferred strategy.

Can you reconcile for us the answer in FRPO 39 that states you have not procured a peaking service in the last five years with what we're reading here?

MR. GILLETT:  Absolutely.  If you go back to the original IR response, I think the question was around procuring a peaking service to defer an infrastructure build.

MR. QUINN:  Actually, to be clear, we asked about peaking service.  That was our question.

MR. GILLETT:  Could you turn up the IR or the question again, please?  It was just in front of us at one point.  Our understanding of the context of the question was related to IRPAs.  So when we answered the question -- was an RFP performed for peaking service in any of the prior five years -- it was in the context of an IRPA which is to defer infrastructure and the answer was no.

The peaking service you're referring to in the gas supply plan is a peaking service to meet annual -- sorry, peak design days supply needs, which is not an IRPA. So gas supply planning does not do the infrastructure planning.  That's a separate process.  That's a facilities planning.

So the peaking service in the gas supply plan was to meet the design day needs of the Enbridge rate zone.  So it is not to avoid an infrastructure build, which I think is the context of this question.

MR. QUINN:  We didn't put that context to it, but my understanding of this panel is how do we integrate gas supply with the IRP process.  So we are asking questions in the context of that, and peaking services have been and clearly are being used by Enbridge.  So we're asking generically because it goes to reliability.

So we would ask by way of undertaking if you would provide us the answers in relation to FRPO 39 to 44, so we can have the information to help the Board understand our concerns about reliability and the opportunities of supply alternatives to meet demand.

MR. STEVENS:  It's David Stevens speaking.  Are these questions that the witnesses can answer now?  I'm hesitant to provide a lot of homework after this where we don't need to.  For example, I see this question here:  Was an RFP performed for peaking service in any of the 5 years prior?

I hear the difference in interpretation between the question you thought you asked and the question the witnesses thought they answered.  Is this something that can be explored in testimony now?

MR. QUINN:  No.  If you go on to FRPO 40, which we didn't go through all the IRs because they were all refused, and it just says the same thing.

We asked for the contracts; we asked very specific questions about that.  If you can turn up the IRs in general, we can take a look at it.  But this again is a time challenge for us that I didn't anticipate.

MR. STEVENS:  I appreciate that, Mr. Quinn.  I'm trying to see if there is a way that information that's useful to the development of the framework can be obtained from these witnesses.  Without having looked at those questions, I anticipate that they were asking for details of particular supply arrangements entered into in past years.

With respect, I repeat the position that I indicated earlier as to what I see is the limited helpfulness of specifics of past supply practices.

MR. QUINN:  In the technical conference, we separated that, Mr. Stevens.  This is generically trying to look at financial assurances and matters like that that the company puts into its third party contracts to be able to have an assurance and meet the criteria, the guiding principal for reliability.  Without that information, it's hard for us to inform the Board and give examples to the Board which are helpful in the development of the framework.

MR. STEVENS:  If it's important to get the answer to the next questions, I suggest we bring them up and talk about them one by one.

MR. GILLETT:  I want to clarify again, the previous peaking services were not IRPAs.  And that's why we answered the question the way we did.  Those peaking services were not IRPAs.  We have not RFP'd for peaking services as IRPAs in the past.

MR. QUINN:  I'm going to get to some of the detail.  But Mr. Stevens wants to us walk through FRPO 40.  You have your IRs as the company --


MR. STEVENS:  To be clear, Mr. Quinn, there is nothing I want to do or don't want to do.  But in order to give you position on other questions, we need to bring them up and talk about them specifically.

MR. QUINN:  Can Enbridge display FRPO 40 from its package, please?  It's not in my compendium.  We asked for you to provide the copies of requests for expression of interest sent out by EGI in the most recent request for providing this service, which is the peaking service.  That's something that can't be answered by the panel.

Would you agree with that, Mr. Stevens?

MR. STEVENS:  I would agree with that and I would repeat my position, Mr. Quinn.  This level of detail, I don't understand it to be relevant in terms of asking about specifics of gas supply arrangements that, according to Mr. Gillett, aren't properly thought of as IRPAs.  So we would maintain our position we don't believe this is relevant.  But of course as always, I'm in the Board's hands.

MR. QUINN:  Madam Chair, I appreciate this is taking more time.  We are trying to provide to the Board an understanding of supply site services as they have been demonstrated by the company in the past.  There are reliability provisions in these contracts.  The witnesses have made assertions about the importance of reliability.  We want to be able to test what they have done in the past, and we want to be able to demonstrate to the Board with information the company clearly has that these contracts can assist the company with supply site alternative that may or may not have been part of an IRP in the past, because it sounds like it's segmented in their minds to gas supply.  But it actually goes to peak day demand, which is about -- which is what IRP is about.

So we would ask if we could have those undertakings provided, and if, in our submissions, if there is anything we take out of those -- this undertaking the IR responses that isn't helpful to the Board, Enbridge can make that point in its argument.

MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Quinn, you're asking for very specific documents which I've been assuming Enbridge is going to ask for confidentiality treatment for.  It looks like they're contract-related and they are for purposes other than for IRPA.

So I understand that we want to understand the interplay on gas supply planning and IRPA.  But the details of specific past contracts, I'm sorry, I'm not seeing the relevance of that to the framework going forward.  Just because it was in a past contract for other purposes doesn't mean that it's relevant going forward, but I'm also not saying that there can't be relevance going forward.

So again, this level of detail from the past just doesn't seem relevant in developing the framework.  Shouldn't stop people from arguing that the supply-side alternatives should appropriately be added to the whole framework, but, I'm sorry, I'm not understanding why the details of these past arrangements are going to be relevant to the framework.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  And one short reply to that.  Enbridge has made statements about the importance of the guiding principle of reliability.  Enbridge has a history of developing reliable services to provide peak-day needs, which is IRP, through its gas supply process.  This is an example of that need.

And I can take you further in our compendium where Enbridge speaks to the issue of reliability, and we're trying to demonstrate to the Board reliability can be established by appropriate parameters in the contract.  We are satisfied that if they're confidential they would be redacted, and we're not using anything of commercial interest, only the provisions in the contract which provide utility confidence to establish a third-party service as a supply alternative.  That's the means that we're looking for from these requests.

MS. ANDERSON:  But I'm not seeing -- is Enbridge denying that these approaches can be taken as far as IRPA going forward?

MR. QUINN:  I'll turn that to Enbridge.

MR. GILLETT:  No, we're not, Madam Chair.  What we're saying is that peaking services -- actually, more broadly, commercial market-based services can and should be assessed as potential IRPAs.  The use of peaking services in the gas supply context was not being used as an IRPA.

So Mr. Quinn had just said that IRP is about design day.  I think IRPA is about deferring infrastructure, and these peaking services were not to defer infrastructure.  They were an alternative to firm transportation contracts, not infrastructure.  So we're acknowledging they have a use in the future, but just in the past that's not what they were used for, and so whatever commercial terms were under those peaking service in the past was meant as a supply mechanism, not as IRPA.  And so we would have to look at it as a case-by-case in the future, because it's for a different purpose.

MR. QUINN:  And -- sorry, Madam Chair.

MS. ANDERSON:  So I'm hearing Mr. Gillett say that they're acknowledging that these arrangements may have use in the future, but these previous contracts are not relevant to that future purpose, so I'm still -- again, I'm not going to jump through what would be a fair amount of administrative hoops with redactions and confidential filings which are, you know, significantly administrative for something that's from the past, which he is indicating that they would look at these arrangements going forward.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I'm going to try the question this way.  Can Enbridge provide a list of the provisions in its third-party contracts which go to establishing reliability which allows the company to rely on the third-party service?

MR. GILLETT:  I'll maybe just continue the answer and then pass over to Ms. Thompson if she has anything to add.  I would say because we have not used these peaking services specifically for IRPA in the past, we would have to make sure that however it is constructed commercially is appropriate.  So again, what we've done from a gas supply perspective may or may not be everything we need to do in the future.  Like, that's what we need to do as part of this, is to understand, how do we construct these commercial arrangements so that they are appropriate to defer infrastructure, versus as an alternative to firm transportation, which is what they were used for in the past.

MR. QUINN:  So as a replacement for infrastructure, is it not true that the peaking service was going to be phased out if Dawn Parkway capacity was built?

MR. GILLETT:  The -- not necessarily, no.  The peaking service -- sorry, the peaking service was going to be eliminated by implement -- or by putting a firm transportation service in its place.  Infrastructure build or no infrastructure build, so long as there is firm transportation, that's what we were replacing the peaking service with, and it was outlined in our original five-year gas supply plan.  The context behind it, the rationale behind it, is all outlined in there, because again, it's a gas supply construct.

MR. QUINN:  Madam Chair, I understand and respect that the witnesses are putting this in a box, and we are saying this framework is about opening the box and seeing what parts fit in in IRP and what parts fit in the gas supply box and which fit into both, but for the purposes of moving on and respecting your time and everybody else's, we will make our submissions and we'll try to establish clarity with contracts that are available to the public eye, and we will just have to do some research to figure that out, but I will move on.

If we can move further down in the compendium to page 77, please -- sorry, skipped over.  It is page 74.  So reading the highlighted section:

"However, Enbridge's RFP process for procuring..."

Sorry, I'm going to read the first sentence in that, because it's helpful in getting context.

"Peaking is a somewhat reliable option, albeit not the most reliable available.  However, Enbridge's RFP process for procuring peaking stipulates the need to demonstrate that the service is underpinned by firm transportation, which limits reliability risks."

Stopping there, this is the type of condition we are looking for to be demonstrated in the contracts.  You would have this, Mr. Gillett, in your third-party contracts, would you?

MR. GILLETT:  And I try not to come across as obstructionist here, Mr. Quinn, but this was for gas supply planning as an alternative to firm transportation contracts, not to defer an infrastructure build.  And I think that that's key here, because what we're talking about when we're talking about deferring infrastructures, we're talking about operational reliability, right?  How is the pipeline going to underpin its commitments to its customers?  So when an IRP is analyzed, there's going to be a set of requirements that are needed for that very much operational need.  What we're talking about here is, this is gas supply, so what we are looking here at, when we look at peaking services, is we say, do we want to contract for firm transportation, which is a year-round cost, or can we take a peaking service, which may be cheaper than that firm transportation?  That's the balance that we're finding in here.  And so when we're looking at reliability, when we're looking at cost, it's up against other firm transportation services.  Again, it's not to defer infrastructure.

So I'm trying to convey the gas-supply planning piece is different than what we're talking about for an IRP.  Again, we acknowledge peaking services could be a potential IRPA, but that's a different purpose than an alternative to firm service on a pipeline.

MR. QUINN:  I accept that it's a firm service.  I was just asking if you -- and it's clear here, we have the evidence that you underpin in the firm transportation, so I'm going to ask, for comparison purposes, does Enbridge require that obligated deliveries to Parkway that receive PDCI demonstrate that they are underpinned by firm transport?

MR. GILLETT:  Sorry, just, you're asking, do we require that direct purchase customers who deliver their PDO that they are underpinned by firm transportation?

MR. QUINN:  Correct.

MR. GILLETT:  The answer is, no, we do not.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So this is where we come to the nexus of gas supply planning and facilities planning to meet design-day demand, but I'm going to move forward, because I see the clock is already ticking, and I respect the Board's time.

So as we've laid out in our presentation and in this discussion, FRPO believes in the importance of the Board's oversight -- excuse me, sorry, the Board's oversight in terms of the listing, evaluation, and approval of IRPAs and have tried to emphasize that Ontario already has, in our view, a best practice in Parkway delivery obligation.

In the last part of my enquiry of this panel, I'm going to try to use a very recent example of which we've recently become aware of to demonstrate how these components come together.

Can you please turn up tab 12 in our compendium, please.  This is a recent application filed three months ago requesting approval and replacement of two kilometres of NPS 26-inch pipe in the Dawn Parkway system at a cost of 9 million dollars.

On page 79, Enbridge lays out the alternatives considered, being replaced with a bigger size and replace in the current location.  We note that not replacing and using an IRPA was not included.  Given we only became aware of this application through the technical conference for the 2021 rates proceeding, by way of letter to Enbridge's counsel last Thursday, we asked about the equivalent amount of Dawn Parkway capacity this short piece of pipe would represent.

We received a reply on Friday that the figure -- the number requested would not be provided because Enbridge does not believe this project is an appropriate candidate for IRP.

Did I summarize our communication effectively, Mr. Stevens?

MR. STEVENS:  To my recollection, I think that's accurate, Mr. Quinn.

MR. QUINN:  In the response from Mr. Stevens, we were not made aware of the company's proposal to add a binary screening condition, which would have been helpful to know.  However, out of concerns about that proposal and would like to use Branchton project to demonstrate the difference in our views and the proposal by the company.  Given the lack of information available, we can only theorize that in comparing the cost of this project, which was estimated to be a capital cost of 9 million dollars and stopping there, by Enbridge's adoption or proposal of a binary screening condition, this 9 million dollar project would not be looked at for IRP.  Is that correct?

MS. THOMPSON:  Based on the criteria, it would not be looked at for IRP.  However, I think there are other important considerations to make in relation to this project which highlight some of the other principles that we've discussed during this proceeding around why there could be certain circumstances where projects would not be a good fit.

And for this particular instance, the driver behind this project was a change in cost location and one of the important parts to consider is that this is a 2 kilometre segment within the Dawn Parkway system which extends 229 kilometers.  So it is considered to be a very short segment, and that eliminating this pipeline would pose other issues, including operational concerns in relation to security of supply for the city of Guelph as well as further operational concerns as to how we would inspect this pipeline.

So it would mean there could be, and would be other costs that would have to be incurred in relation to installing an additional long-term receiver and when it came to inline inspecting the pipeline, the operation would be such that we would now have two segments to inline inspect.

So there would be the additional costs.  There would be the risk to security of supply for a part of our system and considering that this is part of the backbone of the system, we also don't want to introduce a bottleneck within the system itself.

So those would be further considerations around why this would not be a fit which is outside of the point that you mentioned.

MR. QUINN:  It may be outside and we'll go through the detail if and when the proceeding commences.  But I want to take you back to JT2.11 from earlier today.  I don't have it in my compendium, but it was what you went through with Mr. Brophy this morning.  If you look to the response, it's above on page 1 of that response.

And in the second paragraph in the last line:
"The company does not believe that RFP will be appropriate for smaller-scale pipeline projects of less than 10 million dollars, as the cost savings that would result from downsizing pipeline size would not be significant enough in support of IRP alternatives."


In this case, we are not talking about a downsizing; we're talking about potential elimination.

Does your downsizing criteria come from the expectation that the incremental costs of bigger pipe is not significant?  Is that where this criteria comes from?

MS. McCOWAN:  That's part of it.  Our thinking is for the smaller pipe, the amount that you might be able to downsize the pipe by for the project wouldn't have a significant cost related to the project, but you would still incur the cost of the IRPA.

So looking at the economics, we're not thinking those smaller projects would prove to be economic.

MR. QUINN:  I understand, and the assumption again is that the pipe would be downsized, not eliminated.  And we won't go through the specifics of Branchton until we have an opportunity in the proceeding.

But our concern is that by using a 10 million dollar cut off, could we be eliminating potential pilot projects that may be economic?

MS. McCOWAN:  It's conceivable.  We did try to put in a workable number so there are -- to an earlier point we were trying to make, there are quite a lot of projects within the asset management plan and our thinking is some of the smaller ones we might not be able to create workable IRPAs.  So we were trying to focus our energies on the larger ones.

MS. THOMPSON:  Mr. Quinn, I should have clarified.  I mentioned the bottleneck point in relation to downsizing as an alternative.  So the intent of having greater than 10 million dollars for the threshold is to identify replacement and relocation projects that are larger in nature where we could further explore the value of the application of IRPA, whereas for smaller segments such as this one, it typically would introduce a bottleneck within the system which is a concern from an operations perspective.

MR. QUINN:  I won't bring the Board into a discussion of the limited operational concerns that might create.  But I am asking the question in the context of the early elimination of binary screening of projects of this scale like Branchton, would Enbridge agree that there could be merit in looking at a smaller project as a pilot project to demonstrate efficacy to the Board.

MS. McCOWAN:  I think we've put forward our best thoughts on what sort of a dividing line is appropriate.  Obviously, if the Board feels differently, that will be our guide.  But this has been our approach.

MS. THOMPSON:  In relation to this project, this would not be our recommendation due to the concerns mentioned.

MR. QUINN:  We will have great opportunity to explore that later.  Madam Chair, I appreciate the indulgence of time.  We didn't get the information we hoped to assist the Board, as well as the -- I will meet our commitment and reduce our time estimate for panel 2.  Thank you for the extra time and those are my questions for today.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Mr. Quinn.  Mr. Poch, I believe you are next.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Poch:


MR. POCH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Perhaps we can start by getting exhibit number 4 of the compendium for GEC.  This is for all panels.  Do you have me?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  I'm sorry, it was my fault Mr. Poch.  I was fumbling to find the mute button.  The exhibit number is K1.4, and that's for your compendium.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.4:  GEC COMPENDIUM

MR. POCH:  Thank you.  I want to start with a couple of questions about the long-term demand forecast --

THE REPORTER:  Mr. Poch, I'm sorry, it's the reporter speaking.  Can I get you to speak a little louder for me, please, or turn up your mic?

MR. POCH:  I will adjust my mic too.

THE REPORTER:  And start again.

MR. POCH:  I will do that.  Is that better?

THE REPORTER:  Yes.  Thank you.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  So I just want to have a -- start with a few questions on long-term demand forecast.  We understand you'll be getting a ten-year forecast underlining that the A&P, which will be ten years, and I heard discussion that there would also potentially be a 20-year forecast; is that correct?

MS. THOMPSON:  A 20-year growth forecast informs the ten-year asset horizon.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  So there will be a 20-year demand forecast, and you would only be looking at the asset response in terms of what you needed assets for the first ten years of that?  Correct?

MS. THOMPSON:  The 20-year growth forecast informed the ten-year horizon project, so if we think about that ten-year, that the tenth year that the constraint identified in the tenth year would have the growth horizon for the ten additional years, as well as any further considerations that would be made to scope the projects within the years 1 to 10.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  Mr. Shepherd -- this was, just for the record, was at day one of the technical conference at page 89 and following -- asked when we could see and potentially challenge that forecast, and the response was when it would be relevant to a proceeding.  Obviously a distinction being made, this is a framework.  We don't need to settle the forecast today.

Is there going to be such an opportunity to examine, challenge that forecast before you first come forward with either an IFPA or screen out an IFPA?

MS. THOMPSON:  The forecast that would identify the respective constraint will come forward when we submit the corresponding application --


MR. POCH:  Okay.  So if you're screening out IFPAs, either in your binary preliminary steps or in your DCF three-stage analysis, the [audio dropout] then would not occur until you get to either a leave to construct or an application for rate-basing, correct?

MS. McCOWAN:  I think you would see the need identified in the asset plan, or the asset management plan, much earlier than that.  You would see it ten years out.

MR. POCH:  I understand, but I thought I took the answer I just got that we couldn't -- we wouldn't have an opportunity to examine the demand forecast in detail and ask questions about it and perhaps focus in on a region until there was an application before the Board, and that might not be where you projected IFPAs either at the first or second step -- stage -- step, rather.  That might not be until there is a leave to construct or rate-basing, correct?

MS. McCOWAN:  I believe that's correct.  I would look to Mr. Stiers for confirmation.

MR. STIERS:  That's fair, Mr. Poch.  And just to clarify, I think the transcripts from the technical conference may have referenced IFPA as an acronym, where in this proceeding we're referring to all of them as IRPAs.

MR. POCH:  We'll take that under change, and I thank you.

Now, you've been very careful in your application to say that you don't want the Board to cast this framework or create a framework that requires duplication of processes or applications.  Really, will that be a concern?  If we get to a stage where, let's say you have an IFPA application or some adjudicative step if we're persuasive to the Board that there should be such possibilities where there is a concern, will we then be permitted to, in Enbridge's view, challenge that demand forecast, or is that something you want to carve away to a different process, for example the gas planning process?

MR. STIERS:  Are you asking, just to paraphrase back, whether or not the IRPA application is the appropriate place to challenge the demand forecast?

MR. POCH:  Yes.

MR. STIERS:  I would say that's --


MR. POCH:  My concern is we find ourselves sometimes never in the right hearing room, so I just --


MR. STIERS:  Sure.  I appreciate your perspective.  I think that what we're proposing in general is that the IRPA application process would very much mimic the leave-to-construct process.  So to the extent that the underlying forecast is part of the -- or is determined by the Board to be within the scope of facility-related proceedings, then underlying forecasts would potentially be within the scope of IRPA proceedings.

MR. POCH:  All right.  Let's leave that there.

In -- if you can turn up JT1.4, which is at page 3 of our compendium.  Despite the wording, which refers to data ten years out, the -- I think the -- from the transcript of day one, page 111, what we were asking for here is historically how your forecasts five or ten years out have compared to reality.  And your response, perhaps because of the wording of -- the particular wording of the transcript to the undertaking, basically in response, you say you don't have such things.  I think there has been a miscommunication here.  I can't believe you don't have forecasts on record from the various companies five years and ten years ago that we could compare to reality.

Can you get a further response to the transcript undertaking to update that with whatever data you have and a comparison so we can see?  The concern here is the accuracy -- historically the accuracy of forecasts made in different years five or ten years later.

MR. STEVENS:  Sorry, Mr. Poch, I believe that Enbridge did do, because I was involved in asking some questions about this, did do investigation into trying to find the type of information you're looking for.  Specifically, we understood you to be asking what did the ten-year forecast for 2020 -- what did the forecast for 2020 look like in 2010.  Is that the type of information you were looking for?

MR. POCH:  Exactly --


MR. STEVENS:  And I'll ask the witnesses to confirm -- I'll ask the witnesses to confirm --


THE REPORTER:  I'm sorry, sorry, overtalking.  I didn't hear anyone.

MR. STEVENS:  Go ahead, Mr. Poch.

MR. POCH:  Just, I guess my question is, are you telling me that there were no long-term forecasts that are available now from Union or Enbridge, Consumers Gas, whatever it was, from ten years ago, from five years ago?

MR. STEVENS:  I'll ask the witnesses to confirm.  My understanding is that the information is not in a format that we can find and use.  Take for example ten years out to 2020.  Somebody would need to go back and find files that existed in 2010.  It's not as easy an exercise as it might seem as it rolls off the tongue.  And then additionally, one has to consider that we're talking about two legacy utilities.  So then if we're looking at 2018, ten years out is 2008, and so on and so forth.

So I believe some investigation was done, and that's resulted in the answer you can see here, but I'll leave it to the witnesses to confirm, because of course it's not my place to give evidence.

MS. McCOWAN:  Yes, I can confirm that, and I'll acknowledge that this is not my subject area of expertise, but I did speak with a number of people involved in gas supply and demand forecasting, and we were unable to come up with something that, as I understand it, would meet your need, and exactly how you just described it is what I understood you to want, was what did 2020 look like in 2015 and how close are we now, and we could not find anything to meet that need.

MR. POCH:  So do I take it from that that you have no idea of how accurate your long-term forecasts are, what the risk is associated with those forecasts being in error?  You have not done that analysis?

MS. McCOWAN:  Not in the detail that I think you would need to really understand that accuracy.

MS. THOMPSON:  However, if I can just add to Ms. McCowan's statement that our overarching planning processes do attempt to address and mitigate the risk that comes along with forecasting in general, and that's through the use of best available information in time as well as the annual update of the respective forecasts that go into the needs identification process, as well as how we go about scoping the individual projects to ensure that we're taking longer term into consideration, but scoping projects to meet up to 10 years of growth.

MR. POCH:  I'm not sure how that responds to my question.  I think what you're telling me is you simply have no analysis of what your forecast error has been historically?

MS. McCOWAN:  I think the nuance that perhaps Mr. Stevens was trying to help us with is that what we can't be confident about is the methodologies that underpinned forecasting in the past.  So having come together with the two legacy companies, we haven't been able to identify something that would provide this information in a consolidated form.

MR. POCH:  I'm sorry to keep whipping this horse, but it sounds to me like you're saying there is data out there and you're unhappy with combining the Union and Consumers or Enbridge data, or you're a little nervous about the quality of that data.

Am I hearing you right, or are you saying there is no data that you can retrieve that would help us here?

MS. McCOWAN:  No.  I think it's the former.  It's making sure that anything that we were to provide would be something that we would understand sufficiently, that we could defend the differences that might be there in terms of accuracy.

Anticipating there would be questions about the accuracy, we're just trying to make sure we don't provide something that then enters us into another group of questions we're unable to answer.

MR. POCH:  I'm told there was an Ontario First Nations policing agreement which provided yearend forecasts from 2010 to 2019.  Can you confirm and indicate how did you develop those comparisons?

MS. McCOWAN:  I would not be able to provide that answer.

MR. STEVENS:  Mr. Poch, if I may?  Are you asking now just about one year in advance forecast as opposed to five or 10 years in advance?

MR. POCH:  No, I'm told -- let me look it up.  I think if we pull up OSEA 10, it will help us here.  I believe there was data, if you can scroll down further.  Here's an example you provided some information -- 10 years in advance of nine years, 10 years in advance.

MS. McCOWAN:  My understanding -- my understanding of this information is what you're looking at is the one year out forecast.  So the 2011 forecast was provided in 2010, the 2012 in 2011.

MR. POCH:  Right.  Okay.  Well, I think I have my answer.  If I'm not mistaken, you're agreeing you don't have any basis to inform the Board about the accuracy or inaccuracy of your demand forecast five or 10 years out?  Nothing you feel confident in providing the Board that would help them understand what the risk is, and this all goes to the need for scenario analysis or otherwise quantifying risk.  So I'm --


MS. THOMPSON:  Can you hear me?  That's where I was going with the forecasting methodology I mentioned, in that we have the consideration of the various inputs that we consider best available.  We draw information from a wide number of sources and then we do the regular updates to account for any variations that may have taken place relative to the previous year, and that we look long-term but we also consider the design range in order to make sure that we're timing the needs as close as possible to when the constraint is anticipated to occur.

MR. POCH:  Let's skip ahead to Exhibit IG 731 on page five of our compendium then.  In the second paragraph of the response, you indicate you don't intend to report on any alternatives that have been screened out as part of your proposed screening process.  And I think you were talking about pre-screening binary screening process.

I take it, though, that the AMP will list the facilities projects you see going ahead.  So in that sense, the facilities alternative will be displayed in the AMP where you've screened out IRPAs, correct?

MS. McCOWAN:  That's correct.

MR. POCH:  If we can turn -- this is not in my compendium, I apologize -- to JT1.11, is that possible to pull that up?  Do I understand correctly this is the current expectation of how the AMP will report on such projects?

MS. McCOWAN:  Yes, we're expecting that this would be a summary table that would be provided within the body of the asset management plan, and then attached as -- perhaps you're aware that currently, the details of projects are attached within the appendix to the asset management plan and our expectation is that the analysis that went into the various stages of either excluding a facility -- sorry, excluding a project from IRP consideration or including it and then going through the various stages of the analysis would also be included through the appendices of the asset management plan.

MR. POCH:  Can I assume if a project has been screened out, say, in your binary screening process because you find that the need date is perhaps five years out and you've looked at the extent of need, and you've looked at your demand from your main forecast for extent of need, and you've looked at how fast you think you can ramp up energy efficiency, you screen it out because you say you won't be able to achieve reliability, how is that -- what do you learn about that in the AMP?  Are we going to see a facilities project listed and it's going to say IFPA screened out because of reliability full stop?

MS. McCOWAN:  No, that's --


MR. POCH:  Are we going to --


MS. McCOWAN:  That's not our intention.  Our intention is to provide enough information that stakeholders would be able to participate effectively in the stakeholder days we have now proposed.

MR. POCH:  Madam Chair, I think the rest of the questions I have are about the process and I can save those for panel 2 and I can cede the rest of my time if there is any.

MS. ANDERSON:  There wasn't any extra time.  I was just about to flag that.  Thank you.  I believe, Mr. Shepherd, you are next.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I don't see me on the screen.  Can you see me and hear me?

MS. ANDERSON:  We can.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I know some of you, but I don't think I know all of you.  Madam Chair, I have 45 minutes.  The cross I prepared looks like it should be 20 minutes, but things have been taking a lot longer.  So I don't know whether I'm going to give you back some time, but I'm hopeful.

This cross, it has as its emphasis the integrated part of integrated resource planning, and what I want to explore is the various types of planning and forecasting that you do and how they fit together, in part how they fit together after the merger, but also how they fit together generally, so I want to start with the two types of forecasting, because you do two types of forecasting at EGI, right?  The economic forecasting and then demand load and customer forecasting; is that correct?  I don't hear anybody.

MR. STIERS:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So let's start with economic forecasting.  When I say "economic", I'm talking about GDP, inflation, interest rates, labour market trends, the competitive -- the prices of competitive energy options, et cetera, all that sort of economic forecasting.

Can you tell us who does it and where do they do it?

MR. STIERS:  I'm sorry, no, we don't have a specialist on the economic forecasting on the panel with us today.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you don't know who does economic forecasting at Enbridge?

MR. STIERS:  I'm sorry, why is the name of the individual relevant?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm not asking for the name, I'm asking for what group is it in.  How does it fit within the organization?

MR. STIERS:  Sure, sure.  So many groups within the organization would contribute to that.  One of the principal groups or departments that completes or contributes to that forecasting, Mr. Shepherd, is our finance department.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that's also mostly done in Calgary, right?  I seem to recall that in your various NRCan reporting that you were paying Calgary to do your economic forecasting; is that right?

MR. STIERS:  Most of the people that I've worked with that have contributed in regulatory proceedings and to responses in this proceeding are not based in Calgary.  They are based in Chatham or Toronto.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And do you know what time period your economic forecasts are?  Are they five-year forecasts, ten-year, 20-year?  Do you have any idea?

MR. STIERS:  Again, I don't -- I don't -- I'm not in a position to describe all the various forecasts that we complete on an economic basis annually, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Can you undertake to advise what time periods you do your economic forecasting?

MR. STEVENS:  Is there a specific type of economic forecasting you have in mind, Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I gave you a list.

MR. STEVENS:  Can you repeat that just so that we have it for the undertaking?

MR. SHEPHERD:  GDP, inflation, interest rates, labour market trends, and market prices of competitive energy options.

MR. MILLAR:  We will call that J1.6.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.6:  TO ADVISE WHAT TIME PERIODS ENBRIDGE DOES ECONOMIC FORECASTING OF GDP, INFLATION, INTEREST RATES, LABOUR MARKET TRENDS, AND MARKET PRICES OF COMPETITIVE ENERGY OPTIONS.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then I want to turn to the other type of forecasting, which you've already just talked about with Mr. Poch, and that is the demand forecasting.  You're forecasting demand, peak demand, and customer growth, right?

MS. THOMPSON:  So we have peak hourly demand, peak daily demand, which feed into the facilities planning, there is annual demand, and there is customer growth, that serve different purposes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And so where does that take place in the organization?  Where does that forecasting happen in the organization?  It's not any of you, right?

MS. THOMPSON:  I'm just going to ask for a breakout room, just because it spans a number of areas, just to be coordinated in our response.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  It seems like a pretty simple question, but okay.  That's up to you.

MS. ANDERSON:  Ms. Walter, are you able to do that?

MS. WALTER:  Yes, the rooms are open.

[Witness panel confers]


MR. GILLETT:  Okay.  Thank you for your patience there, Mr. Shepherd.  So it was a -- you're right that it was a seemingly simple question with a less simple answer.  So you're hitting on it earlier that there's different stages to it, so when you say who is doing demand forecasting, how it works is we have a finance group
that --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.  Can I just stop you for a second, please?

MR. GILLETT:  Yeah, please.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I can't see the witnesses on the screen.  I wonder if it's possible to get rid of the exhibits which I'm not using so that I can see the people who are answering my questions.

Thank you.  Sorry.  Go ahead.

MR. GILLETT:  Yeah, so the finance group will forecast the macroeconomic pieces that you were talking about earlier.  There's another team within our customer-care group that will then take some of that data, as well as other sort of province-specific data and forecast customer growth and attachments.  Those pieces of information are sort of put together and handed off to a number of teams to do forecasting, and I think the difficulty is that that word means a few different things.

So the transmission planning group will use forecasting that data to underpin their forecasting for the transmission system, the distribution planning group will use it to do forecasting on the distribution side, and gas supply will do demand forecasting for peak-day supply needs at a more aggregate level.

So the difficulty we had and why we had to kind of get our heads straight around the question was because forecasting is done by a number of different groups for different purposes, but it does -- it flows in that sort of -- that direction I was trying to describe.  And then you have on the panel some of the folks from the groups that do specific forecasting for those specific needs, transmission, distribution, and gas supply.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So let me just clarify.  You don't have -- your separate groups independently forecast what demand will be?

MR. GILLETT:  No.  What --


MR. SHEPHERD:  That doesn't sound right to me, so that was why I'm asking.

MR. GILLETT:  But remember, demand has different purposes for different things, right?  So you look at a transmission system that looks at daily demand for that specific transmission system.  They don't need to know what demand in Sudbury looks like, right?  They need to look at very specific demands for the transmission system.  Distribution uses on a peak hourly basis to forecast demands on a very granular distribution system level.

Gas supply, we aggregate it because we're delivering supply to different delivery areas on a very aggregated level.  So the data that we use, the underpinning growth forecast for customers, those are all the same, it comes from one centralized group.  But the different planning groups have to then use that data and map it to their specific accountabilities.

So I would say no, it's not a disconnected everyone doing their own thing.  But you have to understand that as the process proceeds, each group needs to take that data and apply it to their specific accountability.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Aren't the forecasts of peak daily demand and peak hourly demand and overall throughput -- aren't these forecasts related to each other?

MR. GILLETT:  Maybe I'll let Ms. Thompson and Mr. Clark answer.

MR. CLARK:  Yeah, they are, and they roll up through.  As Mr. Gillett was trying to explain there, we use our customer addition growth forecast, layer on the distribution model along with our current loads, as well as our known short-term adds, customer request contracts, and so forth, model our system which rolls out to transmission, and thus in turn to gas supply.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I think I heard you tell Mr. Poch you have a 20-year forecast, right?  A demand forecast?

MR. CLARK:  We work on a 10-year, but we try to maintain a demand forecast which is past that, to ensure that those projects that we're working on or identifying a need for in year 10 are appropriately sized, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  As I understood it, you said so what we have is a 20-year forecast, but we only use the first 10 years for -- we use the 20-year forecast to support a 10-year facilities plan?

MR. CLARK:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that 20-year forecast on the record?

MR. CLARK:  I don't believe it is except -- no, I don't believe it is, except for specific relation to LTC filings that have occurred in the past.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm going to ask you to undertake to provide that.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  Just before I accept that undertaking, I want to confirm with the witnesses that this is something that exists as a collected or compiled document, or something that can be produced.

MS. THOMPSON:  I think what would be helpful is to understand if there is a specific aspect of the forecast.  And the reason why I ask is because we submit the forecast information with leave to constructs in order to reflect the specific need that's driving that part of the system or that project, because it's going to show up differently in relation to different parts of the system and that's the complicated side.

But if you're looking for customer forecasts that are broader in nature that reflect the broad geographic area, that is a different type of ask.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you told Mr. Poch -- you collectively told Mr. Poch you have a 20-year forecast, and he asked when are we going to see it.  And I'm asking that you undertake to file that document.  It's a document, right?

MS. THOMPSON:  It's a number of inputs.  This is where there is a degree of complexity with it because the -- there is customer information and specific hourly load information and contract information that's all aggregated and then imported into the hydraulic models we use.

So I want to make sure we're clear on the specific ask to make it meaningful because of how the forecast would show up in different parts of the system, which is why we provide it either relative to customer growth aggregated in nature or in relation to a specific constraint we're looking to address.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm not asking about specific constraints right now.  I'm going to get to your location specific stuff, but right now I'm asking about the overall load forecast which you said you have and --


MR. STEVENS:  To be clear, Mr. Shepherd, what you're asking for is sort of what I'm hearing the demand forecast would roll up into, a top line year by year demand forecast for 20 years rather than 10 years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  Is that something that exists, witnesses?  Again on an overall system level, as I understand it.

MS. THOMPSON:  We can take away how to explore providing some information.  We have to talk between the functions on how we would collect that information and share it.

MR. STEVENS:  My understanding, to be clear, Mr. Shepherd, is what we would be providing is the company's 20-year demand forecast system-wide demand forecast.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's correct.  I understand you have a comprehensive enterprise resource planning system, right?  ERP; you have it, right?

MS. McCOWAN:  We do not have it integrated across the two legacy companies.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have one for each?

MS. McCOWAN:  Depending how much you regard as an enterprise resource system, because financial systems are separate.  The work and asset management system, they're separate all of that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.

MR. MILLAR:  I propose to mark the undertaking, if you're moving on to another area.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I was going to try to nail down the undertaking.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, carry on then.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you please provide the 20-year demand forecast and can you please in the demand forecast, if you have uncertainty bands around your forecast -- normally when you do a long-term forecast, you have uncertainty bands -- can you please include that?

MR. STEVENS:  Yes, we can do that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's J1.7.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.7:  TO PROVIDE THE 20-YEAR DEMAND FORECAST, AND TO INCLUDE UNCERTAINTY BANDS


MR. SHEPHERD:  And when you do this -- this is taking longer than I expected, so I'm going to cut to the chase on a couple thins.

One of the keys to this sort of forecast is gas prices, right?  Price of natural gas?  Yes?  Did somebody say yes?

MR. STIERS:  Yes, I did.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  Also things like competition in the market, how it's affected by electricity prices, how it's affected by government policy, those sorts of thins are all included in your forecast, correct?

MR. STIERS:  I'll defer to others, but I can't definitively list out all the component pieces within the forecast.  But there are -- some of the component pieces you listed sound reasonable, subject to check.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  In answering the undertaking, if it turns out some things are not included, presumably you'll tell us.  You also have -- as part of this process, you have location specific forecasts and customer class specific forecasts, is that right?

MR. CLARK:  Yes, on the distribution system, we have location specific -- location specific demands on the system, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then you use that in fact for facilities planning?

MR. CLARK:  We use that for hydraulic modeling which then influences needs that get into facilities planning.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do I understand correctly that just like your economic forecasting, your demand forecasting is not active?  It's not forecasting -- it's not planning what you can do to affect demand, it is simply looking at what's happening out there and determining what you think is going to happen in the future?  It's passive rather than active?  Is that right?  That's not a pejorative, by the way.

MR. CLARK:  It's based on a combination of historical actuals trending forward, as well as a recent ask by the municipality customers within that region.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you don't try to influence it in -- as part of that forecasting process, you don't try to change what the forecast is as part of that process.  There's other places where you do that, but not in this -- in the forecasting component.

MR. CLARK:  Yes, in our preparation for the -- certainly at least for the modelling and the assessment of needs, no, we don't try to influence that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Are the people -- the people in customer care and the people in finance, they're separate groups, right?

MR. CLARK:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then the transmission planning or distribution planning and those people, are they all in one -- are they all separate groups within one part of the organization, or are they completely separate?

MR. GILLETT:  I think you're talking about multiple groups all within the utility, if that's what you're asking.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, no, but within the utility you have, for example, a whole gas supply organization, and you have separately a whole facilities organization, right?

MR. GILLETT:  Well, yes, yes, but we have a different organize -- we have -- I'm trying to answer your question clearly.  We have different groups within the utility.  We have customer care, we have finance, we have gas supply, we have transmission planning, we have distribution planning.  We have different groups, if that's what you're asking, that are accountable for different processes and different aspects of our system.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Awesome.  Okay.  Let me turn to the types of planning you do.  We've talked about gas supply planning.  Is the gas supply planning done in Toronto now, or is it still done in Calgary and Houston?

MR. GILLETT:  Gas supply planning has never been done in Calgary/Houston.  Currently it's done out of Chatham and Toronto.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And is it still separate, or is it now merged?

MR. GILLETT:  Gas supply planning?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. GILLETT:  The organization is -- so this was something that was filed within our five-year plan and our annual updates.  The organization itself is one.  We've integrated the two gas supply planning groups into one.  The processes and systems are still, I mean, depending on what part of the process or system you're looking at, are still separate, and we're undertaking to harmonize those.

MR. SHEPHERD:  IT always takes longer.

MR. GILLETT:  Always.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So your gas supply plans are five-year plans, right?  They're rolling every year, but they're five-year plans.

MR. GILLETT:  Yeah, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And do you have a longer plan internally?  Because sometimes you have to make commitments longer than five years, right?  And so do you have a longer plan that you use internally, a 10-year plan, for example?

MR. GILLETT:  No, our -- on the gas supply side our commitments are typically in the five-year -- well, on the commodity side they're one year or less, typically.  On the transport side most are less than five years.  There's a few exceptions if it's underpinning an infrastructure build, but typically it's five years or less.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the goal in your gas supply planning is to optimize costs and reliability.  I think you said this earlier, right?

MR. GILLETT:  Yeah, cost, reliability, diversity, public policy.  It's finding the right balance for the ratepayers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Awesome.  And so -- but you don't decide how much you need, right?  That is an input you get from the demand forecast?

MR. GILLETT:  We --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Did I get that right?

MR. GILLETT:  We look at the demand forecast and translate it into assets that we require, whether it be commodity, transportation, or storage, for both annual and peak day needs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So -- but you're not -- when you get the demand information from customer care or whoever, you don't say, well, now we don't like this.  We think we need to buy more or less, they're telling you what your customers are going to need.

MR. GILLETT:  It's a little more complicated than that, especially as we're harmonizing the practices between the two legacy utilities.  We're looking at opportunities where we can streamline the processes and have more common -- a common process, one single process for the utility.

So it's not quite as straightforward.  I would say if you go back to things like NAC, so normalized average consumption, you're right.  We don't -- gas supply doesn't change that.  We don't change.  You know, if there's new customer adds, customer growth, if there is contract customer growth coming from our distribution sales group, we don't modify those assumptions, those are inputs into our demand forecasting process, but then there are pieces that we are accountable for in terms of how we want to meet those needs with the different assets.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Perfect.  And do you do scenario analysis when you're doing your gas supply plan?

MR. GILLETT:  Can you clarify what you mean by "scenario analysis"?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Scenario analysis means that you have a plan, but then you say, well, what if this happens?  What's our plan if that happens?  Gas prices go up a lot faster than we expect.  There's a moratorium on shell gas in New York, that sort of thing?

MR. GILLETT:  No, the gas -- although we file a five-year gas supply plan, we also file a yearly update, and so each year we go through the gas supply planning process so we're able to make adjustments on an annual basis, and we have planned our portfolio with sufficient diversity, like, in terms of counter-parties and term of contracts, to allow us to make changes, so because we do this on an annual basis, if we see, you know, a public-policy change, if we see market changes, if we see growth changes, we can adjust year-to-year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You had a discussion with Mr. Quinn, and I believe -- the conclusion I got out of it -- and tell me whether I'm wrong -- is that your gas supply planning can influence whether facilities have to be built, or even whether they have to be replaced, right?

MR. GILLETT:  I would say that our facility -- so if you set aside -- set aside Dawn Parkway --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. GILLETT:  -- gas supply is somewhat disconnected from -- when I say "disconnected", it's not a bad thing.  It's separate from the facilities planning.  So let me give you a very quick example.  In our northern delivery area, you know, we have two population centres there.  We have got Sudbury, we have got North Bay.  We may see growth in North Bay, a bunch of customers coming online, which would require facilities, but if we see a decline in Sudbury and they sort of net each other, there is no impact to gas supply, right?  So from a gas supply perspective, even though there is growth in North Bay, we don't have to increase gas supply assets, because there was a corresponding decrease somewhere else in that geographic region.  But from a facilities planning perspective, we may require assets.

So we deliver gas at a very aggregated, broad geographic level, and then it's up to the facilities planning folks to figure out, how do we actually get that gas to the customer.  Dawn Parkway is a little different, because we do participate in the open season, so if there is a new capacity open season and we require capacity on that system, we will potentially bid, so that's where the gas supply planning is more connected, I would say.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The -- so, sorry, it's only, for example, something like the PDO that would allow you to defer facilities.  You can't do that by choosing where you take your gas supply on the system, other than the PDO?

MR. GILLETT:  So it depends on the area of our system, so in Union South, again, Dawn Parkway complicates things, because of the fact that the south is integrated with the Dawn Parkway system.  Where we deliver gas can influence -- or would influence the operations of the south.

So in the case of PDO, we use that as a constraint in our gas supply system.  So our facilities folks tell us, hey, this is how much is being delivered at Parkway.  You can assume it's at that end of the system, and then we put that constraint in our gas supply planning.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand.  I'm going to move on to facilities planning.  That's done by a completely separate group?  That's not your group, right?  It's a different group?

MR. GILLETT:  Gas supply does not perform any sort of facilities planning.  That hydraulic modeling is within the other two teams that are here.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Who does the facilities planning?  Is that you, Ms. Thompson?

MS. THOMPSON:  For the transmission system.

MR. CLARK:  And my team for distribution.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Do you report up to the same place?  Eventually, aside from the CEO, do you report up to a vice-president that's the same person?

MS. THOMPSON:  We don't report to the same person, but we maintain a connection between the two teams given the interconnectivity of the system.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  The time period of your facilities planning is -- right now, the AMP we've seen is five years.  But your new plan is going to be 10 years, right?

MS. THOMPSON:  Correct.  We will feed into the 10-year plan.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have also a longer term plan, or are you expecting to have a longer term plan?  Commonly when you do a plan, you also add an outlook at the end that helps you understand whether you're going in the right direction.  If you have a 10-year plan, will you have a 20-year outlook?

MS. THOMPSON:  We have the demand forecast for 20 years, but the intention of that forecast is to identify the constraints for the 10 years, not the constraints beyond year 10.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't identify any constraints beyond year 10?

MS. THOMPSON:  Not to my knowledge.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And your goal in facilities planning is obviously you have to make sure all your assets are in good shape and if they're not. you have to replace them, right?

MR. CLARK:  From my hydraulic modeling perspective, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Obviously you have to get the gas where it's needed.  So if you have growth, you have to add -- you have to do reinforcements to get it there, right?

MR. CLARK:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Your overall goal -- those are your system constraints, but your overall goal is sort of the same as gas supply, right?  Minimize costs, maximize reliability; am I right?

MR. CLARK:  Maximize reliability to our customers and make sure we can supply their peak energy demands when they need it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Do you have any internal goals for rate base growth, any metrics in anybody's personnel targets, for example, or group targets, or anything like that that are rate base growth?

MR. CLARK:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In transmission?

MS. McCOWAN:  Sorry, I was on mute.  I think we responded to this in one of our IRs and our goals are all around meeting the corporate objectives, which are in the safety, reliability and building out in the -- for example in the asset plan, the projects that have been identified that we would achieve those.  They are not related to growing the rate base or things like that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the closest thing you have to that sort of target then is if the plan says you have to build 1.2 billion dollars of projects, you're rated on the basis whether you delivered on those projects, right?

MS. McCOWAN:  Our goal would be to deliver on the work that's in the asset management plan.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Awesome.  The next area of planning is operational planning.  This is the people and resources part, right.  So is that done by your groups, or is that done by somebody else?

MR. CLARK:  That's not done by our groups.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you know who does it?

MR. CLARK:  Precisely what type of operational and people are you referring to?

MR. SHEPHERD:  For example, you have succession planning, you have training programs and training planning.  You have things like how are you going to achieve your IT plan to meet different needs, customer care, all that sort of stuff?

MS. McCOWAN:  Taking some of those, something for example like succession planning is something that would be facilitated by our human resources department.  That's responsibility of upper management.

MR. GILLETT:  I'm going to jump in.  I think we're struggling a little bit, Mr. Shepherd, because you're talking about a lot of very potentially complicated or widespread processes.  Like succession planning is kind of a standard management practice of a corporation, right?


So we're a big company, so of course we do succession planning for our people.  But I'm struggling a little bit about with how that's related to framework piece.

So our pause in answering some of these questions is because you're talking about quite a few processes that are sort of company-wide; resource planning, workforce planning.  We're not -- at least I'm not clear on how we can tie it to this framework piece, because some of this stuff is HR, some of it is management level work.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The end result of your operational planning is a business plan, right?  You have a business plan?

MR. GILLETT:  The other thing we're struggling with is you're using terminology that can have pretty broad applicability, like a business plan.  I'm not clear what you mean by business plan.  There's business development, there's operations, there's integrity; there is quite a bit there is that word.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Enbridge has a business plan approved by the board of directors every year.  Have you never seen it?

MR. GILLETT:  If you're talking about Board -approved business plan for the corporation, yes, it exists.  You have a panel to answer questions around the IRP framework, so we're struggling a little bit.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Actually this is about integrated resource planning and I'm asking about all your different types of planning.  I said that at the outset.

MR. STEVENS:  And we indicated at the outset who our witnesses are and what their areas of accountability are.  They're stretching themselves as much as they can, Mr. Shepherd, to be helpful and answer your questions.

But you know as well as all of us how large an organization Enbridge is, and how different people have different accountabilities and people quite properly are uncomfortable speaking outside of their area.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Where I'm going, Mr. Stevens -- and I suppose the reason why I was less concerned with people not being able to give direct answers to some things is because I'm looking at a siloing of planning within Enbridge.  And I think it's becoming clear that there is in fact siloing.  I'm stealing Mr. Brophy's word.

MR. GILLETT:  Sorry, I would like to add to that.  I would not agree with the statement that it's siloed.  We're a big organization.  There's a lot of work to be done and a lot of this work is very complicated and requires specific skills, training, and knowledge.

So what we have out of pure necessity is we have groups that develop that skill and knowledge and understand those deep and complex processes.

So to call it silo -- I think it's more that we have groups that perform the accountabilities that they have.  We have these processes integrated and you've seen some of the diagrams, some of the interrogatory responses that try to explain how they're tied together.

I don't want to come across as argumentative.  I just want to make it clear that these processes are very integrated,  But out of pure necessity of how complicated and big they are, we have specific groups that have different parts in the process.  No one single group or one single person can do these things.  I think that's pretty common, especially with a large infrastructure company.  So I think we've done a good job of integrating them.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The payoff in this cross-examination is the part where we get to integrated resource planning, so integration is the theme.  But I want to deal with two others first very quickly.

First is DSM planning.  So DSM planning is done in Toronto, right?

MS. THOMPSON:  That is probably better suited for the incomes panel.  There is a DSM representative on that panel.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that.  Do you know where it's done?  It's done by the DSM group, right?

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Which is split --


MR. STIERS:  There are -- there are representatives in both Toronto and Chatham --


THE REPORTER:  I'm sorry, can I get that again?  There was overtalking.

MR. STIERS:  There are representatives from the DSM group that participate in planning in both Toronto and Chatham, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  How does the DSM plan -- the DSM plan is six years, right?

MR. STIERS:  I'm sorry, so we're in the midst of an interim year.  The extension of the past framework and plans for 2021 was approved just this past summer, I believe, and then we are expecting to file another multi-year plan, I believe this spring, within two or three months.

MR. SHEPHERD:  We are waiting for it with bated breath.  It is a six-year plan.

MR. STIERS:  Pardon me?

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is a six-year plan, right?

MR. STIERS:  The next plan?  I am not working on that plan in particular.  I can't speak to it.  So panel 2 is best-suited to give you the details --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'll ask them.  How does the DSM plan feed into the gas supply plan and the facilities plan, if at all?

MR. GILLETT:  So I think from gas supply perspective I think I mentioned this earlier today, that any reductions in customer demand that are realized through the DSM programming is factored into gas supply planning.

So when we look at how much demand there is within the province and how much gas supply we need to provide, if there is any reduction in that due to DSM that would be reflected in our forecast.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So two questions about that.  First, it's not actually gas supply that integrates it.  Isn't it your demand forecasters that integrate it into the demand forecast, and then you take that information and apply it to your gas supply planning?  Or am I missing something there?

MR. GILLETT:  So it would be upstream of gas supply that that reduction is integrated, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And in fact, I thought I heard you say earlier that rarely does DSM actually reduce system peak.  Am I right about that?

MR. GILLETT:  I am not a DSM expert.  I would really suggest that that would be a good question for panel 2 --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Because I thought I heard somebody on this panel say that earlier.

MR. GILLETT:  I think -- and I'd have to go back and look at the transcript.  I think my comment was that my experience has been reduction in annual demand through DSM, but by no means am I an expert, and I could be incorrect in that, so if I misspoke, I apologize, but that's, I think, something that could go to panel 2 for sure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Excellent.  And Mr. Clark, you work on the facilities for distribution.  How do you feed the DSM plan into your distribution facilities planning?

MR. CLARK:  The impacts of DSM are shown in the actuals that we collect on a yearly basis, and then utilize the trend forward in our needs identification.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you don't look at what their plan is, you don't look at the DSM plan per se, you simply assume that the past trend of DSM impacts will continue into the future.

MR. CLARK:  Yes, we look at the actuals that we're receiving and use that as our basis.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if the DSM group were to -- actually, they did this -- go into the Town of Markham and do a big residential savings plan program that was different from the past, you wouldn't have had any cause to take that into account in what facilities you were building.

MR. CLARK:  Well, you have to keep in mind that the way we analyze and the way our systems are connected is much broader than one municipality, so although there might be a DSM impact, as you say, in their targeted community, our overall model and supply is for a much larger group, so it's not necessarily impactful.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I'm almost at the end, Madam Chair.  I'm sorry, I think I've gone over my time, but --


MS. ANDERSON:  You have.  I was about to ask -- you were past the time we were going to take a break, so I was going to ask you whether you were about to wrap up.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I will be done in eight minutes.

MS. ANDERSON:  Make it five.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I actually was making up that number, but...

All right.  There was one other type of planning that I've never heard of before, but I saw it on one of your CVs, and that is -- CVs, and that is energy transition planning.  Can you tell us what that is?

MR. STIERS:  Whose CV are you speaking of?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Suzette Mills.  Suzette Mills is manager of energy transition planning.

MR. STIERS:  She's on panel 2, so that question is better put to her tomorrow.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you don't know what that is.

MR. STIERS:  I just think that Suzette Mills, Ms. Mills, is best-suited to describe that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, I know, but it's hard for me to deal with these issues if I can't get at least a high-level answer, what is it?  It's new to me.  But I...

MR. STEVENS:  Yeah, but Ms. Mills will be ready and available before the oral hearing is over to answer your particular questions about what it means.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, if these witnesses know what energy transition planning is, it would certainly be helpful to my cross-examination if they would at least give us a short summary quickly.

MS. ANDERSON:  Does anyone have that information?  Because if not, we will wait until the next panel.

MR. STIERS:  I do not.

MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Shepherd, they do not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The vision of information within the panels makes it more difficult to get to things.

I'm going to ask you, witnesses, if you will undertake to provide an org chart of EGI, just down to the director level, not below that, with the various types of forecasting and planning and where they happen indicated.  What I'm trying to do is understand how they work together, how they fit within the organization, and how they're separate from each other within the organization.

Can you provide such an org chart?

MR. STEVENS:  Sorry, when you're speaking about the various types of forecasting and planning, are you speaking to the various types of forecasting and planning that you've covered in your cross-examination, Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  If there's any others I miss, you're welcome to add them, but I think those are the ones that are relevant to integrated resource planning.

MR. STEVENS:  We can make best efforts to provide that to you.  I don't know exactly what exists or what it will look like, but we'll do our best.

MR. MILLAR:  J1.8.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.8:  TO PROVIDE AN ORG CHART OF EGI, JUST DOWN TO THE DIRECTOR LEVEL, NOT BELOW THAT, WITH THE VARIOUS TYPES OF FORECASTING AND PLANNING AND WHERE THEY HAPPEN INDICATED, TO UNDERSTAND HOW THEY WORK TOGETHER, HOW THEY FIT WITHIN THE ORGANIZATION, AND HOW THEY'RE SEPARATE FROM EACH OTHER WITHIN THE ORGANIZATION.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then my last questions are on integrated resource planning.  This was about integrated resource planning.  And here's what I'm trying to understand.  If I understand 1-Staff 2- page 3, which is that flow chart of IRP, if I understand that correctly, you're planning to put IRP within facilities planning; is that right?

MR. STIERS:  I'm not certain that that's correct, Mr. Shepherd.  I think what we've described in the response at OSEA 1(c) is that we're in the midst of initiating an exercise to understand exactly how this integration should happen between integrated resource planning and other forms of facilities planning and system planning within the organization.  So it'll obviously also have the potential to be influenced by the framework that's ultimately established by the Board for us.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  What I'm trying to understand is what's your proposal?  I understood your proposal to be that within facilities we will implement an IRP component.  Is that not correct?

MR. STIERS:  I think the nuance is some of what you've heard earlier today as well that the processes and areas within the organization are very much integrated, so we do see that IRP analysis as it's described in Figure 1 of Exhibit I, Staff 2 fits into and the IRP decision that comes from that fits into the same stream of planning.

So I'm not sure that it's fair today to characterize it as completely fitting within existing facilities planning.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So my last question then is on that 1 Staff 2 or I Staff 2, page 3, when you were talking about it earlier today you said this is not a complete chart -- it's not, hang on.  This is not a complete diagram of how these things fit together.

So can you give us a complete diagram of how those things fit together in your -- in your proposal, how will all these various types of planning fit together?

What I'm trying to understand is integrated resource planning is supposed to integrate everything.  It's an overarching type of planning.  And I'm trying to see how your proposal delivers that result.  Can you prepare and give us the full diagram that is in I-Staff-2?

MR. STIERS:  I'll offer up, but I think I-Staff-2 is representative of our position today.  I'm not sure your definition of what integrated resource planning should be is exactly aligned with the way that we view it.

But I can say that I believe I-Staff-2 is a fair representation today of how we envision IRP fitting into our broader planning processes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I think it was you, Mr. Stiers, who said that that particular diagram is not a complete diagram.

MR. STIERS:  It was not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I wrote it down verbatim.

MR. STEVENS:  My recollection, if it helps, is that Mr. Gillett spoke to the fact this didn't completely represent all the steps within gas supply planning upstream of the IRP process.

MR. GILLETT:  That's right.  The purpose of the diagram was to be a companion to the answer which was trying to help with some of what we thought was confusion around how does gas supply planning work with facilities and planning an IRPA.  When I said incomplete, what I meant was it was designed for that purpose, to show where gas supply sits in the process.  I think there's another diagram, a linear diagram elsewhere in the evidence that showed the different steps as well.  But we created that second one for the gas supply piece.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I appreciate your indulgence and I will try to lop some time off my next cross to pay you back.

MS. ANDERSON:  We're going to take 15 minutes, so that gets us back at 3:45.
--- Recess taken at 3:30 p.m.
--- On resuming at 3:46 p.m.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  Please proceed.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you very much, and good afternoon, panel.  Maybe I'll start by marking a compendium that OEB Staff circulated on Friday, I believe.  And we can call that K1.5.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.5:  OEB STAFF COMPENDIUM.

MR. MILLAR:  And I would like to start -- I have a few questions about your capital contribution policies and what role, if any, they may play with respect to IRP.  Just to start us off with some background, would the witnesses agree with me that Enbridge's infrastructure needs can be driven both by new customers and by existing customers?  Is that fair?

MR. CLARK:  I think that's fair.

MR. MILLAR:  And you may recall that there was some discussion at the tech conference regarding the way that Enbridge calculates the CIAC for new customers, and we'll get to that in a moment, but just again at a very high level, obviously much of this is governed by EBO 188, and the way that you calculate the capital contribution is first you do the NPV, the net present value calculation, whereby you measure the cost of the project versus the expected revenues?  Is that right as the first step?

MR. CLARK:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And then to the extent that the costs exceed the revenues, a capital contribution is designed just to bring those numbers into balance.  Again at a high level, is that how it works?

MR. CLARK:  At a high level, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Great.  Thank you.  If we can turn to page -- for the Staff compendium it's only numbered as a PDF, so page 7 of 29 of the PDF.  Yes, I think that's it, if we could just scroll -- yes, down to the highlight.

So I just wanted to ask you about, in some cases a project will require additional upstream reinforcement, and as I understand it, those costs are part of the NPV calculation; is that correct?  That's what we see here?

MR. CLARK:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And therefore, to the extent again that the costs exceed revenues, that would feed into the calculation of the CIAC?

MR. CLARK:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And I don't think we need to go through it in detail, though I have it as part of the compendium.  You have a customer connection policy that forms part of EBO -- or, pardon me, you have a customer connection policy provides a little bit more detail on that.

But we asked you some questions about this in the tech conference, and maybe we can flip all the way ahead to page 27 of 29.  And you may recall Mr. Parkes asked you some questions about how the costs for system reinforcement are calculated as part of the capital contribution, and you gave a response there, it was Mr. Clark, said:

"What goes into the CIAC calculation is the capacity that they require, not the overall system benefit capacity."

And I just want to drill down a little more into the distinction between those two things.

So Mr. Clark, can you provide me a little bit more information there?  What is the distinction that you are highlighting in that response?

MR. CLARK:  What I was trying to highlight and provide some clarity on was at the time we were talking about an example of adding a subdivision, I think --


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. CLARK:  -- and so what I was mentioning is, again, just talking rough numbers, that if that subdivision requires a capacity of 100 and the system currently does not have the capacity to serve them, then as you stated, the upstream reinforcement costs required to provide them that capacity of 100 will be built into their CIAC calculation.

And just what I was trying to clarify is that that reinforcement sizing and what they would be charged for, what would go into the CIAC calculation, would represent that demand of 100 and not something larger.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And that's -- I think that's what I understood, and that's the distinction you're talking about, an overall system benefit capacity, right?

MR. CLARK:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  So where your asset management plan shows that a new project is in an area where there are some capacity constraints, is it fair to say that the NPV calculation is done the same way as it would be done in an area where there are no particular capacity restraints?  It may spit out a different number, because it may require an upgrade, but you don't do anything different about the way you would conduct the calculation?

MR. CLARK:  No, not to my knowledge.  It's the same calculation.

MR. MILLAR:  Let me put it a different way.  And I think, just to get to your example of a subdivision -- and I'm going to take a very simple scenario here.  Let's imagine you have a new subdivision and you have a project to connect all the houses therein and, you know, the individual lines and whatnot, and it is connecting to a line that has a capacity of 100 units, and that line is currently at 95 units.

If this new project added an additional six units, as I understand the way the net present value would be done is the costs for upgrading that line, to upsize its capacity, would form part of that net present value calculation.  Is that how it would work?  Again, at a very high level?

MR. CLARK:  At a high level, and just as a simple, a little bit of a disclaimer ahead of time, if you need more detail into the actual financial analysis and calculations, that's not my area of expertise, but as I understand, what you described is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Fair enough.  And again, I don't want to get into the weeds, because the only person who will end up confused there is me.  But let's take another example where we have exactly the same scenario, except in this case the subdivision has a capacity need of four units, so instead of getting you over the capacity of the line it just kind of brings you right up to it.

As I understand it, at least the way EBO 188 is currently constructed, that would not trigger additional system upgrade costs; is that correct?

MR. CLARK:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And that's -- I think that's -- maybe that's just an example of what you were discussing in your response to Mr. Parkes in the tech conference.  Again, is that a fair way to put it?

MR. CLARK:  I think so.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Great.

Now, again, EBO 188 is over 20 years old now, so some of the things in it probably haven't been looked at in a while, so I'm not saying this to be critical in any way, but in Enbridge's view is there an opportunity there, for example, in cases where the asset management plan shows a constrained area, that we might want to take a more forward-looking view as to the pressures that a new project may place on the system?  In other words, even in cases where this particular project doesn't get you quite over the line to require a system upgrade, is it something that we should consider in the future that maybe there actually -- maybe additional costs actually should be reflected into the net present value calculation just to account for the fact that you're getting real close to the need for a system upgrade?

MR. CLARK:  In all honesty, I think that's delving into a realm that I'm not entirely comfortable speaking about, again, because it gets into the financial and regulatory aspect of that.  Our model right now is to provide customers with the service, with the capacity that we have, and if we don't have capacity, then that's when we get into the mechanisms we just spoke about.

MR. MILLAR:  Sure, and I recognize that, you know, you're currently doing it exactly as EBO 188 appears to tell you to do it.  Maybe I'll put this to Mr. Stevens.

Mr. Stevens, is this something that would be for panel 2?  Or if this panel would be assisted to take an undertaking -- and again, just to be clear, what I'm asking is, I'm not sure it's a gap or not, but it occurs to me that in areas where there is a system constraint that currently EBO 188 only recognizes that through costs on a new project where you actually -- where that project itself will trigger a system upgrade.

And my question is, is just to get Enbridge's thoughts on whether it would be appropriate to make some adjustments to how we look at that to account for the fact that new costs are very likely to be imposed in the very near future even though they are not triggered by the project.  That's a long-winded way to putting that, but is that something that would be better for panel 2?  Or if Enbridge would agree to do so, is that something you could answer by way of undertaking?

MR. STEVENS:  I think it's probably, Mr. Millar, something that panel 2, if anybody, might be a little bit better position to answer.  My understanding of your question is if a new subdivision attachment essentially uses up the rest of the remaining capacity, is it fair or appropriate that they are not paying under EBO 188, knowing full well that the next person who comes along and attaches will cause costs.

MR. MILLAR:  You put it much better than I did.  So is that something you feel I should take up with panel 2?

MR. STEVENS:  I would suggest that we do take it up with panel 2, or perhaps if they advise us overnight that they can't speak to it, then we can provide an undertaking.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  That will be very helpful.  Thank you.

Okay.  I think I can move on to the next area.  This should be just a quick one, and then I'm all done.  It's a question that just kind of arose out of a response that we heard earlier this morning.  It relates to the safety and integrity screen, the binary screening that you propose to apply whereby safety type projects would be screened out of consideration for IRPA.

It might be most helpful in this regard to turn up Staff undertaking 8C, so that's Exhibit I-Staff-8 -- and thank you for pulling that up.

I'll read the question very quickly:  Does Enbridge Gas intend this criterion to apply to projects that need to be addressed immediately, or also to projects where Enbridge Gas intends to address safety/integrity issues over a longer period of time.

And if you go to the response, you state:
"At the outset as Enbridge Gas is gaining comfort with IRPAs and how to effectively plan around them, it is proposing that all safety or integrity related projects are screened out."


And I guess I want to confirm if there has been any evolution in your thinking around that.

I think we heard this morning -- and again, I can't take you directly to the transcript, but in a discussion Ms. Thompson had I think with Mr. Elson, there was some discussion that this safety screen would really only be used for immediate and near term safety or integrity consideration.

I just wanted to go back to Staff 8C and if that answer still held, or if there is something we should be add to go that?

MS. McCOWAN:  I think it was me and not Ms. Thompson that had the conversation, but I'm happy to -- and I think this is something we have undertaken to provide greater clarity on.

But I think it's fair to say that through the additional criteria that we have provided, that we are looking to include some projects that would be safety driven provided there is enough runway to allow an IRPA solution to be implemented.  So what we're I think more focused on screening out now would be those safety projects where there is quite an emergent problem to be dealt with, and we wouldn't have time for an IRPA solution to address the underlying need.

MR. MILLAR:  Understood.  Sorry, did you say -- is that part of an undertaking response as well, that you were going to provide more information?  Was that Mr. Poch's undertaking or did I miss hear you there?

MS. McCOWAN:  I thought that we had -- perhaps I have Misspoken. Mr. Stevens, I thought we had taken the undertaking to provide greater clarity.

MR. STEVENS:  My notes suggest undertaking J1.4 is given to provide the list of the screening criteria with more specificity, including any changes that may be proposed as a result of the testimony we hear.

MR. MILLAR:  All I ask is maybe keep this discussion in mind when you are preparing that undertaking response.  And if there is anything that the Board might find helpful following this topic, we would welcome receiving it.

Some of my other questions were covered, so Madam Chair, that is it for OEB Staff.  And thank you, panel.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  Ms. Grice, are you there?

MS. GRICE:  Good afternoon.  Yes, I'm here.

MS. ANDERSON:  We have 10 minutes in the schedule.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Grice:


MS. GRICE:  Okay, I'll be quick.  Thanks very much.

I just have a couple of questions related to how Enbridge Gas is going to incorporate IRP into its internal system planning processes, and all of my questions are based on interrogatory VECC 2.

If we can go to part D, we asked here:
"Does Enbridge Gas consider incorporating its IRP proposal into its existing planning process as a cultural shift within the organization?  Please discuss."


And if we can please turn over to the response to part D, Enbridge Gas responds:
"Yes, incorporating IRP into Enbridge Gas's planning process has the potential to result in a cultural shift.  While Enbridge Gas's historic focus is on safety and reliability serving the firm contractual demands of its customer on a peak design basis will remain, the company expects that the establishment of IRP framework aligned with its IRP proposal, additional evidence, and reply evidence will be transformative to its traditional planning ;processes will require extensive new work to administer, manage and operationalize and could have far-reaching implications in terms of how the company continues to grow and earn revenues, and how it interacts with its customers and communities in which it operates."


I just had a couple questions around how that might play out within the organization.  My first question is:  Does Enbridge Gas consider proposed IRP planning process to be a large-scale undertaking within the organization?

MR. STIERS:  I can offer thoughts and then defer to my colleagues who represent some of the respective planning areas that were described in that response, Ms. Grice.

I think as we've proposed it, yes, we do consider integrated resource planning to be a significant endeavour absolutely.

MS. GRICE:  Thank you.  In terms of the response to the interrogatory, and your characterization that it is transformative and it has the potential to result in a cultural shift, what does that mean for Enbridge internally in terms of implementing a new way of doing things?

How do you come to the conclusion that it could result in a cultural shift?  What sorts of things could occur?

MR. STIERS:  Again, I'll offer a thought and invite others to add their perspectives for their respective areas of expertise.

But I think it's difficult at this stage to give you a detailed answer, Ms. Grice.  We have specified in the response to parts A, C and E above there, again a reference to OSEA 1C where we discuss the fact that we're still in the very early stages of going through this integration exercise.

While we recognize the significance, the potential significance of this process and integration, we are still just at the outset of delving into what it means to each of the respective areas across the organization.  So it will be difficult for us to grasp the holistic impacts of it all until we have a framework established by the Board that we can truly reflect on, and ensure that we are moving toward full integration.

It's difficult for me to elaborate from my perspective any more than that.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Do you anticipate the need for a strategy going forward to manage the potential cultural shift within your organization from, say, an employee perspective having buy in from your employees across the organization an executive leadership communicating from the top down?  Do you anticipate needing a strategy to manage those factors when it comes to implementation?

MR. STIERS:  That may be something that people managing this integration process deem to be helpful to them.  I can't speak to that specifically, but I think the words in the response at Exhibit D give a sense of the scale, or significance of the so-called cultural shift as you referred to it.

I think in large part, we won't necessarily feel that there needs to be per se grass roots shift of focus or culture, because we will continue to remain focused on ensuring that we're able to meet customer needs on a firm design basis without question.  So safety and reliability will remain paramount regardless.

I think with those fundamentals in place, it may temper to some extent what you may be envisioning as a drastic shift.

MS. GRICE:  Within the internal or within Enbridge Gas, would you agree this proposal represents a change a significant change in the way you do things at Enbridge?  Is that what you mean by transformative?

MR. STIERS:  Sorry, I'm just reading the response one last time.  That's specifically in the context of traditional planning processes, so I think I've given my response on the perspective of change.  I'll defer to my colleagues in case they think that from a planning perspective this could be represented differently.

MS. THOMPSON:  So I can add, and there may be others that want to add as well.  So one of the -- one of the significant changes is the consideration and specific actioning of alternatives much earlier in the process, whereas to date we may look at alternatives, but the refinement needs to happen much earlier because of when we need to submit a plan to propose a potential IRP alternative, monitor for effectiveness, and then, if it is effective, then we can consider it -- the constraint resolved.  If it's not effective, then we may need to put in place a subsequent plan.  That's one of the considerations that would be transformative in nature.

Another one is in relation to the incorporation of some of the wide scale of alternatives that are much broader than we have today.  And the effect -- knowing and understanding the effect that it will have on a peak-hour or peak-day perspective.  So for example, that is currently to date broad-based DSM is intended to have an impact on annual consumption, whereas geo-targeted DSM will have an impact on -- it will need to have an impact on peak hour and peak day in order to draw that distinct tie, and that feedback that I mentioned will be absolutely critical to make sure that we know and understand the impacts that it will have on our system and how we are going to ensure that it continues to have the intended impact so we can make sure that we have the same level of assurance in relation to safety and reliability.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Thank you for that.  So this is my last question.  So at this stage in your planning process are you anticipating any obstacles or roadblocks internally that would put the company at risk in terms of implementing this strategy?

MR. STIERS:  No, I'm not aware of any.

MS. THOMPSON:  I'm not aware of any either.  We will have to go through the subsequent, more detailed level of planning for the incorporation and identify how we are going to ramp up and action from a resource perspective.  But that will be part of the planning process.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  But in terms of company philosophy and the way you do things and your basic beliefs, you don't anticipate any implementation issues from that perspective?

MR. STIERS:  Again, no, I do not.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Okay.  Thank you, those are my questions.  Thank you.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Ms. Grice.

And next up, Ms. DeMarco for Anwaatin, and do I want to just give you a heads-up the Panel does have a couple questions, and we are trying to get this panel wrapped up for the day, so Ms. DeMarco, I turn it over to you.
Cross-Examination by Ms. DeMarco:

MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you very much, Madam Chair.  I just want to make sure I'm okay on the hearing portion.

MS. ANDERSON:  Certainly I can hear well.  Hopefully our court reporter can too.

MS. DeMARCO:  Perfect.  We do have a --


THE REPORTER:  Yes, thank you.

MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  We do have a compendium that we should probably mark as an exhibit now.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  That's K1.6.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.6:  ANWAATIN COMPENDIUM.

MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you very much.  To the witness panel, I'd really like to canvass very quickly some clarifications on three areas.  The first is in relation to the overarching IRP process and timing in relation to system planning, asset management, and gas supply planning.  The second are clarifications around those screening criteria, and following up on one aspect of the element -- the question that Mr. Millar just asked.  And the third is in relation to the overarching intended IRP staged OEB approval process.  So David, you'll tell me if I'm off or on, Mr. Stevens, whether this is the appropriate panel for particularly the last element.

Before I go there, there was one answer that I believe Ms. Thompson just provided around the significant changes that this process represents in the operating procedures.  And she indicated in planning for incorporation.  I just want to clarify, incorporation is not incorporation of a new entity.  It's incorporation of these new operating processes and procedures.  Is that fair?

MS. THOMPSON:  Into the respective planning process, yes, achieving the framework and the corresponding decision that's made by the Board and incorporating it into our current planning processes.

MS. DeMARCO:  So there is no planned separate incorporation of another entity?  Thank you.

All right.  If I can ask you to turn to page 11 of our compendium, and that is Figure 1 in Board Staff Interrogatory No.2.  Do you have that up?

MR. STIERS:  We can see it.

MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  So if I can refer to the left triangle, the three boxes constituting demand forecasting, gas supply planning, and facilities planning, safe to say there that there is no change in that process from the status quo; is that right?

MR. GILLETT:  So when we -- are you asking once an IRP framework is approved will there be a change to this process?  Is that what the question was?

MS. DeMARCO:  No, my question is in relation to your IRP proposal doesn't constitute any change to what you're doing now in relation to these three elements; is that right?

MR. GILLETT:  No, I would say there is a change.  So what we're trying to show here was gas supply planning is upstream of the IRP analysis piece of the process, but what I think we had talked about a bit in the technical conference was that it is an annual cyclical set of processes.  So if there is an IRPA that's chosen and implemented that requires a change to the gas supply plan, that would be done.

So we don't have IRP framework today, and so there isn't part of that product to incorporate in the gas supply plan today, so once one is approved we expected that to be part of the process.

MS. DeMARCO:  I was going to get there a little bit later on, but as I understand it very specifically, and your responses at the technical conference, there has been a lag in reflecting any IRP into the gas supply plan or the asset management plan; is that right?

MR. GILLETT:  Well, I'm not sure what you define as a lag.  Once this annual process is complete, then the next annual process that begins will incorporate any required constraints or inputs.

MS. DeMARCO:  So just so I'm clear on this point, the gas supply plan won't reflect any IRP until it's been approved; is that right?

MR. GILLETT:  That's right.  I don't think any of our planning processes would reflect an IRPA until it's been chosen.

MS. DeMARCO:  Perfect.  And then in relation to the AMP, it would be up to five years before an AMP -- five years after an IRPA is approved before an AMP reflects it; is that right?

MS. McCOWAN:  I don't think that's the case.  What we've said is that the AMP will reflect the best available information, so if we have approved an IRPA, then the next AMP that's released annually, or an addendum to it would reflect that for that need or constraint, an IRPA is the preferred solution.

MS. DeMARCO:  That only occurs after the IRP has been specifically approved, is that right?

MS. McCOWAN:  That's correct.

MS. DeMARCO:  Subject to that qualification around the annual update for approved IRPs, demand forecasting going into your gas supply plan informing your facilities planning is business as usual for you, is that right?

MS. McCOWAN:  I don't think I would characterize it as business as usual.  I think Mr. Stiers and Ms. Thompson have identified a few things that would be new, specifically the need to really understand the IRPAs for an investment we would previously have scoped out for 10 years, but wouldn't have had to really dig into the planning for it in the short-term.  And in order to understand whether or not IRPAs are feasible, I think we would need to start doing that work much earlier.

So I think there are some stages of that that do drive a change in our existing processes and significant additional work.

MS. DeMARCO:  Just so I'm very clear on this, starting now my understanding is that an IRP would not be considered until a need is identified.  Do I have that right?

MS. McCOWAN:  That's correct, but our asset management plan is full of a number of needs already identified.  So to the extent that those ones were out beyond three years, we would want to start working on IRP plans for them.

MS. DeMARCO:  At the status quo, we currently haven't identified any IRPAs that would be approved that feedback into the gas supply plan, is that right?

MS. McCOWAN:  To my knowledge, not at this time.

MS. DeMARCO:  That's great.  Thank you.  So once that need is identified, you effectively determine whether the need is for a pipeline solution or a non-pipeline alternative -- and I'll get into the specific screening criteria, but just at a macro level at that middle stage of the analysis, you're looking at whether a pipeline solution is required or non-pipeline alternative may be appropriate; is that fair?

MS. McCOWAN:  Yes, I think the way we've characterized it is once a need has been identified that the facility alternative would be identified, and then we would look to see through our binary screening and analysis whether there was a suitable IRPA.

MS. DeMARCO:  Ultimately, based on the screening criteria, there would be a decision made as to whether or not to screen out an IRPA, in which case it's use facilities alternative.  Is that fair?

MS. McCOWAN:  That's fair.

MS. DeMARCO:  Or if not screened out, to continue to the further analysis; is that fair?

MS. McCOWAN:  That's fair.

MS. DeMARCO:  Once you've gone through the analysis and concluded that an IRP is appropriate, you would then include that IRPA, that non-pipeline alternative in your asset management plan, is that fair?

MS. McCOWAN:  That would now become the proposed solution for that need, yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  And that would be reflected in the AMP?

MS. McCOWAN:  True, yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  And then you would implement that IRPA, that's fair?

MS. McCOWAN:  Yes.  I think Mr. Stiers spoke this morning about whether or not it might go through a leave-to-construct-type application, but certainly the ones that are over 10 million dollars would go through the leave-to-construct type application and in certain cases, we might also want to bring forward an IRPA application for something smaller than that.

MS. DeMARCO:  And so I'm going to come back to that specific process question for clarification.  But you attempt to implement it, the IRPA, is that fair?

MS. McCOWAN:  That's fair.

MS. DeMARCO:  And then once implemented, you would monitor it for effectiveness?

MS. McCOWAN:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  And do I have this right, that it's within your discretion to determine whether or not to continue with the IRPA.

MS. McCOWAN:  I think the way we've characterized this is that we would look to make sure the IRPA was delivering the reductions in peak demand that we needed, and that course corrections could be applied either by moving to a different AMP or increasing the IRPA, or increasing the amount of it.  And that if we got to a point where we were moving into the three- to five-year time frame that would be required to do the planning and design and application for the leave to construct for the facility, then we might need to also move over to doing the facility.

MS. DeMARCO:  Can I ask you to turn to our compendium, page 170?

MR. STIERS:  Ms. DeMarco, could I add to that last response by Ms. McCowan briefly?  Just to add onto that, we have explained in our additional evidence -- I believe at page 17 as well as in the response, Exhibit I-Staff-26, our intent is to provide an annual report of IRPA effectiveness to the OEB.  We have given a couple ideas as to where that might be appropriate to provide, but the idea is very much in line with the overarching message you heard from Ms. McCowan.

If the IRPA is not meeting the identified need, Enbridge Gas will propose potentially corrective action in its report, which could include various proposals to implement other IRPAs to increase spending on the particular IRPA that had been approved, or to take other actions.

MS. DeMARCO:  If I can ask you to scroll down to the bottom of the compendium, page 170 at line 26?  At the technical conference, if I've got this correctly, you can unilaterally cease an IRPA with notice to the Board.  There is no approval you're going to seek and subsequent application for alternative.  And if you keep on scrolling down to the next page, the answer from you, Mr. Stiers, was:
"Yes.  I don't think that we've committed at any time to come to the Board to ask permission."

MR. STIERS:  The only caveat I would put on that, Ms. DeMarco, is the concept of the 25 percent threshold set out in our evidence as well.  Again, we have proposed that adjustments over 25 percent of the IRPA approved IRPA costs may also require Board approval.

We have given that to the Board for consideration as a threshold that would balance maintaining regulatory efficiency with proper oversight of these kinds of decisions, and we provide a bit more detail around that threshold proposed in the response at Exhibit I-GEC-30.

MS. DeMARCO:  If I can stick to the decision to cease, we've got there.  As I understand this from your response, the decision to cease is entirely yours.  But in the second paragraph at line 4, you would report your decision to cease to the Board?

MR. STIERS:  We would report all performance of investments in IRPAs on an annual basis as part of our proposed IRP report.  And where a cessation or an increased investment or decreased investment triggered that proposed 25 percent threshold, then we may also seek Board approval to move forward with that.  And again, I expect all of this would be guided by the thresholds we discussed today.

MS. DeMARCO:  Very focused, the decision to cease?

MR. STIERS:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  The decision to cease is yours?

MR. STIERS:  And what I'm saying is that cessation would likely trigger the 25 percent threshold, which we've said or proposed should in certain cases involve OEB approval.

MS. DeMARCO:  So you are in fact coming to the Board for any cessation of an IRPA.  Do I have that right now?

MR. STIERS:  Not for any cessation, no, not necessarily.  I think what we've suggested is that we would be coming to the Board for approval of projects that exceed the proposed 10-million-dollar LTC threshold, and so --

MR. STEVENS:  If I may, just to try to help everybody move things along, I wonder if there is a mismatch here between the questions and the answers, where I wonder if the questions are assuming that an IRPA is the same as an IRP plan, and the answers are looking at an IRPA that could just be a portion of the IRP plan.

MS. DeMARCO:  No, that wasn't my question.  But that's fine.  We're talking about post-implementation of an IRPA on Figure 1 at Board Staff 2.

MR. STEVENS:  Right.  But I'm just wondering if there is a mismatch here, because an IRP plan that's approved by the Board may involve, let's say five different IRPAs.  They're all aimed at reducing a need, and it sounds to me like the witnesses are speaking to questions that they understand that have do with the cessation of any of the IRPAs within that approved plan.  Again, I apologize.  I'm just trying to move things along.


MS. McCOWAN:  I think perhaps try to help, I -- I think anything where we had gone to the Board for a leave-to-construct type process for an IRP plan approval, certainly if we plan to cease that IRP plan, that would, I believe, also require Board, at least acknowledgment and approval.  I think where we're hesitant about suggesting that the Board would approve every cessation of IRPA is that, you know, we've said that we will explore IRPAs for all system reinforcement projects.  And so if we're dealing with a system reinforcement project that's perhaps a million dollars and the IRPAs that we're putting forward are, you know, in the order of between half a million and a million and a half, we're suggesting that if one of those is not working, that we wouldn't necessarily see that we would go to the Board to cease a particular IRPA.

MS. DeMARCO:  So suffice to say that some IRPAs when ceased will require Board approval, and others are at your discretion when ceased.  Fair to say?

MS. McCOWAN:  I think that all presupposes the framework, but I think that would be what we would propose.

MR. STIERS:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  Okay.  And let's touch very briefly on the associated process around IRPA approvals.  Is it fair to say that you currently intend to come to the Board for effectively a leave not to construct under Section 98 and 91 of the OEB Act for any IRPA?

MR. STIERS:  No, I think the confusion here may be where we said that we are seeking similar assurances under similar thresholds in parameters for investments in natural gas as the Board Act affords gas utilities through applications for leave to construct.  But I'm not -- I don't think we've stated anywhere explicitly that we would be applying for leaves not to construct under Sections 98 and 91 of the Act.

MS. DeMARCO:  That's helpful, Mr. Stiers.  I'm a little confused in relation to your responses to Board Staff IR 10, which are located at page 5 of our compendium, which expressly mention Section 91 and 90, and as I understand your response now, we're looking for similar approvals, but not under those sections; is that right?

MR. STIERS:  Yes, that's actually the excerpt that I read word for word, was the first paragraph to Part A.

MS. DeMARCO:  Okay.  So then if I can ask you to turn to our compendium at page 4.  What I understand you to be proposing is to come to the Board in relation to the AMP under Section 36 of the OEB Act; is that right?  Is that what you're proposing?

MR. STIERS:  Again, I think here, reading the response, is that we believe that we can seek similar approvals and assurances under similar thresholds as we receive under Section 90 and 91, but that Section 36 of the Act allows the Board to approve investments of this nature in IRPAs to avoid facilities.  And I believe Mr. Stevens is on the record for acknowledging that others may feel differently about that.

MS. DeMARCO:  Just in terms of what you're proposing, so if I understand it correctly, you'll be seeking substantively similar approvals to what you would get under 90 and 91, but you're going to be doing that under Section 36 of the OEB Act.  Do I have that right?

MR. STEVENS:  I think, to be fair, Lisa -- or Ms. DeMarco, there is not likely any land-related approvals that Enbridge would be seeking.  Enbridge will be seeking approvals from the Board to proceed with an IRP plan to meet a need and would be seeking comfort, seeking assurances, that the proposed investments are reasonable, similar to the assurances that the Board provides through an LTC approval for the investments in facilities.

MS. DeMARCO:  And just so I'm crystal-clear on this point, that's to be done under Section 36?

MR. STEVENS:  Correct, under the Board's rate-making powers.

MS. DeMARCO:  And should, for example, you look to implement an IRPA in the form of energy storage, gas to power, for example, that would also occur under Section 36 of the OEB Act?

MR. STEVENS:  That is Enbridge's proposal.

MS. DeMARCO:  That's helpful.  I'm not sure that it's legislatively unconfusing, but it's helpful to have that clarification what your view is.


Let me go to the last area of questioning.  And how am I doing, Madam Chair?  Am I okay still?

MS. ANDERSON:  You have eight minutes.

MS. DeMARCO:  Perfect.


I would like to ask some questions around the screening criteria, specifically the six that have been now mentioned.  Fair to say that we've now had -- I've counted them -- four evolutions of those screening criteria; is that right?

MR. STIERS:  Could you walk us through what you think those steps were?  Four I'm not sure I can accept easily.

MS. DeMARCO:  I believe there were the original ICF evidence criteria.  That might have been the 2019 IRP policy proposal.  You would agree that that's one of them?

MR. STIERS:  Sure.  Again, yeah, I think that's fair, Ms. DeMarco.

MS. DeMARCO:  And the criteria in the Exhibit B, paragraphs 38 to 42, that's another evolution; is that fair?

MR. STIERS:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  Then we've got the criteria set out at Board Staff interrogatory number 8; is that fair?

MR. STIERS:  Apologies.  I'm just turning to Board Staff 8 quickly.

MS. DeMARCO:  I believe the beginning wording says you are thinking how these criteria have evolved.

MR. STIERS:  But I don't believe we in Board Staff 8
modified the language within the criteria, did we?

MS. DeMARCO:  My understanding is that there were additional clarifications and criteria required in around timing, reliability, and safety, but I could be wrong in that regard.

MR. STIERS:  Regardless, I think it's fair to say we acknowledged the evolution of the screening criteria in that response.

MS. DeMARCO:  And the fourth evolution is through the undertaking responses at JT2.11, where we have got new criteria around projects that are replacement and relocation projects; is that fair?

MR. STIERS:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  So we do have some evolution in this, which is possibly why I'm confused, but it could also be a COVID brain, so I'll put that out there.


Let's start around the issue around there must be a system constraint and there must be projected load growth.  You'd agree that that's one of the criteria to consider or to still include an IRPA as a possibility in the binary screening, is that fair?

MR. STIERS:  I think the concept of a system constraint, yes, the purse of IRP -- and others may wish to add to this, but the purpose or definition of IRP we've set out is certainly to avoid defer or reduce the need for infrastructure.  Infrastructure is principally driven by identified constraints, yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  Can I ask you to turn to our compendium at page 156, line 7?

MS. McCOWAN:  Can I perhaps add to what Mr. Stiers has said?  I think perhaps initially identifying the term "constraint" was more speaking to as a growth constraint, and I think that perhaps where our criteria number 6 has come in, is that a different sort of constraint could be the need to replace a pipeline as a result of its condition.  So I want to put out there that there are a couple of sorts of constraints that we are now -- and even the fact we would need to relocate a pipeline to meet a municipal requirement.

So there are a number of different sorts of constraints that we are now talking about.

MS. DeMARCO:  Okay.  That's definitely part of the confusion.  I'm talking very specifically about growth, and I believe it's page 156 of the compendium at line 7, if I've got this right.

My understanding was that Mr. Clark indicated that an IRPA would be considered even if it wasn't growth-related.  Do I have that right?

MR. CLARK:  To the extent that Ms. McCowan mentioned pipeline replacement relocation projects, yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  So that's not an absolute binary criteria.  Let's move on to --


MS. McCOWAN:  Perhaps I can try and clarify.  I think that's perhaps the evolution that we're speaking to, that if you only consider growth, then the original criteria were appropriate because all replacements and relocations were ruled out because they weren't related to growth.  By trying to bring them in, we have had to modify our criteria a little bit so that we can be a little bit more expansive in terms of what could be considered for IRP, but recognize that some projects will have constraints that might be inappropriate for that treatment,

MS. DeMARCO:  I think you're seeing some of the confusion in these binary, yes-and-no criteria that are either absolute 6 criteria, or they're subject to each other.  So why don't we walk through them one by one to really look at whether they are absolute binary criteria, what they are, now that we've evolved four times and how they will be applied.  Is that okay?  Can we do that?

MS. McCOWAN:  Sure.

MS. DeMARCO:  Let's look next at safety, and Mr. Millar touched upon this with you.  As I read the criteria, it was all safety projects would have been concluded.  But I understand your response to Mr. Millar to now be some safety projects may be excluded.  Is that fair?

MS. McCOWAN:  That's correct.

MS. DeMARCO:  And this depends on the length of time with which you have to plan for those projects.  Is that fair?.

MS. McCOWAN:  That's consistent with what I said earlier today, yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  Let's look at the reliability of the project.  The original criteria was no IRPAs can be a reliability project, and I'm now understanding that some IRPAs projects can be a reliability project.  Is that fair?

MS. McCOWAN:  I'm sorry, can you take me to the specific reference to reliability?

MS. DeMARCO:  I think they arise from Board Staff 8, and they were covered in the transcript when we walked through these and I can get you a specific pinpoint for that.

I believe it's referenced in paragraphs 38 to 42 as well.  Is reliability not a screening criteria?

MR. STIERS:  Reliability and safety are one of our guiding principles.

MS. McCOWAN:  Perhaps I can try and explain it this way.  Any pipeline reinforcement, if it's not done, will ultimately result in a reliability concern.  So all pipeline reinforcements are done with a view to improving reinforcement -- sorry, improving operational reliability and needs.

So I guess when I don't think that a project that is related to operational reliability on its own would be screened out.  If that operational reliability concern was within the three to five years timing we talked about, then it would be screened out on the basis of timing.  But reliability would not be in and of itself a reason to screen out a project for IRPA consideration.

MS. DeMARCO:  You anticipated my next question.  In relation to the use of the terms reinforcement, integrity, reliability and replacement are all a form of safety.  Would that be fair?

MS. McCOWAN:  I can appreciate that there is -- I can appreciate the terms are confusing.  I can certainly try to describe the differences I would see amongst them.  Is that helpful?

MS. DeMARCO:  I think we're seeing the confusion that gives rise to the need for the requested undertaking earlier today for applying a binary yes/no criteria, and it seems we have a yes/no/maybe criteria depending on the hierarchy.  It's absolutely critical for this framework to be clear in that regard.

MS. McCOWAN:  We can certainly include that in the undertaking.

MS. DeMARCO:  I had one specific query.  I think a response provided by you in response Mr. Elson, you indicated projects that have a reinforcement component would always be looked at for an IRPA.  Is that right?

MS. McCOWAN:  We've indicated that all system reinforcement projects would go through the -- would be considered for IRPA.  And the way that a project like that would be identified as having a system reinforcement component is it would not be size for size.

So if we're replacing a pipe size for size, then we would expect there is no gross component to that.  But if we're looking to increase the size of the pipe as we replace it for condition issues, then we would look for IRP alternatives.

MS. DeMARCO:  So I'm having a little challenge reconciling that with a new criteria number 6, which is a project that has a reinforcement component would also be looked at for an IRPA versus projects that are less than 10 million dollars at undertaking J2.11 would be screened out.  I wonder if we can pull up J2.11?

MS. McCOWAN:  I can appreciate there is a hierarchy here that is confusing.  I think our intention was to bring in replacement projects, provided they were bigger, but our other statement has been that all reinforcement projects would go through this screening.  So we would consider IRP plans for all reinforcements, and I think that that would be the trump, I'll say.

MS. DeMARCO:  So why don't we make that practical.  If you could scroll down, there is a chart at the very bottom of this.  The next chart, Table 2.  So main replacement and relocations greater than 10 million -- there are about 20 projects -- and all system reinforcements would be eligible for an IRPA consideration; is that fair?

MS. McCOWAN:  That's true.

MS. DeMARCO:  They don't have to be greater than three to five years in planning horizon?

MS. McCOWAN:  Sorry, we included all of those to be representative of when we're up and running with this process.  You're right that as we look, you know, in the immediate, we would rule some of these out for timing, but once we're up and running, this is a representative number of the projects in our portfolio that would be considered for IRPAs.

MS. DeMARCO:  So let's look at that 168 projects.  How many of those would be screened out for the three- to five-year timing criteria?

MS. McCOWAN:  I would need to take that away.  And I think that --


MS. DeMARCO:  Would you?

MS. McCOWAN:  Yes, I can.  You know, without -- perhaps I can try to provide an answer here, though, is that I believe they're roughly spread evenly over the five years of the asset management plan.

MS. DeMARCO:  So about three-fifths to five-fifths would be screened out.

MS. McCOWAN:  That would be true if we were starting today for the projects that are in the AMP currently, but as we develop a ten-year AMP and start looking at projects on an ongoing basis, the representative number would be the 168 over a five-year period that we would be able to look at.

MS. DeMARCO:  Okay.  But let's focus on this snapshot today.  Up to 168, 168, could be screened out for timing; is that fair?

MS. McCOWAN:  Well, I think our timing criteria is actually three years, so I don't think that's completely --


MS. DeMARCO:  Three to five years; is that fair?

MS. McCOWAN:  I believe the timing criteria is three years.

MS. DeMARCO:  Okay.  That's a helpful clarification.

MS. McCOWAN:  But our intention here was to show that once we're up and running and we're on an ongoing basis looking at projects on the ten years out, that this would be the representative number over a five-year period that we would be --


[Multiple speakers]

MS. McCOWAN:  -- right?  So it would be 30 to 40 projects per year.

THE REPORTER:  I'm sorry, there was overtalking.

MS. DeMARCO:  I'm sorry.  Two questions.  The first is, in the current moment, that 9 percent is certainly not accurate.  It's the highest estimate; is that fair?

MS. McCOWAN:  Actually, based on the conversation that I had with Mr. Brophy this morning, the number is actually much higher, because what he suggested was that the denominator was much too high and that I should be excluding the projects that were unrelated to pipelines, so excluding the projects related to real-estate, technology, information systems, fleet, those sorts of things.

MS. DeMARCO:  So I wonder, could you update this table so we can understand precisely what we're talking about, what percentage of the current projects in the AMP would be eligible for an IRPA?

MR. STEVENS:  We could indicate, if it's helpful, Ms. DeMarco, what proportion of the projects that are shown in Table 2 are more than three years away.

MS. DeMARCO:  That would be helpful.  And then my second question is --


MR. STEVENS:  Sorry, should we -- we should put an undertaking number to that.

MS. DeMARCO:  Yes, thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  It's J1.9.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.9:  TO INDICATE WHAT PROPORTION OF THE PROJECTS THAT ARE SHOWN IN TABLE 2 ARE MORE THAN THREE YEARS AWAY.

MS. DeMARCO:  And then my second question is in relation to your "when it's up and running" criteria, is it fair to say that the three-year screening criteria will disappear?

MS. McCOWAN:  No, because there are always needs that are, I'll call them emergent, so we will discover that there is corrosion on the pipeline through a leak survey that can't wait.  The work that Mr. Clark does will identify that there is a system constraint for growth that was perhaps the result of a customer starting to use more gas than they had previously -- that we had anticipated.  So I think to say that we will never have emergent projects would be incorrect.  But certainly our intention is to look in that longer time frame so that more and more of the projects can be considered for IRPAs.

MS. DeMARCO:  So safe to say that that system reinforcement all will never be system reinforcement all?

MS. McCOWAN:  That's true.

MS. DeMARCO:  Okay.  Those are my questions.  I hope I have not run materially over time.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Ms. DeMarco.  Ten minutes over time, but getting this criteria clear I think is very important to the Panel, and so we're looking forward to that undertaking when it arrives.

So there are -- yes, we'll try and be quick with Panel questions.  And I will just ask, Mr. Janigan, do you have any questions of this panel?

MR. JANIGAN:  Not of this panel, Madam Chair.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  Thank you.  Ms. Frank.
Questions by the Board:

MS. FRANK:  I have one question.  It's not -- the material that we've covered today is clear to me, but I want -- we've talked a lot about when the framework is in place you will know many things that will be helpful to your planning process.  So what I really want to know is, what are those many things that you're expecting the OEB to render a decision on?  Do you have a list anywhere that says -- and I heard a few things, such as, will there need to be an OEB approval of an IRPA prior to a leave to construct?  And there's obviously different views of a yes and no, but that is something that you would like clarity on, I assume.  I assume there is quite a list of these items, so do they exist somewhere?  If you tell us what you need to know, we will make sure you get the answers.  So this will help us.  What do you want in the decision here?  Not the actual, how will we decide.  I'm looking for topics, obviously.

MR. STEVENS:  Perhaps I can start, Commissioner Frank -- at the risk of giving evidence, just to point out that certainly at presentation day Mr. Stiers went through the list of approvals that Enbridge is seeking in this application, and those certainly remain the approvals that we're seeking, but of course we're hearing different proposals from other parties.  And so Enbridge certainly does not presume that every aspect of its proposal will be adopted.  So it's going to be helpful to understand whether the Panel is inclined to agree with some of the submissions or positions of other parties, and I think you gave an excellent example, being whether there are multiple stages of approval, knowing that if that's going to be the case that will certainly influence the way that Enbridge would implement IRP.

Having heard all the submissions as we go -- or the positions and evidence as we go through these days of hearing, we expect that we will be clear in our argument in-chief or submissions, however they are framed, to indicate what it is that we're seeking so that other parties will have a chance to provide their perspectives, and then we'll have a chance to reply.

MS. FRANK:  Mr. Stevens, I think the clarification that I'm looking for is, I do remember at presentation day there were items where you're specifically saying, we expect the framework will deal with these items, but as you've gone through all the process we've had here, the submissions from other parties and all the interrogatories the undertakings and now, when we're in the hearing portion, other ideas are coming out, and some of them are like big-ticket type items that you're really concerned about, but other ones I think are likely smaller type items, but you still likely -- like to know, does the Board have a position on this.

So I was -- are you telling me I can't actually expect that this Panel will know what they're -- this Panel obviously needs to have information to make sure they can go through the process more -- you know, with a better understanding, here is where we're going to go.  So things like, do we need to have a list of alternatives.  Some people are suggesting yes.  I get the impression Enbridge is saying, well, no, because it's going to change over time, so we don't need a list, and we certainly don't need the Board to approve a list.

If you don't have it now, I'm fine with that.  But if you want to make sure that we're going to deal with not only your requests, but everybody else's ideas, so you have a clear decision that you can implement and walk away and say, okay, this IRP decision is going to serve us well for a multitude of years, not for 6 months but a multitude of years, then it needs to be complete, and you can help us to make it complete.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you very much, Commissioner Frank.  We certainly want to help you as much as we're able, and we don't want to leave things undiscussed where they're important.

I think my hesitation is I don't want to start presuming what the positions of other parties.  I know what Enbridge's proposal is, but I don't really know exactly how other parties are going to frame their perhaps alternate proposals.

I can assure you that it will be Enbridge's intention to respond to any such proposals and any different ideas that parties may bring forward in their submissions tend of this process.

MS. FRANK:  That sounds fine.  I was looking for what the particular witnesses that we had here, what they particularly are looking for.

MR. STEVENS:  I apologize.  I don't mean to impose my words on the witnesses.  I would be happy to have them answer.

MS. FRANK:  Let's see.  Does anybody want to do an attempt at that?

MR. STIERS:  Thank you, Commissioner.  I can reiterate some of what Mr. Stevens just said exactly what the details of our proposals are, what the approvals are that we are looking for, if that's helpful.

And perhaps my colleagues, if they have additions to that, can speak up afterwards and elaborate further.  Would that be helpful to do that?

MS. FRANK:  Is it something that's already in evidence at the presentation day or elsewhere?

MR. STIERS:  It absolutely is and I'll give you some references, if that's helpful.

MS. FRANK:  That would be better, that would be preferred.

MR. STIERS:  Slide 6 of our presentation day should be the approvals sly.  Aside from that, we do have a summary of the approvals that are being sought at Exhibit I CCC 3.

We also speak to the acknowledgment we're seeking related to AMI at Exhibit I, Energy Probe 1 and --


MS. FRANK:  Can I stop you on that one?  Just remind me what you're seeking for that one for the AMI.

MR. STIERS:  we're seeking acknowledgment from the Board that AMI is an important enabler of IRP and that in its absence, we're going to be forced to rely on system modelling around less certain or less well tested solutions to meet demand versus actuals, and that reliance on that system modeling as opposed to actual measured peak hourly data would increase risk to ratepayers associated with IRPA investments, and could drive the need to over build our IRPAs, or apply a derating factor, if you will.

It may require Enbridge Gas to conduct additional evaluation measurement and verification work.  All those component pieces we expect would increase the cost to ratepayers of investments in IRPAs.  So we are simply seeking an acknowledgment that there is value from an IRP perspective to implementing AMI.

MS. FRANK:  But you're not actually -- other than in the -- it's something that's an essential aspect of a step in the process, but you're not looking for approval of the AMI?

MR. STIERS:  Correct.

MS. FRANK:  Did I get that right?

MR. STIERS:  We expect any AMI related proposal would come forward at the time of rebasing, most likely.

MS. FRANK:  What I'm wondering here is, are you expecting that at some point in time -- so in a framework, the framework might well say that AMI is an important aspect, and it will be approved as part of something,  But the framework wouldn't actually be physically approved for AMI, but would say when and how it would be approved.

Is that what you are looking for?  Is that the level of clarity I'm looking for?

MR. STIERS:  I think what we're looking for is an acknowledgment of the benefits that AMI would afford IRP.  I don't think the framework -- I hadn't contemplated that the framework would get into the details of when exactly that approval should or shouldn't come, but I'll leave that to the Board to decide as well.

The final point I would make is the response at Exhibit I-Staff-17.  We discuss non-gas solutions and we've asked for confirmation that non-gas solutions -- and we give examples like electric air-source heat pumps, geothermal and district energy are appropriate to be considered in the range of possible and cost effective IRPAs, and I think that's a fair summary from my perspective.

MS. FRANK:  That's a good start and, Mr. Stevens, as we go through this if there are other items that occur that you want to add to the list that aren't in one of these, that is helpful.

MR. STEVENS:  Certainly we'll try to keep that in mine and we'll certainly be diligent to ensure that there is a comprehensive and explained list within our argument in-chief.

MS. FRANK:  Thank you, those are my questions.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  My question is just around the 10 million dollars that you established and I heard a number of times people talking about aligning similarly to what is in a leave to construct.

We know the current leave to construct is 2 million, there is a proposal for 10 million.  What's your plan if that proposal doesn't come to fruition and it remains at 2million for leave to construct?  Are you still looking at alignment?

MR. STIERS:  Alignment between the 2 million for leave to construct and any threshold established for IRPA applications going forward?

MS. ANDERSON:  Correct.

MR. STIERS:  Yes.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  And does this -- if a project is multi phase and maybe the phases combined exceed the threshold, but each individual component doesn't, how do you deal with that or does that fall into that reinforcement bucket maybe where they're going to be looked at anyway?

MR. STIERS:  I think it might be the latter, but I'll defer to Ms. McCowan.  She may have a thought there.

MS. MCCOWAN:  Sadly, I don't.  I think you would want to look at the full need, so I guess the similar principle would apply is if the condition of the whole asset is a problem, but we're choosing to replace it in phases, then I think you would look at the condition and if that amounted to greater than 10 million, then you'd want to want to look at the whole thing together.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, that's helpful.  Those were my questions.  So that is closing off with this panel.

Mr. Stevens, did you have any redirect?

MR. STEVENS:  I do not, thank you.

MS. ANDERSON:  Well, that works so we're only 5:04, a very long day.  We have three more long days ahead of us.  Definitely thank you to the panel.  I know some of you are back with us tomorrow.  I very much appreciate your time.

Any other matters before we leave for the day and come back at 9:30 tomorrow?  I'm hearing nobody speak up, so I guess we will see you -- I'd say bright and early, but 9:30 is not exactly bright and early.  I will see you tomorrow morning.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 5:05 p.m.
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